## **Random Algebraic Geometry**

Paul Breiding and Antonio Lerario

## Author's addresses:

Paul Breiding, Universität Osnabrück, pbreiding@uni-osnabrueck.de. Antonio Lerario, SISSA, lerario@sissa.it.

P. Breiding has been funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation) – Projektnummer 445466444.

## Contents

1	Hov	many zeros of a polynomial are real?	1
	1.1	Discriminants	3
	1.2	Real discriminants	7
	1.3	Reasonable probability distributions	9
	1.4	The Kostlan distribution	12
	1.5	Expected properties	13
2	Rier	nannian manifolds and probability	16
	2.1	Basics from differential geometry	16
		2.1.1 Basic notions and examples	16
		2.1.2 Vector bundles	23
	2.2	The Riemannian volume	26
		2.2.1 Riemannian manifolds and integrals	26
		2.2.2 Measure theoretic considerations	29
		2.2.3 The coarea formula	30
		2.2.4 Isometries and Riemannian submersions	32
		2.2.5 Volume of the sphere and projective space	33
		2.2.6 Volume of the Orthogonal and Unitary group	35
3	Sem	nialgebraic geometry	37
	3.1	Semialgebraic sets and functions	37
	3.2	Decomposition of semialgebraic sets and their stratification	40
	3.3	Cohomology of semialgebraic sets	46
	3.4	The mapping cyclinder of semialgebraic functions	50
	3.5	Semialgebraic triviality	54
4	The	Kac-Rice formula	59
	4.1	The Kac-Rice formula in Euclidean Space	60
	4.2	Root density of Kac polynomials	64
	4.3	The Kac-Rice formula for random maps on manifolds	68
	4.4	Root density of systems of Kostlan polynomials	70
	4.5	Random sections of vector bundles	73
	4.6	There are $6\sqrt{2} - 3$ lines on a real cubic surface	77

5	Hon	nogeneous spaces and integral geometry	81
	5.1	Lie groups	81
	5.2	The Haar measure	82
	5.3	Volumes of homogeneous spaces	83
	5.4	Grassmannians	87
	5.5	Integral geometry	88
	5.6	Probabilistic intersection theory in projective space	89
	5.7	Proof of the integral geometry formula	92
6	Rep	resentation theory	96
	6.1	Invariant Hermitian structures	101
	6.2	Classification of real invariant inner products	102
7	Inva	riant inner products on the space of polynomials	109
	7.1	Complex invariant distributions	109
	7.2	Real invariant distributions	111
		7.2.1 Spherical harmonics	113

How many zeros has a polynomial? The answer to this question is taught in a basic algebra course: it is equal to the degree of the polynomial. This is known as the fundamental theorem of algebra.

However, this assumes that the question was stated as *How many complex* zeros does a polynomial have?. Yet, if the person, who asked that question, had in mind a real polynomial and real zeros, the answer is less clear. For instance, the polynomial  $x^2 + ax + b$  has two real zeros, if  $a^2 - 4b > 0$ , it has one real zero, if  $a^2 - 4b = 0$ , and in the case  $a^2 - 4b < 0$  it has no real zeros. The situation is depicted in Figure 1.1. This simple yet important example shows already that we can not give an answer to the above question in terms of the degree of the polynomial. Instead, we have to use a list of algebraic equalities and inequalities. While for polynomials of degree 2 this was simple enough for us to understand, more complicated counting problems pose uncomparably harder challenges. Think of the number of eigenvalues of an  $n \times n$  matrix. The number of complex eigenvalues is always n (counted with multiplicity). But the algebraic constraints for the number of real solutions are already so complicated, that it is very difficult just to compute this number without computing all eigenvalues in the first place.

In this book we want to lay out an alternative perspective on counting problems like the ones above. Instead of computing a deterministic real picture, we want to understand its *statistical properties*. This thinking is not new: already in the 1930s and 1940s Littlewood, Offord [22] and Kac [16, 17] considered real zeros of random polynomials. Later, in 1973, Montgomery [25] introduced randomness to number therory. In the 1950s, Wigner [31], Dyson [6] and others proposed using probability for understanding models in theoretical physics. Ginibre [13] summarizes their motivation as follows.

"In the absence of any precise knowledge [...], one assumes a reasonable probability distribution [...], from which one deduces statistical properties [...]. Apart from the intrinsic interest of the problem, one may hope that the methods and results will provide further insight in the cases of physical interest or suggest as yet lacking applications."



Figure 1.1: The configuration space for real zeros of the polynomial  $f = x^2 + ax + b$ . The blue curve  $a^2 - 4b = 0$  is called the discriminant. If (a, b) is below the discriminant, then f has two real zeros. If it is above, it has no real zero. Polynomials on the discriminant have one real zero.

Although written in the context of statistical physics, Ginibre's words perfectly outline the ideas we wish to present with this book: we want to use tools from probability theory to understand the nature of algebraic–geometric objects.

Edelman and Kostlan [7] condense the probabilistic approach in the title of their seminal paper "How many zeros of a random polynomial are real?" (the answer is in Example 1.14 below). We chose the title of this introductory section as a homage of their work. Starting from their results, we explore in this book algebraic geometry from a probabilistic point of view. Our name for this new field of research is *Random Algebraic Geometry*.

Here is an illustrative example of what we have in mind: consider the degree 8 polynomial  $f_{\epsilon}(x) = 1 + \epsilon_1 x + \epsilon_2 x^2 + \epsilon_3 x^3 + \epsilon_4 x^4 + \epsilon_5 x^5 + \epsilon_6 x^6 + \epsilon_7 x^7 + \epsilon_8 x^8$ , where  $\epsilon = (\epsilon_1, \ldots, \epsilon_8) \in \{-1, 1\}^8$ . This polynomial can have 0, 2, 4, 6 or 8 zeros, because complex zeros come in conjugate pairs. Instead of attempting to understand the equations separating the regions with a certain number of real solutions, we endow the coefficients of  $f_{\epsilon}$  with a probability distribution. We assume that  $\epsilon_1, \ldots, \epsilon_8$  are independent random variables with  $\mathbb{P}\{\epsilon_i = 1\} = \frac{1}{2}$  for  $1 \leq i \leq 8$ , and we denote by  $n(\epsilon)$  the random variable "number of real zeros of  $f_{\epsilon}$ ". Booth [4] showed that

$$\mathbb{P}\{n(\epsilon) = 0\} = \frac{58}{2^8}, \quad \mathbb{P}\{n(\epsilon) = 2\} = \frac{190}{2^8}, \quad \mathbb{P}\{n(\epsilon) = 4\} = \frac{8}{2^8}, \quad \text{and} \\ \mathbb{P}\{n(\epsilon) = 6\} = \mathbb{P}\{n(\epsilon) = 8\} = 0,$$

which shows that  $f_{\epsilon}$  has at most 4 zeros, and having more than 2 zeros is unlikely.

In Booth's example we have access to the full probability law. However, during this book we will encounter many situations in which computing the probability law is too ambitious. Instead, it is often feasible to compute or estimate the expected value of a random geometric property. For instance, in Booth's example the expected value of the number of roots is  $\mathbb{E} n(\epsilon) = 1.609375$ . Just based on this information we can conclude that having a large number of zeros is unlikely.

Interestingly, many of the expected values we will meet later in this book obey what is called the "square-root law": the expected number of real solutions is roughly the square-root of the number of complex solutions. If this law holds, it immediately implies that instances, for which the number of real solutions equal the number of complex solutions, are *rarae aves*. This phenomenon, which is specific of a particular, but natural, probability distribution that we will work with, has several manifestation: from geometry (expectation of volumes of real algebraic sets) to topology (expectation of Betti numbers).

## 1.1 Discriminants

Let us have a closer look at the picture in Figure 1.1. We can see that the discriminant  $\Sigma_{\mathbb{R}} := \{(a, b) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid a^2 - 4b = 0\}$  divides the real (a, b)-plane into two components – one, where the number of real zeros is two, and one, where there are no real zeros. This is because the discriminant is a curve of *real* codimension 1. The complex picture is different: here, the complex curve  $\Sigma_{\mathbb{C}} = \{(a, b) \in \mathbb{C}^2 \mid a^2 - 4b = 0\}$ is of *complex* codimension one. In particular, it is of real codimesion two, and  $\mathbb{C}^2 \setminus \Sigma_{\mathbb{C}}$  is path-connected! We show this in Lemma 1.5, but it can also be seen in Figure 1.2. This is the reason for why each polynomial of degree 2 outside  $\Sigma_{\mathbb{C}}$  has two complex zeros: a function which is locally constant on a connected space is constant. We say that having two complex zeros is a *generic property*. We will give a more precise definition of this later in Definition 1.4.

In algebraic geometry, it is more appropriate to work with zeros of polynomials in *projective space* rather than with zeros in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ . The definition of projective space comes next.

**Definition 1.1** (Complex projective Space). The complex projective space  $\mathbb{CP}^n$ of dimension n is defined to be the set of lines through the origin in  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}$ . That is,  $\mathbb{CP}^n := (\mathbb{C}^{n+1} \setminus \{0\}) / \sim$ , where  $y \sim z$ , if and only of there exists some  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$ with  $y = \lambda z$ . For a point  $(z_0, z_1, \ldots, z_n) \in \mathbb{C}^{n+1}$  we denote by  $[z_0, z_1, \ldots, z_n]$  its equivalence class in  $\mathbb{CP}^n$ .

For completing the terminology, and distinguishing it from projective space, we say that  $\mathbb{C}^n$  is an *n*-dimensional *affine complex space*.



Figure 1.2: The picture shows the part of the complex discriminant  $(a_1 + ia_2)^2 - 4(b_1 + ib_2) = 0$ , where  $a_1 = 2a_2$  As can be seen from the picture, the discriminant is of real codimension two. Because one can "go around" the discriminant without crossing it, a generic complex polynomial of degree 2 has two complex zeros.

The map

$$P: \mathbb{C}^{n+1} \setminus \{0\} \to \mathbb{C}P^n, (z_0, z_1, \dots, z_n) \mapsto [z_0: \dots: z_n]$$

projects (n + 1)-dimensional affine space onto *n*-dimensional projective space. On the other hand, the map  $\psi : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}P^n$ ,  $(z_1, \ldots, z_n) \mapsto [1, z_1 : \ldots : z_n]$  embeds *n*dimensional affine space into *n*-dimensional projective space. Using this embedding we can define the zero sets in Example 1.3 to be in  $\mathbb{C}P^n$ .

Projective zero sets are defined by homogeneous polynomials. It is common to use the notation  $f = \sum_{|\alpha|=d} f_{\alpha} z^{\alpha}$  for complex homogeneous polynomials of degree d in n + 1 variables, where  $\alpha = (\alpha_0, \ldots, \alpha_n) \in \mathbb{N}^{n+1}$ ,  $z^{\alpha} = \prod_{i=0}^n z_i^{\alpha_i}$  and  $|\alpha| = \alpha_0 + \cdots + \alpha_n$ . The space of homogeneous polynomials of degree d in n + 1many variables is

$$\mathbb{C}[x_0,\ldots,x_n]_{(d)} := \left\{ \sum_{|\alpha|=d} f_{\alpha} \, z^{\alpha} \, \Big| \, (f_{\alpha}) \in \mathbb{C}^N \right\}, \text{ where } N = \binom{n+d}{d},$$

and the projective space of polynomials is thus  $\mathbb{C}P^{N-1}$ . The complex projective zero set of k polynomials  $f = (f_1, \ldots, f_k)$ , where the *i*-th polynomial is  $f_i \in \mathbb{C}[z_0, \ldots, z_n]_{(d_i)}$ , is

$$Z_{\mathbb{C}}(f) = \{ [z] \in \mathbb{C}\mathbb{P}^n : f_1(z) = 0, \dots, f_k(z) = 0 \}.$$

For a simplified notation we also denote by  $Z_{\mathbb{C}}(f)$  the zero set of f in  $\mathbb{C}^{n+1}$ .

Remark 1.2. A polynomial  $f \in \mathbb{C}[z_0, \ldots, z_n]_{(d)}$  is not a function on the complex projective space  $\mathbb{C}P^n$ , but its zero set is still well defined.

**Example 1.3.** Here are a few more examples of generic properties. The first generalizes our introductory example to higher degrees.

- (1) A generic homogeneous polynomial  $f \in \mathbb{C}[z_0, z_1]_{(d)}$  of degree d has d distinct zeros in  $\mathbb{CP}^1$  unless  $\operatorname{Res}(f, f') = 0$  (i.e. the resultant of f and f' is zero). We define the polynomial map  $\operatorname{disc}(f) := \operatorname{Res}(f, f')$  that associates to a polynomial f the resultant  $\operatorname{Res}(f, f')$ . Then, the zero set  $\Sigma = Z_{\mathbb{C}}(\operatorname{disc})$  of this polynomial is a proper algebraic set in  $\mathbb{C}[z_0, z_1]_d$ , which we again call the discriminant. By Lemma 1.5 below,  $\mathbb{C}[z_0, z_1]_d \setminus \Sigma$  is path-connected. This causes polynomials in  $\mathbb{C}[z_0, z_1]_d \setminus \Sigma$  to admit the generic behavior of having d distinct zeros in  $\mathbb{CP}^1$ , because we continuously deform the zero set of any  $f_1 \notin \Sigma$  to the zero set of any other  $f_2 \notin \Sigma$ .
- (2) The zero set  $Z_{\mathbb{C}}(f) \subset \mathbb{C}P^2$  of a generic  $f \in \mathbb{C}[z_0, z_1, z_2]_{(d)}$  of degree d is homeomorphic to a surface of genus  $g = \frac{(d-1)(d-2)}{2}$ . In this case what happens is that there exists a polynomial disc :  $\mathbb{C}[z_0, z_1, z_2]_{(d)} \to \mathbb{C}$ , which vanishes exactly at polynomials whose corresponding zero set in the projective plane is singular. Again, we call  $\Sigma = Z_{\mathbb{C}}(\text{disc})$  the discriminant. Outside of the discriminant the topology of Z(f) all look the same: the reason is again that  $\mathbb{C}[z_0, z_1, z_2]_{(d)} \setminus \Sigma$  is path-connected by Lemma 1.5.
- (3) Let  $\mathbb{C}[z_0, z_1]_{(3)}$  be the space of homogeneous complex polynomials of degree 3. Inside this space there is the cone  $X^{\mathbb{C}}$  of polynomials which are powers of linear forms:  $X^{\mathbb{C}} = \{f \in \mathbb{C}[z_0, z_1]_{(3)} \mid \exists \ell \in \mathbb{C}[z_0, z_1]_{(1)} : f = \ell^3\}$ . The linear span of  $X^{\mathbb{C}}$  is the whole  $\mathbb{C}[z_0, z_1]_{(3)}$ , therefore for every  $f \in \mathbb{C}[z_0, z_1]_{(3)}$  there exist  $\ell_1, \ldots, \ell_s \in \mathbb{C}[z_0, z_1]_{(1)}$  and  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_s \in \mathbb{C}$  such that  $f = \sum_{i=1}^s \alpha_i \ell_i^3$ . For the generic  $f \in \mathbb{C}[z_0, z_1]_{(3)}$  the minimal *s* for having this is s = 2. This means that there is a discriminant  $\Sigma \subsetneq \mathbb{C}[z_0, z_1]_{(3)}$ , which is a proper algebraic subset, such that this property holds outside  $\Sigma$ .
- (4) The zero set  $Z_{\mathbb{C}}(f) \subset \mathbb{C}P^3$  of a generic cubic  $f \in \mathbb{C}[z_0, z_1, z_2, z_3]_{(3)}$  contains 27 complex lines. We will discuss in details this type of problems later, but still let us now try to see what is happening, at least in an informal way. The set of lines in  $\mathbb{C}P^3$  is itself a manifold, which is called the Grassmanian of (projective) lines and denoted by  $\mathbb{G}(1,3)$  (1-dimensional projective subspaces of 3-dimensional projective space). There is a rank-4 complex vector bundle  $E \to \mathbb{G}(1,3)$  whose fiber over a line  $\ell \in \mathbb{C}P^3$  consists of homogeneous polynomials of degree 3 over this line. Every polynomial  $f \in \mathbb{C}[z_0, z_1, z_2, z_3]_{(3)}$  defines naturally a section  $\sigma_f : \mathbb{G}(1,3) \to E$ by  $\sigma_f(\ell) = f|_\ell$  and a line  $\ell$  is contained in  $Z_{\mathbb{C}}(f)$  if and only if  $\sigma_f(\ell) = 0$ .

The discriminant  $\Sigma \subset \mathbb{C}[z_0, z_1, z_2, z_3]_{(3)}$  consists of those polynomials whose section  $\sigma_f$  is not transversal to the zero section

In most cases the properties we will be interested in are described by a list of numbers associated to elements of some parameter space S. Let us re-interpret the statement from Example 1.3 using this language. If  $S = P(\mathbb{C}[z_0, z_1]_{(d)} = \mathbb{C}P^d)$ is the projective space of complex polynomials of degree d, we might be interested in the number of zeroes of these polynomials. We can interpret this number as a map  $\beta : \mathbb{C}P^d \to \mathbb{C}$  given by

$$\beta: f \mapsto \#Z(f).$$

This  $\beta$  is a constant map outside  $\Sigma = \{f \mid \text{Res}(f, f') = 0\}.$ 

The next definition gives a rigorous definition for genericity in our setting.

**Definition 1.4** (Generic Properties). Let S be a semialgebraic set<sup>1</sup>. We say that a property  $\beta$  is *generic* for the elements of S if there exists a semialgebraic set  $\Sigma \subset S$  of codimension at least one in S such that the property  $\beta$  is true for all elements in  $S \setminus \Sigma$ . We call the largest (by inclusion) such  $\Sigma$  the *discriminant* of the property  $\beta$ .

When working over the complex numbers most properties are generic in the sense that the discriminant is a proper *complex* algebraic set. Since proper complex algebraic sets in  $\mathbb{CP}^N$  do not disconnect the whole space, these properties are constant on an open dense set. This is a simple observation that we record in the next lemma.

**Lemma 1.5.** Let  $\Sigma \subsetneq \mathbb{CP}^N$  be a proper algebraic subset. Then,  $\mathbb{CP}^N \setminus \Sigma$  is pathconnected.

Proof. Let  $z_1, z_2 \in \mathbb{CP}^N \setminus \Sigma$ . Choose a complex linear space  $L \subset \mathbb{CP}^N$  of dimension one, such that  $z_1, z_2 \in L$ . Then,  $L \cap \Sigma$  is a subvariety of L. Since L is irreducible, if  $\dim(L \cap \Sigma) = 1$ , we must have  $L \subset \Sigma$ , but this contradicts  $z_1, z_2 \notin \Sigma$ . Thus, we have  $\dim(L \cap \Sigma) = 0$ , which means that L intersects  $\Sigma$  in finitely many points. Since L is of complex dimension one, it is of real dimension two, and thus  $L \setminus \Sigma$  is path-connected. We find a real path from  $z_1$  to  $z_2$  that does not intersect  $\Sigma$ .  $\Box$ 

Very often the properties that we will be interested in are values of some semialgebraic functions  $\beta : S \to \mathbb{C}^n$ , as in the second point from Example 1.3. To see this, let  $S = P(\mathbb{C}[z_0, \ldots, z_n]_{(d)})$  be the projective space of polynomials and consider the "property"  $\beta : S \to \mathbb{C}^{2n+1}$  given by  $\beta(f) = (b_0(Z_{\mathbb{C}}(f)), \ldots, b_{2n}(Z_{\mathbb{C}}(f)))$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>A semialgebraic set  $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  is a finite union and intersections of sets of the form  $\{f \leq 0\}$  or  $\{f < 0\}$ , with  $f \in \mathbb{R}[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$ .

(i.e.  $\beta(f)$  is the list of the Betti numbers of the zero set of f in  $\mathbb{CP}^n$ ; this number does not depend on the representative of f that we pick, as a nonzero multiple of a polynomial has the same zero set as the original polynomial). The property  $\beta$ in this case takes a constant value on the complement of a complex discriminant  $\Sigma \subset S$ . In other words, there exists  $\beta_0 \in \mathbb{C}^{2n+1}$  such that for all  $f \in S \setminus \Sigma$  we have  $\beta(Z_{\mathbb{C}}(f)) = \beta_0$ . In the case n = 2, because the genus is  $\frac{(d-1)(d-2)}{2}$ , we have that  $\beta_0 = (1, (d-1)(d-2), 1)$ . A similar argument can be done for the third point in Example 1.3: the property "number of lines on the zero set of f" is constant outside a complex discriminant  $\Sigma \subset \mathbb{C}[z_0, \ldots, z_3]_{(3)}$ .

As already briefly discussed in the beginning of this section, the topological reason for the existence of such strong generic properties over the complex numbers ultimately is Lemma 1.5. The additional technical ingredient that one needs to deduce that topological properties are stable under nondegenerate deformations goes under the name of *Thom's Isotopy Lemma* and we will prove it and discuss its implications later.

## 1.2 Real discriminants

Moving to the real world, let us copy the notation from the preceding section to the real numbers.

**Definition 1.6** (Real projective space). The real projective space  $\mathbb{R}P^n$  of dimension n is defined to be the set of lines through the origin in  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ . That is,  $\mathbb{R}P^n := (\mathbb{R}^{n+1} \setminus \{0\}) / \sim$ , where  $y \sim z$ , if and only of there exists some  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$  with  $y = \lambda z$ . For a point  $(x_0, x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  we denote by  $[x_0 : x_1 : \ldots : x_n]$  its equivalence class in  $\mathbb{R}P^n$ .

Similar to before, we define the projection

$$P: \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \setminus \{0\} \to \mathbb{R}P^n, \ (x_0, x_1, \dots, x_n) \mapsto [x_0: x_1: \dots: x_n].$$

The space of real homogeneous polynomials is

$$\mathbb{R}[x_0, \dots, x_n]_{(d)} := \left\{ \sum_{|\alpha|=d} f_\alpha x^\alpha \mid (f_\alpha) \in \mathbb{R}^N \right\}, \text{ where } N = \binom{n+d}{d}.$$

The projective space of real polynomials is  $P(\mathbb{R}[x_0, \ldots, x_n]_{(d)})$ . The real projective zero set of k polynomials  $f = (f_1, \ldots, f_k)$  is

$$Z(f) = \{ [x] \in \mathbb{R}P^n : f_1(x) = 0, \dots, f_k(x) = 0 \}.$$

Over the Reals we do not have in general an analogue of Lemma 1.5: a proper real

algebraic set can in general disconnect the ambient space. To see this, let us look again at the problems discussed in example 1.3, but from the real point of view.

**Example 1.7.** Let us start by noticing that the complex properties studied in Example 1.3 are still generic over the reals, in the sense that for the generic *real* polynomial the structure of the *complex* zero set has a constant generic behavior; the structure of the *real* zero set is instead highly dependent on the coefficients of f and there is no "generic" behaviour.

(1) A generic univariate polynomial  $f \in \mathbb{R}[x]_d$  of degree d has at most d distinct zeros in  $\mathbb{R}$ , but this number can range anywhere between  $\frac{1+(-1)^{d+1}}{2}$  and d. In particular there is no generic number of real zeroes.

A property which is generic is having real distinct zeroes. In this case, however, the real discriminant is not algebraic, but rather just semialgebraic. Unless d = 2 it not coincide with the real part of  $\{\text{Res}(f, f') = 0\}$ : the equation Res(f, f') = 0, which is real for real f, tells us whether f has a double root, but this root can also be complex. The subset of the real part of  $\{\text{Res}(f, f') = 0\}$  which corresponds to polynomials with a double real root is only a piece of this discriminant and this piece is selected by imposing some extra inequalities on the coefficients of the polynomial.

(2) The zero set  $Z(f) \subset \mathbb{R}P^2$  of a generic  $f \in \mathbb{R}[x_0, x_1, x_2]_{(d)}$  is a smooth curve (being smooth is a generic property) but the topology of this curve depends on the coefficients of the polynomial – Harnack's inequality tells that

$$b_0(Z(f)) \le \frac{(d-1)(d-2)}{2} + 1.$$

For instance  $\{x_0^2 + x_1^2 + x_2^2 = 0\} \subset \mathbb{R}P^2$  is empty and  $\{x_0^2 - x_1^2 - x_2^2 = 0\} \subset \mathbb{R}P^2$  is homeomorphic to a circle (they are both smooth).

- (3) Let  $\mathbb{R}[x_0, x_1]_{(3)}$  be the space of homogeneous real polynomials of degree 3. Inside this space there is the cone X of polynomials which are powers of real linear forms:  $X = \{f \in \mathbb{R}[x_0, x_1]_{(3)} \mid \exists \ell \in \mathbb{R}[x_0, x_1]_{(1)} : f = \ell^3\}$ . The linear span of X is the whole  $\mathbb{R}[z_0, z_1]_{(3)}$ , as in the complex case. Therefore, for every polynomial  $f \in \mathbb{R}[z_0, z_1]_{(3)}$  there exist  $\ell_1, \ldots, \ell_s \in \mathbb{R}[x_0, x_1]_{(1)}$  and  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_s \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $f = \sum_{i=1}^s \alpha_i \ell_i^3$ . However now, differently than from the complex case, there is no generic minimal value that the number s can take. In fact, denoting by  $\mathrm{rk}_{\mathbb{R}}(f)$  the minimum such s we have that  $\mathrm{rk}_{\mathbb{R}}(f) = 2$  whenever a polynomial has one real zero and  $\mathrm{rk}_{\mathbb{R}}(f) = 3$  whenever it has 3 real zeroes.
- (4) The zero set  $Z \subset \mathbb{R}P^3$  of a generic cubic  $f \in \mathbb{R}[x_0, x_1, x_2, x_3]_{(3)}$  is smooth and it can contain either 27, 15, 7 or 3 real lines.

Remark 1.8. There exists a generic way of counting the lines on Z(f): it is possible to canonically associate a sign  $s(\ell)$  to each line  $\ell \subset Z(f)$  and the number  $\sum_{\ell \subset Z(f)} s(\ell)$  (a signed count) is generically equal to 3.

## 1.3 Reasonable probability distributions

In the quote of Ginibre it says "one assumes a reasonable probability distribution". He was probably thinking of physically meaningful distributions. But for us this means the following: suppose that  $\mathcal{F}$  is a space of geometric objects endowed with a probability distribution, and that  $X : \mathcal{F} \to \mathbb{R}^m$  is a random variable on  $\mathcal{F}$ . If X has symmetries, by which we mean that there is a group G acting on  $\mathcal{F}$ , such that  $X(g \cdot f) = X(f)$  for all g, then the probability distribution is reasonable, if it is invariant under G; that is  $g \cdot f \sim f$ . This interpretation follows the *Erlangen program* by Felix Klein. In "A comparative review of recent researches in geometry" [18] Klein lays out a perspective on geometry based on a group of symmetries:

"Geometric properties are characterized by their remaining invariant under the transformations of the principal group."

He writes that geometry should be seen as the following comprehensive problem.

"Given a manifoldness and a group of transformations of the same; to investigate the configurations belonging to the manifoldness with regard to such properties as are not altered by the transformations of the group."

Therefore, reasonable probability distributions are distributions which respect geometry in Klein's sense. A reasonable probability distribution should not prefer one instance over another if they share the same geometry.

To illustrate this line of thought, we recall Booth's example from the beginning of this section. The space of geometric objects  $\mathcal{F}$  is the space of univariate polynomials of degree 8 with coefficients in  $\{-1,1\}$ . The random variable X(f)is the number of real zeros of the polynomial  $f \in \mathcal{F}$ . The group  $G = \{-1,1\}$ acts on  $\mathcal{F}$  as  $g.f(x) = 1 + \epsilon'_1 x + \epsilon'_2 x^2 + \epsilon'_3 x^3 + \epsilon'_4 x^4 + \epsilon'_5 x^5 + \epsilon'_6 x^6 + \epsilon'_7 x^7 + \epsilon'_8 x^8$ , where  $\epsilon'_i = \epsilon_i g^i$ . Since for all *i* we have  $\epsilon_i g^i \in \{-\epsilon_i, \epsilon_i\}$  and since  $\epsilon_i \sim -\epsilon_i$ , we see that  $gf \sim f$ . In this sense, the distribution proposed by Booth is reasonable. In many cases the space  $\mathcal{F}$  comes with the structure of a smooth manifold (e.g. a vector space, a Lie group or a homogeneous space) and in this case a "reasonable" probability distribution should be absolutely continuous with respect to Lebesgue measure (notice that the notion of sets of measure zero is well defined on a smooth manifold and independent of the possible choice of an actual measure).

Let us introduce the Gaussian distribution.

**Definition 1.9** (Nondegenerate Gaussian distribution). A probability distribution on  $\mathbb{R}^N$  is said to be *nondegenerate Gaussian* if there exist a positive definite symmetric matrix  $\Sigma \in \text{Sym}(N, \mathbb{R})$  and a vector  $\mu \in \mathbb{R}^N$  such that for all  $U \subseteq \mathbb{R}^N$ measurable subset we have:

$$\mathbb{P}(U) = \frac{1}{\left((2\pi)^N \det(\Sigma)\right)^{1/2}} \int_U e^{-\frac{(y-\mu)^T \Sigma^{-1}(y-\mu)}{2}} dy.$$

Whenever  $\mu = 0$  the distribution is called *centered*. The standard Gaussian distribution corresponds to the choice  $Q = \mathbf{1}$  and  $\mu = 0$ . For a random variables  $\xi$  on the real line distributed as a standard Gaussian we will write  $\xi \sim N(0, 1)$ and sometimes also call it a standard normal. More generally, if  $X \in \mathbb{R}^N$  has a Gaussian density, we will say that X is a multivariate nondegenerate Gaussian variable with mean  $\mu$  and covariance matrix  $\Sigma$ , and we will write  $X \sim N(\mu, \Sigma)$ .

From now on we will always assume that Gaussian distributions are nondegenerate and centered.

In these lectures, when  $\mathcal{F}$  is a linear space (e.g. the space of polynomials) we will mostly consider a special class of distributions called *Gaussian*. The reason for this is that we are interested in zeros of polynomials, and they are invariant under scaling of polynomials. Therefore, a reasonable probability distribution should be induced by a distribution in projective space  $P(\mathbb{R}[x_0, \ldots, x_n]_{(d)})$ . What we mean by this is the following. The space of real polynomials  $\mathbb{R}[x_0, \ldots, x_n]_{(d)}$  is a real vector space of dimension  $N = \binom{n+d}{d}$  and therefore it is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . We fix an isomorphism

$$\varphi: \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}[x_0, \dots, x_n]_{(d)}$$

between these two spaces (for example the isomorphism could be given by the coefficients list of the polynomial in some basis). Then, we fix on  $\mathbb{R}^N$  a nondegenerate Gaussian distribution  $N(\mu, \Sigma)$  in the sense of Definition 1.9. Then, a Gaussian distribution on  $\mathbb{R}[x_0, \ldots, x_n]_{(d)}$  is defined as follows:

$$\mathbb{P}(f \in A) = \frac{1}{\left((2\pi)^N \det(\Sigma)\right)^{1/2}} \int_{\varphi^{-1}(A)} e^{-\frac{(y-\mu)^T \Sigma^{-1}(y-\mu)}{2}} dy.$$
(1.1)

That is, if  $e_1, \ldots, e_n$  is the standard basis of  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and  $b_i := \varphi(e_i)$ , then

$$f = \xi_1 b_1 + \dots + \xi_N b_N,$$

where  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_N$  is a family of i.i.d. standard normal random variables.

A random variable  $f \in \mathbb{R}[x_0, \ldots, x_n]_{(d)}$  with a reasonable probability distribution should then be given by  $f = \varphi(X)$ , where  $X \in \mathbb{R}^N$  has a density, has independent entries, and is invariant under transformations by the orthogonal

group O(N). The last point reflects the fact that we do not want any preferred direction in  $\mathbb{R}[x_0, \ldots, x_n]_{(d)}$ , because the zero set of a polynomial only depend on its class in projective space  $P(\mathbb{R}[x_0, \ldots, x_n]_{(d)})$ . The Gaussian distribution satisfies these requirements and the next lemma shows that it is the only probability distribution with this property.

**Lemma 1.10.** Let  $X = (X_1, \ldots, X_N)$  be a random vector with a density  $\phi(X)$  such that

- (1) the  $X_i$  are independent;
- (2) for all  $U \in O(N)$  we have  $UX \sim X$ .

Then,  $X \sim N(0, \sigma^2 \mathbf{1}_N)$  for some  $\sigma^2 > 0$ . Here,  $\mathbf{1}_N$  denotes the identity matrix.

Proof. Since the  $X_i$  are independent, we have  $\phi(x) = \phi_1(x_1) \cdots \phi_N(x_N)$ . Since permutation matrices are orthogonal, we have  $X_i \sim X_j$  for every pair i, j. Moreover,  $X_i \sim -X_i$  so that  $\phi_i$  only depends on  $X_i^2$ . We get for every  $1 \leq i \leq N$ that  $\phi_i(x_i) = \lambda(x_i)$  for some function  $\lambda$ . We have then  $\phi(x) = \lambda(x_1) \cdots \lambda(x_N)$ . Next, we use that  $X \sim (X_1^2 + X_2^2, 0, X_3, \dots, X_N)$  to deduce that

$$\lambda(x_1^2 + x_2^2)\lambda(0) = \lambda(x_1)\lambda(x_2).$$

This shows first that  $\lambda(0) \neq 0$ , and second by setting  $\theta(u) := \lambda(u)/\lambda(0)$  we get  $\theta(x_1^2 + x_2^2) = \theta(x_1^2)\theta(x_2^2)$ . This forces  $\theta$  to be the exponential map. There exists  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$  with  $\theta(u) = ae^{\frac{b}{2}u}$ , so that

$$\phi(x) = \lambda(x_1^2) \cdots \lambda(x_N^2) = a^{2N} e^{\frac{b}{2}x^T x}.$$

Hence, X must be a Gaussian random variable with covariance matrix  $\sigma^2 \mathbf{1}_N$  for some  $\sigma^2 > 0$ .

Let us discuss one important property of centered Gaussian distributions. The matrix  $\Sigma > 0$  in (1.1) is positive definite and it therefore defines a scalar product on  $\mathbb{R}^N$  by the rule  $\langle y_1, y_2 \rangle_{\Sigma} := y_1^T \Sigma^{-1} y_2$ . If we choose an orthonormal basis  $\mathcal{B}_{\Sigma} = \{e_j\}_{j=1,\dots,N}$  for the scalar product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot, \rangle_{\Sigma}$ , then a random element X from the Gaussian distribution (1.1) can be written as:  $X = \sum_{j=1}^N \xi_j e_j$ , where  $\xi_1, \dots, \xi_N$  is a family of i.i.d. standard normal random variables. Conversely, any scalar product  $\langle , \langle$  in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  implies a centered Gaussian distribution with density  $(2\pi)^N (\det(\Sigma))^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{-\frac{\langle y, y \rangle}{2}}$ , where  $\Sigma$  is the covariance matrix defined by  $\Sigma_{i,j} = \operatorname{Cov}(y_i, y_j)$ . This shows that there is a one-to-one correspondence between centered Gaussian distributions and inner products in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . This observation will play a crucial practical role later in

the book, when dealing with space of random Gaussian functions, for which we will need the presentation as a Gaussian combination of some basis elements.

We want to introduce now a reasonable probability distribution on the space  $\mathbb{R}[x_0, \ldots, x_n]_{(d)}$  and, in line with the previous discussion, we require that such distribution satisfies some invariance suggested by the geometry of the objects we are considering.

- (1) We want it to be Gaussian for the reasons discussed above.
- (2) We want to get a model of randomness for which there are no preferred points or directions in the projective space  $\mathbb{RP}^n$ . Using the language of group invariance, there is a representation  $\rho: O(n+1) \to \operatorname{GL}(\mathbb{R}[x_0, \ldots, x_n]_{(d)})$  given by change of variables and we require our distribution to satisfy the property of being invariant under all elements of  $\rho(O(n+1))$ .

It turns out that the two conditions above do not identify uniquely a probability distribution, and in fact, as we will see later in these lectures, there is a whole family of such distributions. We will call them *invariant distributions*.

## 1.4 The Kostlan distribution

The Kostlan distribution is a special case of an invariant distribution which has some additional special features that make it good for comparisons with complex algebraic geometry. In order to define it, it is helpful to use the following notation:

$$\binom{d}{\alpha} := \frac{d!}{\alpha_0! \cdots \alpha_n!}$$

Choose the isomorphism  $\varphi_{\text{Kostlan}} : \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}[x_0, \dots, x_n]_{(d)}$  defined by

$$\varphi_{\text{Kostlan}}((f_{\alpha})_{\alpha}) = \sum_{|\alpha|=d} f_{\alpha} \cdot \sqrt{\binom{d}{\alpha}} x_0^{\alpha_0} \cdots x_n^{\alpha_n}$$

Then, for a measurable  $A \subseteq \mathbb{R}[x_0, \ldots, x_n]_{(d)}$  its probability with respect to the Kostlan distribution is defined to be:

$$\mathbb{P}(f \in A) = \frac{1}{\left(2\pi\right)^{\frac{N}{2}}} \int_{\varphi_{\mathrm{Kostlan}}^{-1}(A)} e^{-\frac{\|y\|^2}{2}} dy.$$

A simple way to write down a Kostlan polynomial is by taking a combination of standard Gaussians as follows:

$$f(x) = \sum_{|\alpha|=d} \xi_{\alpha} \cdot \sqrt{\binom{d}{\alpha}} x_0^{\alpha_0} \cdots x_n^{\alpha_n}, \qquad (1.2)$$

where  $\{\xi_{\alpha}\}_{|\alpha|=d}$  is a family of standard, independent Gaussian variables on  $\mathbb{R}$ . Similarly, a complex Kostlan polynomial is (1.2) where  $\{\xi_{\alpha}\}_{|\alpha|=d}$  is a family of standard, independent Gaussian variables on  $\mathbb{C}$ .

Kostlan polynomials are invariant as recorded in the next lemma.

**Lemma 1.11.** The Kostlan distribution is invariant under orthogonal change of variables. The complex Kostlan distribution is invariant under unitary change of variables.

The Kostlan distribution, among the invariant ones, is the unique (up to multiples) for which a random polynomial can be written as a combination of independent Gaussians in front of the standard monomial basis. The next proposition follows from a result, which we state in Theorem 7.4.

**Proposition 1.12.** Among the invariant distributions, the Kostlan one is the unique (up to multiples) such that a random polynomial can be written as a linear combination of the standard monomial basis with coefficients independent Gaussians.

## 1.5 Expected properties

As we have seen, if the discriminant is a complex algebraic set, we have strong genericity over the complex numbers: the reason for this is Lemma 1.5, which says that the complex discriminant does not disconnect  $\mathbb{CP}^N$ . However, if the discriminant is a real hypersurface, in general it might disconnect  $\mathbb{RP}^N$ , this is why in Figure 1.1 there are two regions with different properties. Therefore, over the real numbers we might not have a notion of strong genericity, and we adopt a random point of view. The next definition is the probabilistic analogue of Definition 1.4.

**Definition 1.13** (Expected Properties). Let S be a semialgebraic set. A measurable property is a measurable function  $\beta : S \to \mathbb{C}^m$ . If we have a (reasonable) probability distribution on S, we call  $\mathbb{E}_{s \in S} \beta(s)$  the expected property.

In fact, Definition 1.4 is a special case of Definition 1.13. Let us revisit Example 1.3 from a probabilistic point of view.

**Example 1.14.** Let us endow the space of real polynomials with the Kostlan distribution. Then we can ask for the expectation of the real version of the properties that we have discussed in Example 1.3.

- (1) Let  $f \in \mathbb{R}[x_0, x_1]_{(d)}$  be a Kostlan polynomial of degree d in 2 variables. Then, for the generic element  $f \in \mathbb{R}[x_0, x_1]_{(d)}$  the number of complex zeroes is d, but the expected number of real zeros of f is  $\sqrt{d}$ .
- (2) Let  $f \in \mathbb{R}[x_0, x_1, x_2]_{(d)}$  be a Kostlan polynomial of degree d in 3 variables. There exist constants c, C > 0 such that the expected value of the zero-th Betti number  $b_0(f)$  of Z(f) satisfies  $cd \leq \mathbb{E} b_0(f) \leq Cd$ .
- (3) Let  $f \in \mathbb{R}[x_0, x_1]_{(3)}$  be a Kostlan polynomial, then the expectation of its real rank  $\operatorname{rk}_{\mathbb{R}}(f)$  is  $\frac{9-\sqrt{3}}{2}$ .
- (4) Let  $f \in \mathbb{R}[x_0, x_1, x_2, x_3]_{(3)}$  be a Kostlan polynomial of degree 3 in 3 variables. Then, the expected number of real lines on Z(f) is  $6\sqrt{2} - 3$ .

The first example was proven in [7], the second in [12], and the third is actually a consequence of the first example, but we will also prove them in the remainder of these lectures. The fourth example was proved in [28]. We want to emphasize that the first two of those examples obey a square-root law – the expected value of the real property has the order of the square root of the generic value of the complex property.

In closing of this introductory lecture we want to explain why generic properties are, in fact, random properties in disguise. The essence of this is a simple observation: suppose  $z \in \mathbb{CP}^N$  is a random variable that is supported on some full-dimensional subset of  $\mathbb{CP}^N$ . In particular, this implies that, if  $\beta$  is a property with discriminant  $\Sigma$ , and if  $\Sigma \subsetneq \mathbb{CP}^N$  is an algebraic variety, then  $\mathbb{P}\{z \in \Sigma\} = 0$ , and so  $\mathbb{P}\{\beta(z) \text{ has the generic value}\} = 1$ . Therefore

$$\mathbb{E}\beta(z) =$$
 generic value of  $\beta(z)$ .

It is interesting to approach the problem of computing generic properties from a probablistic point of view.

This strategy becomes more effective as counting problems over the complex numbers becomes more complicated. Consider  $f = \sum_{i=0}^{d} c_i x_0^i x_1^{d-i} \in \mathbb{C}[x_0, x_i]_{(d)}$ , where the real and imaginary parts of the  $c_i$  are independent Gaussian random variables such that  $\Re(c_i) \sim N(0, \frac{1}{2} \binom{d}{i})$  and  $\Im(c_i) \sim N(0, \frac{1}{2} \binom{d}{i})$  (the factor  $\frac{1}{2}$  is for normalizing the variance to  $\mathbb{E} |c_i|^2 = 1$ ). Such a polynomial is called a *complex Kostlan polynomial*. The distribution we have put on the coefficients is absolutely continuous with respect to Lebesgue measure on the space of coefficients, and in

fact the distribution of P(f) is supported on the whole  $\mathbb{C}P^d$ . Therefore, we know that with probability one we have that  $\#Z_{\mathbb{C}}(f)$  equals some constant (we know this constant is d, but let's pretend for a second that we did not know this). Then, if we can find a way (and there is such a way) to compute by elementary means the expectation of  $\#Z_{\mathbb{C}}(f)$ , we have found its generic value.

In this chapter we will recall some basic concepts from differential geometry, leading to the notion of *volume* of a Riemannian manifold. We will use this definition for computing the volumes of several basic objects in algebraic geometry: spheres, projective spaces, orthogonal groups, and the Grassmannian, and then interpret these in simple probabilistic terms. For more details on smooth manifolds and Riemannian geometry we refer the reader to [21].

## 2.1 Basics from differential geometry

We assume the reader is familiar with the notions of smooth manifolds, smooth maps and differential forms. Here we recall just some basic definitions, with the purpose of setting our notation and introducing some examples of special interest for what follows.

## 2.1.1 Basic notions and examples

**Definition 2.1** (Smooth Manifold). A smooth manifold M of dimension m is a Hausdorff and second countable topological space together with a family of homeomorphisms  $\varphi_{\alpha} : U_{\alpha} \to \varphi_{\alpha}(U_{\alpha}) \subset \mathbb{R}^m$ ,  $\alpha \in A$ , where  $U_{\alpha} \subset M$ ,  $\varphi_{\alpha}(U_{\alpha}) \subset \mathbb{R}^m$ are open sets, such that

- (1)  $M = \bigcup_{\alpha \in A} U_{\alpha};$
- (2) The change of coordinates  $\varphi_{\alpha} \circ \varphi_{\beta}^{-1} : \varphi_{\beta}(U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta}) \to \varphi_{\alpha}(U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta})$  is smooth for all  $\alpha, \beta \in A$  such that  $U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta} \neq \emptyset$ .

Each pair  $(U_{\alpha}, \varphi_{\alpha})$  is called a *chart*. The family  $\mathcal{A} = \{(U_{\alpha}, \varphi_{\alpha})\}_{\alpha \in A}$  is called an *atlas* for M. If we replace  $\mathbb{R}^m$  by  $\mathbb{C}^m$  and if we require that each change of coordinates is a holomorphic map, we call M a *complex manifold*.

We will assume that the atlas we work with is maximal, so that we will have all possible charts available.

**Example 2.2.** We consider the unit circle:  $M = S^1 = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid x^T x = 1\}$ . We can cover  $S^1$  with two charts  $S^1 = U_1 \cup U_2$ , where  $U_1 = M \setminus \{(0,1)\}$  and  $U_2 = M \setminus \{(0,-1)\}$ . The homeomorphisms are the two stereographic projections  $\varphi_1(x,y) = \frac{x}{1-y}$  and  $\varphi_2(x,y) = \frac{x}{1+y}$ . The change of coordinates is the smooth map  $(\varphi_2 \circ \varphi_1^{-1})(t) = t^{-1}$ , so that  $S^1$  is indeed a smooth manifold.

**Example 2.3** (Real projective spaces). The real projective space  $\mathbb{R}P^n$  can be endowed with the structure of smooth manifold as follows. Recall that  $\mathbb{R}P^n = (\mathbb{R}^{n+1} \setminus \{0\}) / \sim$ , where  $p_1 \sim p_2$  if and only if there exists  $\lambda \neq 0$  such that  $p_1 = \lambda p_2$ . We denote by  $[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$  the equivalence class of  $(x_0, \ldots, x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \setminus \{0\}$  (the  $x_j$ are called *homogeneous coordinates*). For every  $j = 0, \ldots, n$  consider the open set  $U_j \subset \mathbb{R}P^n$  defined by:

$$U_j = \{ [x_0, \dots, x_n] \text{ such that } x_j \neq 0 \},\$$

together with the homeomorphism  $\psi_j: U_j \to \mathbb{R}^n$  given by:

$$\psi_j([x_0,\ldots,x_n]) = \left(\frac{x_0}{x_j},\ldots,\frac{\widehat{x_j}}{x_j},\ldots,\frac{x_n}{x_j}\right)$$

(here the "hat" symbol denotes that this element has been removed from the list). The inverse  $\psi_i^{-1} : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}P^n$  is given by:

$$\psi_j^{-1}(y_0,\ldots,\widehat{y}_j,\ldots,y_n)=[y_0,\ldots,1,\ldots,y_n],$$

where the "1" is in position j. As a consequence, for every  $i \neq j$  we have:

$$\psi_i \circ \psi_j^{-1}(y_0, \dots, \widehat{y_j}, \dots, y_n) = \left(\frac{y_0}{y_i}, \dots, \frac{\widehat{y_i}}{y_i}, \dots, \frac{1}{y_i}, \dots, \frac{y_n}{y_j}\right),$$

which is a diffeomorphism of  $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$  to itself.

Generalizing the previous example we obtain *real Grassmannians*.

**Example 2.4** (real Grassmannians). The real Grassmannian G(k, n) consists of the set of all k-dimensional vector subspaces of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , endowed with the quotient topology of the map:

$$q: \{M \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times k} \text{ such that } \mathrm{rk}(M) = k\} \to G(k, n),$$

where  $q(M) = \text{span}\{\text{columns of } M\}$  In other words, G(k, n) (as a topological space) can be considered as the quotient of the set of  $n \times k$  real matrices of rank k

(viewed as a subset of  $\mathbb{R}^{n \times k}$ ) under the equivalence relation:

$$M_1 \sim M_2 \iff$$
 there exists  $L \in \mathrm{GL}(\mathbb{R}^k)$  such that  $M_1 = M_2 L$ .

Observe that  $G(1, n) = \mathbb{R}P^{n-1}$  and that the above definition mimics the equivalence relation  $v_1 \sim v_2$  if and only if there exists  $\lambda \in GL(\mathbb{R}) = \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$  such that  $v_1 = \lambda v_2$ .

We want to endow G(k, n) with the structure of a smooth manifold. For every multi-index  $J = (j_1, \ldots, j_k) \in {n \atop k}$  we denote by  $M|_J$  the  $k \times k$  submatrix of Mobtained by selecting the rows  $j_1, \ldots, j_k$  (in this way  $M|_{J^c}$  denotes the  $(n-k) \times k$ submatrix of M obtained by selecting the complementary rows). For every such multi-index J we define the open set:

$$U_J = \{ [M] \in G(k, n) \text{ such that } \det(M|_J) \neq 0 \}.$$

(Note that this set is well defined.) Mimicking again the definition for projective spaces, we define the manifold charts  $\psi_J : U_J \to \mathbb{R}^{(n-k) \times k}$  by:

$$\psi_J([M]) = (MM_J^{-1})|_{J^c}.$$

The expression of the inverse of a matrix in terms of its determinant and its cofactor schows that for every pair of indices  $J_1, J_2 \in {n \atop k}$  the map  $\psi_{J_2} \circ \psi_{J_1}^{-1}$  is smooth. In this way  $\{(U_J, \psi_J)\}_{J \in {n \atop k}}$  is a smooth atlas for the k(n-k)-dimensional manifold G(k, n).

*Exercise* 2.1. Fill in all the details in the previous definition of the smooth structure on the Grassmannian.

**Example 2.5** (The Complex projective line). Recall that the complex line  $\mathbb{CP}^1$  is defined as the quotient space  $(\mathbb{C}^2 \setminus \{0\}) / \sim$  where  $(z_0, z_1) \sim \lambda(z_0, z_1)$  for every  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0\}$ . As we did for real projective spaces, we denote by  $[z_0, z_1]$  the homogeneous coordinates of a point on  $\mathbb{CP}^1$ . Consider the two open sets  $U_0 = \{z_0 \neq 0\}$  and  $U_1 = \{z_1 \neq 0\}$  together with the charts  $\psi_j : U_j \to \mathbb{C} \simeq \mathbb{R}^2$  for j = 0, 1 which are given by:

$$\psi_1([z_0, z_1]) = \frac{z_0}{z_1}$$
 and  $\psi_0([z_0, z_1]) = \frac{z_1}{z_0}$ .

We have that  $\psi_0 \circ \psi_1^{-1}(z) = \frac{1}{z}$ , which is a holomorphic map  $\mathbb{C}\setminus\{0\} \to \mathbb{C}\setminus\{0\}$  and consequently, using the identification  $\mathbb{C} \simeq \mathbb{R}^2$ , a smooth map  $\mathbb{R}^2\setminus\{0\} \to \mathbb{R}^2\setminus\{0\}$ . If we wanted, we could also work with  $\psi_j$  as a real map, as follows (however, as the reader will see, using the field structure of  $\mathbb{C} \simeq \mathbb{R}^2$  simplifies a lot the computations). Given  $(x_0, y_0, x_1, y_1) \in \mathbb{R}^4$ , let  $(x_0 + iy_0, x_1 + iy_1) = (z_0, z_1) \in \mathbb{C}^2$ . We can write  $\psi_1: U_1 \to \mathbb{C} \simeq \mathbb{R}^2$  as

$$\psi_1([x_0 + iy_0, x_1 + iy_1]) = \frac{x_0 + iy_0}{x_1 + iy_1} = \frac{x_0x_1 + y_0y_1}{x_1^2 + y_1^2} + i \cdot \frac{y_0x_1 - x_0y_1}{x_1^2 + y_1^2}$$

which means that the real map  $\psi_1 : U_1 \to \mathbb{R}^2$  is given by:

$$\psi_1([x_0+iy_0,x_1+iy_1]) = \left(\frac{x_0x_1+y_0y_1}{x_1^2+y_1^2},\frac{y_0x_1-x_0y_1}{x_1^2+y_1^2}\right),$$

with inverse  $\psi_1^{-1} : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{C}\mathbf{P}^1$  given by:

$$\psi_1^{-1}(x,y) = [1, x + iy].$$

In particular  $\psi_0 \circ \psi_1|_{U_0 \cap U_1}^{-1}$  is given by  $(x, y) \mapsto \frac{1}{x^2 + y^2}(x, -y)$ , which is indeed a smooth map  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\} \to \mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{0\}$ .

The complex projective line  $\mathbb{C}P^1$  is homeomorphic to  $S^2$  and in fact, as smooth manifolds, they are indistinguishable.

*Exercise* 2.2. Generalize the previous example and prove that  $\mathbb{CP}^n$  can be endowed with the structure of a smooth 2n-dimensional manifold. Moreover, prove that the atlas for  $\mathbb{CP}^n$  can be chosen in such a way that the change of coordinates are holomorphic maps between open subsets of  $\mathbb{C}^n$ , so that  $\mathbb{CP}^n$  is a complex manifold.

It will be useful for the sequel also to recall some notation on tangent spaces and differential of a smooth map. To this end, recall that a *derivation* of M at xis a linear function  $D : \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M, \mathbb{R}) \to \mathbb{R}$  such that D(fg) = D(f)g(x) + f(x)D(g). The (abstract) *tangent space* of M at a point  $x \in M$  is then

$$T_x M := \{ \mathcal{D} : \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(M, \mathbb{R}) \to \mathbb{R} \mid \mathcal{D} \text{ is a derivation of } M \text{ at } x \}$$

and we have dim  $T_x M = \dim M$  for all  $x \in M$ ; see [21, Proposition 3.10].

As an example, let us consider the tangent space to  $\mathbb{R}^m$ . At a point  $a \in \mathbb{R}^m$  the tangent space  $T_a \mathbb{R}^m$  consists of all directional derivatives at a (see [21, Proposition 3.2]):

$$T_a \mathbb{R}^m := \operatorname{span}\left\{\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}\Big|_a \Big| i = 1, \dots, m\right\} \cong \mathbb{R}^m.$$
 (2.1)

Let now  $(\varphi, U)$  be a chart of  $M, x \in M$  and  $a := \varphi(x)$ . We denote by  $(\varphi^{-1})_* (\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \mid_a)$  the derivation that acts as

$$(\varphi^{-1})_* \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}\Big|_a\right)(f) := \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}(f \circ \varphi^{-1})(a), \text{ for } f \in \mathscr{C}^\infty(M, \mathbb{R}).$$

The map  $(\varphi^{-1})_*$  is also called a *push-forward* for derivations, and it is a linear

isomorphism of n-dimensional vector spaces. This, together with (2.1) implies

$$T_x M = \operatorname{span}\left\{ (\varphi^{-1})_* \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \Big|_a \right) \ \Big| \ i = 1, \dots, m \right\}, \quad \text{where } a = \varphi(x).$$
(2.2)

**Example 2.6.** As an example we consider the (n-1)-dimensional unit sphere  $S^{n-1} = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid x^T x = 1\}$ . Let  $x \in S^{n-1}$ . Then, we can identify

$$T_x S^{n-1} \cong x^{\perp} = \{ y \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid x^T y = 0 \}.$$
 (2.3)

Every point  $y \in x^{\perp}$  is identified with the derivation that acts as the directional derivative in direction y; i.e.,  $y(f) = \sum_{i=1}^{n+1} y_i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} F(x)$  for  $F \in \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(S^n, \mathbb{R})$ .

In the previous example we identified  $T_x S^n$  with a linear subspace of  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ . In fact, for every submanifold  $M \hookrightarrow \mathbb{R}^n$  we have such an identification. Let  $M \hookrightarrow \mathbb{R}^n$ and  $x \in M$ . For a curve  $\gamma : (-\epsilon, \epsilon) \to M$  with  $\gamma(0) = x$  we define the geometric tangent vector  $\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\gamma(t)|_{t=0}$ . The linear span of all such tangent vectors is called the geometric tangent space of M at x.

**Lemma 2.7.** The geometric tangent space of a submanifold  $M \hookrightarrow \mathbb{R}^n$  at x is isomorphic to  $T_x M$ .

Proof. Let  $\varphi : U \to \mathbb{R}^m$  be a chart of M with  $x \in M$  and  $a = \varphi(x)$ . Then, writing the curve  $\gamma$  in coordinates, we get a curve  $(\varphi \circ \gamma)(t)$  in  $\mathbb{R}^m$  through a. It's derivative  $\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}(\varphi \circ \gamma)|_{t=0}$  is a vector v in  $\mathbb{R}^m$ , which we can identify with the derivation  $\sum_{i=1}^n v_i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}|_a \in T_a \mathbb{R}^m$ . Using (2.2), we get an identification of the geometric tangent space with M.

Let now  $F: M \to N$  be a smooth map. We denote by  $D_x F: T_x M \to T_{F(x)} N$ its differential. Let us consider  $D_x F$  in coordinates: suppose  $x \in U$  and  $F(x) \in V$ . We check how  $D_x F$  acts on a basis for  $T_x M$  For this, we denote  $a := \varphi(x)$  and  $b = \psi(F(x))$ . There exists  $c_{i,j} \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$D_x F((\varphi^{-1})_*(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}|_a))(f) = \sum_{i=1}^n c_{i,j} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} (f \circ \psi^{-1})(b) \quad \text{for } f \in \mathscr{C}^\infty(N, \mathbb{R}),$$

because the derivations  $(\psi^{-1})_*(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}|_b)$  form a basis for  $T_{F(x)}N$ , by (2.2). On the other hand,  $D_x F((\varphi^{-1})_*(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}|_a))(f) = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}(f \circ F \circ \varphi^{-1})(a)$ , by definition of  $D_x F$ . Therefore,

$$C = (c_{i,j}) \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}, \text{ where } c_{i,j} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} (x_j \circ \psi \circ F \circ \varphi^{-1})(a), \qquad (2.4)$$

and where  $x_j$  is the *j*-th coordinate functions, represents  $D_x F$  relative to the bases  $((\varphi^{-1})_*(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}|_a))$  and  $((\psi^{-1})_*(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}|_b))$ .

A point  $x \in M$  is called a *regular point* of  $F : M \to N$  if  $D_x F : T_x M \to T_{F(x)}N$  is surjective. Note that a necessary condition for regular points to exist is dim  $M \ge \dim N$ . We call a point  $y \in N$  a *regular value* of F, if every  $x \in F^{-1}(y)$  is a regular point of F. For a proof of the following see, e.g., [5, Theorem A.9].

**Proposition 2.8.** The fiber  $F^{-1}(y)$  of a regular value  $y \in N$  is a smooth submanifold of dimension dim M - dim N. Its tangent space at x is  $T_x F^{-1}(y) = \ker D_x F$ .

A useful consequence of this proposition is the following result.

**Corollary 2.9.** Let  $f_1, \ldots, f_k \in \mathbb{R}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$  be k polynomials in  $n \ge k$  variables and let  $M = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid f_1(x) = \cdots = f_k(x) = 0\}$  be the real algebraic set defined as the zero set of the  $f_i$ . We assume that for each  $x \in M$ , the Jacobian matrix  $J(x) = (\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} f_i(x))_{i=1,\ldots,k,j=1,\ldots,n} \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times n}$  has full rank. Then:

- (1)  $M \hookrightarrow \mathbb{R}^m$  is a smooth manifold of dimension n k;
- (2) the geometric tangent space is  $T_x M \cong \ker J(x)$ .

*Proof.* The first item follows from Proposition 2.8 by noticing that 0 is a regular value of the smooth map  $\mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^k, x \mapsto (f_1(x), \ldots, f_k(x))$ . The second item also follows from Proposition 2.8 and the fact that J(x) is the derivative of this map in coordinates.

*Remark* 2.10. In fact, the statement of Corollary 2.9 is still true, if we replace polynomials by smooth maps.

A smooth map  $F: M \to N$  whose differential is a submersion at every point enjoys, of course, some special properties. For instance, if F is surjective and proper (i.e. the preimage under F of a compact set in N is compact in M) the map is a *locally trivial fibration*: there exists a smooth manifold L such that for every point  $y \in N$  there exists a neighborhood U of y and a diffeomorphism  $\varphi: F^{-1}(U) \to U \times L$  such that  $p_1 \circ \varphi = F$ , where  $p_1: U \times L \to U$  denotes the projection on the first factor. This result is called *Ehresmann's fibration lemma*.

We can use Proposition 2.8 also to produce submanifolds of real projective spaces, as follows.

**Example 2.11** (Smooth projective hypersurfaces). Let  $F : \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \to \mathbb{R}$  be a homogeneous polynomial of degree d. Since F is homogeneous, the following set  $Z(F) \subset \mathbb{R}P^n$  is well defined:

 $Z(F) = \{ [x_0, \dots, x_n] \in \mathbb{R}P^n \text{ such that } F(x_0, \dots, x_n) = 0 \}.$ 

If the vector

$$\nabla F := \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial F}{\partial x_0} \\ \vdots \\ \frac{\partial F}{\partial x_n} \end{pmatrix}$$

(the gradient of F) is nonzero at every non-zero point of  $\{F = 0\} \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  (a non-degeneracy condition), then Z(F) is a smooth submanifold of  $\mathbb{RP}^n$ . To see this we use the fact that being a submanifold is a local property, i.e. in order to prove that Z(F) is a submanifold, it is enough to cover  $\mathbb{RP}^n$  with the open sets  $\mathbb{RP}^n = \bigcup_{j=1}^n U_j$  defined in Example 2.3 and prove that  $Z(F) \cap U_j$  is a submanifold of  $\mathbb{RP}^n$  for every  $j = 0, \ldots, n$ . Moreover, since being a submanifold is invariant under diffeomorphisms, it is enough to prove that  $\psi_j(Z(F) \cap U_j)$  is a submanifold of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ for every  $j = 0, \ldots, n$  (the  $\psi_j : U_j \to \mathbb{R}^n$  are the manifold charts for  $\mathbb{RP}^n$ ). Now, if we define the function  $f_j : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  by  $f_j(y_0, \ldots, \hat{y}_j, \ldots, y_n) = F(y_0, \ldots, 1, \ldots, y_n)$ , the set  $\psi_j(Z(F) \cap U_j)$  is given by the equation:

$$\psi_j(Z(F) \cap U_j) = \{f_j = 0\}.$$

The condition  $\nabla F|_{\{F=0\}\setminus\{0\}} \neq 0$  tells that the equation  $\{f_j=0\}$  is regular (i.e. 0 is a regular value of  $f_j$ ). In fact if for some  $y \in \{f_j=0\}$  we had  $\nabla f_j(y) = 0$ , then:

$$\nabla F(y_0, \dots, 1, \dots, y_n)^T = \left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial x_0}, \dots, \frac{\partial F}{\partial x_j}, \dots, \frac{\partial F}{\partial x_n}\right)\Big|_{(y_0, \dots, 1, \dots, y_n)}$$
$$= \left(0, \dots, 0, \frac{\partial F}{\partial x_j}\Big|_{(y_0, \dots, 1, \dots, y_n)}, 0, \dots, 0\right)$$
$$= (0, \dots, 0, d \cdot F(y_0, \dots, 1, \dots, y_n), 0, \dots, 0)$$
$$= 0$$

contradicting the non-degeneracy condition (in the last line we have used Euler's identity for homogeneous functions  $d \cdot F(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} x_j \frac{\partial F}{\partial x_j}(x)$ .) We will review this example in Example 2.19 below.

Exercise 2.3. Let  $F : \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \to \mathbb{R}$  as in the previous example be a homogeneous polynomial of degree d and define the function  $f = F|_{S^n}$ . Prove that if for every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \setminus \{0\}$  such that F(x) = 0 we have  $\nabla F(x) \neq 0$ , then the equation  $\{f = 0\}$ is a regular equation on  $S^n$  (i.e.  $\{f = 0\}$  is a smooth submanifold of  $S^n$ , of dimension n-1 if nonempty). Prove that the covering map  $q : S^n \to \mathbb{R}P^n$ restricts to a smooth covering map  $p|_{\{f=0\}} : \{f = 0\} \to Z(F) \subset \mathbb{R}P^n$ .

## 2.1.2 Vector bundles

**Definition 2.12** (Vector bundle). A vector bundle of rank k is a triple  $(\pi, E, M)$  where E and M are smooth manifolds and

$$\pi: E \longrightarrow M$$

is a smooth map such that:

(1) there is an open cover  $M = \bigcup_{\alpha \in A} V_{\alpha}$  and diffeomorphisms  $\psi_{\alpha} : \pi^{-1}(V_{\alpha}) \to V_{\alpha} \times \mathbb{R}^{k}$  such that the following diagram is commutative:



 $(p_1 \text{ is the projection on the first factor})$ . The family  $\{(U_{\alpha}, \psi_{\alpha})\}_{\alpha \in A}$  is called a vector bundle atlas, and each  $\psi_{\alpha}$  is called a trivialization.

(2) whenever  $V_{\alpha} \cap V_{\beta} \neq \emptyset$ , there is a continuous map  $g_{\alpha\beta} : V_{\alpha} \cap V_{\beta} \to \operatorname{GL}(\mathbb{R}^k)$ such that the map  $\psi_{\alpha} \circ \psi_{\beta}^{-1} : (V_{\alpha} \cap V_{\beta}) \times \mathbb{R}^k \to (V_{\alpha} \cap V_{\beta}) \times \mathbb{R}^k$  is given by:

$$(x,v) \mapsto (x, g_{\alpha\beta}(x) \cdot v).$$

The fiber over  $x \in M$  is the vector space  $E_x = \pi^{-1}(x)$ . Given  $X \subset M$  the restriction of E is the vector bundle  $(\pi|_{\pi^{-1}(X)}, \pi^{-1}(X), X)$  (the vector space structure is well defined by condition (2) above). The family  $\{g_{\alpha\beta}\}_{\alpha,\beta\in A}$  is called the *cocycle* of the bundle and satisfies the interesting properties:

$$g_{\alpha\beta}(x)g_{\beta\gamma}(x) = g_{\alpha\gamma}(x) \quad \forall x \in V_{\alpha} \cap V_{\beta} \cap V_{\gamma}, \quad g_{\alpha\alpha}(x) = \mathbb{1}.$$
 (2.5)

A sub-bundle of E is a vector bundle  $\pi_0 : E_0 \to M$  such that  $E_0 \subseteq E$ ,  $\pi_0 = \pi|_{E_0}$  and such that there exists a vector bundle atlas  $\{(U_\alpha, \psi_\alpha)\}_{\alpha \in A}$  for E with the following property: for every trivialization  $\psi_\alpha : E|_{V_\alpha} \to V_\alpha \times \mathbb{R}^k$  we have  $\psi_\alpha(E|_{V_\alpha} \cap E_0) =$  $V_\alpha \times \mathbb{R}^r$  and the pair  $(\psi_\alpha|_{\pi^{-1}(V_\alpha)\cap E_0}, V_\alpha)$  belong to the vector bundle atlas of  $E_0$ (here r is the rank of  $E_0$ ).

**Example 2.13** (The trivial bundle). The trivial rank-k bundle on M is simply  $E = M \times \mathbb{R}^k$  with  $\pi : M \times \mathbb{R}^k \to M$  given by the projection on the first factor (in other words there is a single bundle trivialization:  $V_{\alpha} = M$  and  $\psi_{\alpha} = \mathrm{id}_M$ ).

**Example 2.14** (How to construct a vector bundle). Let us consider an open cover  $\mathcal{U} = \{U_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$  of a smooth manifold M and for every  $\alpha, \beta \in A$  such that  $U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta} \neq 0$  assume we are given a smooth function  $g_{\alpha\beta} : U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta} \to \operatorname{GL}(\mathbb{R}^k)$  such that the family  $\{g_{\alpha\beta}\}$  satisfies properties (2.5). Then we can construct a vector bundle E with cocycle  $\{g_{\alpha\beta}\}$  by setting:

$$E = \left(\coprod_{\alpha \in A} U_{\alpha} \times \mathbb{R}^k\right) / \sim,$$

where  $(x_1, v_1)_{\alpha_1} \sim (x_2, v_2)_{\alpha_2}$  if and only if  $x_1 = x_2$  and  $v_1 = g_{\alpha_1 \alpha_2}(x)v_2$ . We endow E with the quotient topology from the defining equivalence relation "~" and the projection map  $\pi : E \to M$  is simply given by  $[(x, v)] \mapsto x$ .

**Example 2.15** (Tangent bundle). Let M be a smooth manifold of dimension m and  $\{(U_{\alpha}, \psi_{\alpha})\}_{\alpha \in A}$  be a smooth atlas for M. Using Example 2.14, we see that the tangent bundle TM of M is the vector bundle with cocycle

$$g_{\alpha\beta}(x) := J(\psi_{\alpha} \circ \psi_{\beta}^{-1})(\psi_{\beta}(x)).$$

**Example 2.16** (The tautological bundle). The tautological bundle  $\tau_{k,n}$  is a vector bundle on the Grassmannian G(k, n) which, as a topological space, is defined by:

$$\tau_{k,n} = \{ (W, x) \in G(k, n) \times \mathbb{R}^n \, | \, x \in W \simeq \mathbb{R}^k \}.$$

The projection  $\pi : \tau_{k,n} \to G(k,n)$  equals the restriction to  $\tau_{k,n} \subset G(k,n) \times \mathbb{R}^n$  of the projection on the first factor  $G(k,n) \times \mathbb{R}^n \to G(k,n)$ .

**Definition 2.17** (Section of a vector bundle). Let  $E \xrightarrow{\pi} M$  be a vector bundle. A section of E is a smooth map  $s : M \to E$  such that  $\pi(s(x)) = x$  for every  $x \in M$ , i.e. such that the following diagram is commutative:



The zero section is the section that associates to every point  $x \in M$  the zero vector in  $E_x$ . A section of the tangent bundle TM is called a *vector field*.

Remark 2.18 (How to build a section of a vector bundle). Let  $E \xrightarrow{\pi} M$  be a rankk vector bundle and  $\mathcal{U} = \{U_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$  be an open cover of M such that  $\psi_{\alpha} : E|_{U_{\alpha}} \simeq U_{\alpha} \times \mathbb{R}^{k}$  for every  $\alpha \in A$ . Let also  $\{g_{\alpha\beta}\}$  be the corresponding cocyle. Given a

section  $s: M \to E$ , for every  $\alpha \in A$  we can consider the map  $\psi_{\alpha} \circ s: U_{\alpha} \to U_{\alpha} \times \mathbb{R}^{k}$ (the section in the trivialization), which has the following form:

$$\psi_{\alpha}(s(x)) = (x, \sigma_{\alpha}(x)), \qquad (2.6)$$

for some smooth function  $\sigma_{\alpha} : U_{\alpha} \to \mathbb{R}^k$ . Using the definition of the cocyle, we see that the family of maps  $\{\sigma_{\alpha}\}$  satisfies the relation:

$$\sigma_{\alpha}(x) = g_{\alpha\beta}(x)\sigma_{\beta}(x) \quad \forall x \in U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta}.$$
(2.7)

Conversely, given a family of smooth functions  $\{\sigma_{\alpha} : U_{\alpha} \to \mathbb{R}^k\}$  such that (2.7) is satisfied, this family defines a section of E (i.e. the unique section which in the trivializations has the expression (2.6)).

**Example 2.19** (Polynomials and vector bundles over projective spaces). Let  $\mathcal{U} = \{U_j\}_{j=0}^n$  be the open cover  $U_j = \{x_j \neq 0\}$  of  $\mathbb{R}\mathbb{P}^n$ . For every  $d \in \mathbb{Z}$  consider the cocycle:

$$g_{ij}([x_0,\ldots,x_n]) = \left(\frac{x_j}{x_i}\right)^d, \quad x_i, x_j \neq 0.$$

We denote by  $O_{\mathbb{R}P^n}(d)$  the vector bundle constructed with the procedure of Example 2.14 corresponding to this cocyle. An interesting fact is that, when  $d \ge 0$ , every homogeneous polynomial of degree d defines in a natural way a section of  $O_{\mathbb{R}P^n}(d)$ , as follows. Given  $p \in \mathbb{R}[x_0, \ldots, x_n]_{(d)}$  define the family of functions  $\{(\sigma_p)_j : U_j \to \mathbb{R}\}_{j=0}^n$  by

$$(\sigma_p)_j([x_0,\ldots,x_n]) = p\left(\frac{x_0}{x_j},\ldots,\frac{x_j}{x_j},\ldots,\frac{x_n}{x_j}\right)$$

Observe now that for every i, j and  $[x] \in U_i \cap U_j$  we have:

$$g_{ij}([x])(\sigma_p)_j([x]) = \left(\frac{x_j}{x_i}\right)^d p\left(\frac{x_0}{x_j}, \dots, \frac{x_j}{x_j}, \dots, \frac{x_n}{x_j}\right)$$
$$= p\left(\frac{x_0}{x_i}, \dots, \frac{x_n}{x_i}\right) = (\sigma_p)_i([x])$$

(where in the second equality we have used the fact that p is homogeneous of degree d). In particular, following the discussion of Remark 2.18, we see that the family  $\{(\sigma_p)_j\}_{j=0}^n$  defines a section  $\sigma_p$  of  $O_{\mathbb{RP}^n}(d)$ . (Note also that the map  $p \mapsto \sigma_p$  is linear.) The procedure of de-homogenization of a polynomial with respect to a variable can be geometrically described as the procedure of looking at the polynomial as a section in the corresponding trivialization.

## 2.2 The Riemannian volume

In this section we introduce the notion of Riemannian volume: this is a measure defined on the sigma algebra of Borel sets of a smooth manifold, which can be constructed as soon as one has a Riemannian structure on such manifold. We start recalling some basic definitions.

## 2.2.1 Riemannian manifolds and integrals

**Definition 2.20.** A Riemannian manifold is a pair (M, g), where M is a smooth manifold and g assigns to each tangent space  $T_xM$  a positive definite bilinear form  $g(x): T_xM \times T_xM \to \mathbb{R}$  such that for every pair of vector fields  $v, w: M \to$ TM the function  $x \mapsto g(x)(u(x), v(x))$  is smooth. We call g the Riemannian metric on M.

Similarly, a Hermitian manifold is a pair (M, h), where M is a complex manifold and h assigns to each tangent space  $T_x M$  a positive definite Hermitian form, in a smooth way as above. We call h the Hermitian metric on M.

Every Hermitian manifold is also a Riemannian manifold by taking the Riemannian metric to be the real part of the Hermitian metric:  $g = \frac{1}{2}(h + \overline{h})$ .

Given an atlas  $(U_{\alpha}, \varphi_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in A}$  for M and a point  $x \in U_{\alpha}$  for a fixed  $\alpha$  we can represent g(x) in coordinates by the  $n \times n$  matrix  $g_{\alpha}(x)$  with coordinates

$$g_{\alpha}(x)_{i,j} := g(x)((\varphi_{\alpha}^{-1})_*(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \mid_a), (\varphi_{\alpha}^{-1})_*(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \mid_a)), \quad \text{where } a = \varphi_{\alpha}(x).$$
(2.8)

Let us see how  $g_{\alpha}$  behaves under coordinate changes.

**Lemma 2.21.** If  $x \in U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta}$ , then  $\det(g_{\alpha}(x)) = \det(g_{\beta}(x)) \det(J_{\alpha,\beta}(x))^2$ , where

$$J_{\alpha,\beta}(x) = \left[\frac{\partial(\varphi_{\beta} \circ \varphi_{\alpha}^{-1})}{\partial x_{j}}(\varphi_{\alpha}(x))\right]_{j=1,\dots,m} \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times m}.$$

*Proof.* Let  $a := \varphi_{\alpha}(x)$  and  $b := \varphi_{\beta}(x)$ , and denote by  $v_i := (\varphi_{\alpha}^{-1})_*(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i} \mid_a)$  and  $w_i := (\varphi_{\beta}^{-1})_*(\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \mid_b)$  tangent vectors. In (2.4) we take F to be the identify to see that  $v_i = \sum_{j=1}^n c_{i,j} w_i$  for  $J_{\alpha,\beta}(x) = (c_{i,j})^T$ . This implies

$$g(x)(v_i, v_j) = \sum_{k=1}^{m} \sum_{\ell=1}^{m} c_{i,k} c_{j,\ell} g(x)(w_k, w_\ell);$$

i.e.,  $g_{\alpha}(x) = J_{\alpha,\beta}(x)^T g_{\beta}(x) J_{\alpha,\beta}(x)$ . Taking determinants concludes the proof.  $\Box$ 

We first discuss how to integrate functions on a Riemannian manifold.

**Definition 2.22** (Integral of a function on a Riemannian manifold). Let (M, g) be a Riemannian manifold with atlas  $\{(U_{\alpha}, \varphi_{\alpha})\}_{\alpha \in A}$ . Let  $\{\rho_{\alpha} : U_{\alpha} \to \mathbb{R}\}_{\alpha \in A}$  be a partition of unity<sup>1</sup> subordinated to the open cover  $\{U_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ . The integral of a measurable function  $f: M \to \mathbb{R}$  is defined by:

$$\int_{M} f(x) \operatorname{vol}_{g}(\mathrm{d}x) := \sum_{\alpha \in A} \int_{\varphi_{\alpha}(U_{\alpha})} \left( (f \cdot \rho_{\alpha}) \circ \varphi_{\alpha}^{-1} \right)(x) \sqrt{\det g_{\alpha}(\varphi_{\alpha}^{-1}(x))} \, \mathrm{d}x_{1} \cdots \mathrm{d}x_{n},$$

where on the right hand side of this equation we have standard Lebesgue integrals, and  $g_{\alpha}$  is the matrix from (2.8). We will say that a measurable function  $f: M \to \mathbb{R}$ is *integrable* if  $\int_{M} |f(x)| \operatorname{vol}_{g}(dx)$  is finite.

In the following, whenever it will be clear to which Riemannian metric we refer, we will simply denote by

$$\int_M f(x) \, \mathrm{d}x := \int_M f(x) \operatorname{vol}_g(\mathrm{d}x)$$

the integral of a measurable function.

Definition 2.22 is based on the choice of a partition of unity. Next we show, that the definition is actually independent of this choice.

**Lemma 2.23.** The definition of the integral in Definition 2.22 is independent of the choice of partition of unity.

*Proof.* Let  $\{p_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in A\}$  and  $\{q_{\alpha} \mid \alpha \in A\}$  be two partitions of unity subordinated to the open cover  $\{U_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ . Then, we have

$$\sum_{\alpha \in A} \int_{\varphi_{\alpha}(U_{\alpha})} \left( (f \cdot p_{\alpha}) \circ \varphi_{\alpha}^{-1} \right) (x) \sqrt{\det g_{\alpha}(\varphi_{\alpha}^{-1}(x))} \, \mathrm{d}x_{1} \cdots \mathrm{d}x_{n}$$

$$= \sum_{\alpha \in A} \int_{\varphi_{\alpha}(U_{\alpha})} \left( \left( f \cdot p_{\alpha} \cdot \sum_{\beta \in A} q_{\beta} \right) \circ \varphi_{\alpha}^{-1} \right) (x) \sqrt{\det g_{\alpha}(\varphi_{\alpha}^{-1}(x))} \, \mathrm{d}x_{1} \cdots \mathrm{d}x_{n}$$

$$= \sum_{\alpha \in A} \sum_{\beta \in A} \int_{\varphi_{\alpha}(U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta})} \left( (f \cdot p_{\alpha} \cdot q_{\beta}) \circ \varphi_{\alpha}^{-1} \right) (x) \sqrt{\det g_{\alpha}(\varphi_{\alpha}^{-1}(x))} \, \mathrm{d}x_{1} \cdots \mathrm{d}x_{n},$$

the second equality, because  $\sum_{\beta \in A} q_{\beta} = 1$ , and the last equality, because  $p_{\alpha} \cdot q_{\beta}$  is zero outside of  $U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta}$ . For the last term we can use a change of variables

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>A partition of unity for M subordinated to the open cover  $\{U_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in A}$  is a family of smooth functions  $\{\rho_{\alpha} : U_{\alpha} \to \mathbb{R}\}_{\alpha \in A}$ , such that: (1)  $0 \leq \rho_{\alpha}(x) \leq 1$  for all  $x \in M$  and  $\alpha \in A$ ; (2) for every  $x \in M$  we have  $\rho_{\alpha}(x) > 0$  for only finitely many  $\alpha \in A$ ; and (3)  $\sum_{\alpha \in A} \rho_{\alpha}(x) = 1$  for all  $x \in M$ . Such a family always exists; see, e.g., [21, Theorem 2.23].

 $\varphi_{\alpha}(U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta}) \to \varphi_{\beta}(U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta}), x \mapsto y = (\varphi_{\beta} \circ \varphi_{\alpha}^{-1})(x)$ . By Lemma Lemma 2.21 we have  $\sqrt{\det g_{\alpha}(\varphi_{\alpha}^{-1}(x))} = |\det J_{\alpha,\beta}| \sqrt{\det g_{\beta}(\varphi_{\beta}^{-1}(y))}$ , where  $J_{\alpha,\beta}$  is the Jacobian matrix of  $\varphi_{\beta} \circ \varphi_{\alpha}^{-1}$  at x. This cancels with  $|\det J_{\alpha,\beta}|^{-1}$ , which we get from the change of variables formula for the Lebesgue integral. We can now go the chain of equalities backwards and interchange the roles of  $p_{\alpha}$  and  $q_{\beta}$ .

We are now ready to introduce the notion of Riemannian volume. In this context, this means that we are introducing a special measure on the Borel sigma algebra of M, through the help of the Riemannian metric. This measure is called the *Riemannian volume*.

**Definition 2.24** (The Riemannian volume). Let (M, g) be a smooth Riemannian manifold of dimension m and  $U \subset M$  be a Borel subset. The *Riemannian volume* is the measure vol<sub>g</sub> defined on Borel subsets  $U \subseteq M$  by

$$\operatorname{vol}_g(U) := \int_M \chi_U \operatorname{vol}_g(\mathrm{d}x),$$

where  $\chi_U$  denotes the characteristic function of U, the measurable function equal to 1 on U and to zero everywhere else. If the metric g is clear from the context, we also write  $\operatorname{vol}(U) := \operatorname{vol}_g(U)$ . If we wish to emphasize the dimension of M we write  $\operatorname{vol}_m(U) := \operatorname{vol}(U)$ .

If (M, g) is a Riemannian manifold, and  $X \hookrightarrow M$  is a submanifold we define its volume as the volume of X with respect to the Riemannian metric  $g|_X$ . In other words, we first restrict the Riemannian metric from the ambient space, and then consider the corresponding Riemannian measure. For instance, the volume of a curve is its length, and the volume of a surface is its area.

Computing the volume of a manifold directly using Definition 2.24 is often difficult. In most cases, we can simplify the calculation by using the coarea formula from the next section. See for instance Example 2.31, where we compute the volume of the unit circle.

In many cases we can define the volume of X even when it is not smooth, for instance in the semialgebraic case (see Chapter 3). More precisely, assume that M is an m-dimensional semialgebraic and smooth manifold, endowed with a Riemannian metric g, and  $X \subseteq M$  is a semialgebraic set of dimension  $s \leq m$ . Then, by Theorem 3.14 below, X can be partitioned into finitely many smooth and semialgebraic subsets  $X = \prod_{j=1}^{N} X_j$ . Let  $U \subseteq X$  be a Borel subset; we define its volume (with respect to the volume induced by g on X) by:

$$\operatorname{vol}_{g|_X}(U) = \sum_{\dim(X_j)=s} \operatorname{vol}_{g|_{X_j}}(U \cap X_j).$$

For instance, when X is an algebraic subset of M, this definition coincides with *declaring* the set of singular points of X to be of Riemannian measure zero, and then considering the volume measure induced by  $g|_{smooth(X)}$  on the set of smooth points of X.

## 2.2.2 Measure theoretic considerations

Our definition of the Riemannian measure views it as a linear functional on the set  $\mathscr{C}^0_c(M, \mathbb{R})$  of compactly supported, continuous functions. More precisely, recall that a *(Radon) measure* on a topological space X is a measure  $\mu$  defined on the sigma algebra of Borel subsets of X such that: (1) for every Borel set  $A \subset X$  we have  $\mu(A) = \sup_{K \subset A} \mu(K)$ , where the sup is over all compact sets  $K \subset X$  contained in A (i.e.  $\mu$  is *inner regular*) and (2) for every  $x \in X$  there exists a neighborhood  $U_x$  such that  $\mu(U_x) < \infty$  (i.e.  $\mu$  is *locally finite*).

When X is locally compact and Hausdorff, Radon measures on X can be characterized as continuous positive linear functionals on  $\mathscr{C}_c^0(X, \mathbb{R})$ , as follows. First, for every compact set  $K \subset X$  we denote by  $C_K^0(X, \mathbb{R})$  the set of compactly supported, continuous functions  $f: X \to \mathbb{R}$  with support contained in K. The vector space  $C_K^0(X, \mathbb{R})$  is a topological space with the topology induced by the supremum norm metric. Then we endow  $\mathscr{C}_c^0(X, \mathbb{R})$  with the direct limit topology: a set  $U \subset \mathscr{C}_c^0(X, \mathbb{R})$  is open if and only if  $U \cap C_K^0(X, \mathbb{R})$  is open for every compact set  $K \subset X$ . Let now  $\eta : \mathscr{C}_c^0(X, \mathbb{R}) \to \mathbb{R}$  be a continuous, positive linear functional, i.e.  $\eta(f) \ge 0$  whenever  $f \ge 0$  (note: the positivity of  $\eta$  actually implies its continuity). By Riesz Representation Theorem [27, Theorem 2.14], there exists a unique Radon measure  $\mu$  such that for every  $f \in \mathscr{C}_c^0(X, \mathbb{R})$ :

$$\eta(f) = \int_X f(x)\mu(dx).$$

In this way the set of Radon measures on X can be identified with the set of positive, continuous, linear functionals on  $\mathscr{C}^0_c(X, \mathbb{R})$ .

If M is a smooth, orientable manifold and  $\alpha$  is a nowhere vanishing top form on M (i.e. a volume form), the map

$$f \mapsto \int_M f \alpha, \quad f \in \mathscr{C}^0_c(M, \mathbb{R}).$$

is a positive linear functional. Hence, by the Riesz Representation Theorem, there exists a unique Radon measure on M, denoted by  $|\alpha|$ , such that for  $f \in \mathscr{C}^0_c(M, \mathbb{R})$ :

$$\int_{M} f\alpha = \int_{M} f(x) |\alpha| (dx).$$

The measure  $|\alpha|$  is called the measure associated to  $\alpha$  (notice that in the above formula, the left hand side denotes the integral on M, as a differentiable manifold, of the differential top form  $f\alpha$ , and the right hand side denotes the integral on M, as a measurable space, of the function f with respect to the measure  $|\alpha|$ ). If now (M, g) is an orientable Riemannian manifold, the Riemannian volume form  $\omega_g \in \Omega^m(M)$  is defined as follows. Let  $\{(U_\alpha, \varphi_\alpha)\}_{\alpha \in A}$  be an oriented atlas for Mand  $\{\rho_\alpha\}_{\alpha \in A}$  be a partition of unity subordinated to it. Then:

$$\omega_g := \sum_{\alpha \in A} \rho_\alpha \varphi_\alpha^* \left( |\det g_\alpha(y)|^{\frac{1}{2}} dy_{\alpha,1} \wedge \dots \wedge dy_{\alpha,m} \right).$$

In this case we have

$$|\omega_g| = \operatorname{vol}_g$$

One can also introduce the notion of "sets of measure zero" for smooth manifolds (not necessarily Riemannian), sayiing that  $W \subset M$  has measure zero, if for every chart  $(U, \varphi)$  for M the set  $\varphi(W \cap U) \subset \mathbb{R}^m$  is a set of measure zero. The notion of sets of measure zero only depends on the differentiable structure (see [21, Proposition 6.5]). Note that, if a set U has measure zero in M, then for every Riemannian metric g on M we have  $\operatorname{vol}_g(U) = 0$ .

## 2.2.3 The coarea formula

The coarea formula is a key tool for our purposes. Basically, this formula shows how integrals transform under smooth maps. A well known special case is integration by substitution. The coarea formula generalizes this from integrals defined on the real line to integrals defined on Riemannian manifolds.

Let M, N be Riemannian manifolds and  $F : M \to N$  be a smooth map. Recall that  $x \in M$  is a regular point of F, if  $D_x F$  is surjective. For any  $x \in M$ the Riemannian metric on M defines orthogonality on  $T_xM$ ; i.e.,  $v, w \in T_xM$  are orthogonal, if and only if g(x)(v, w) = 0. For a regular point x of F this implies that the restriction of  $D_x F$  to the orthogonal complement of its kernel is a linear isomorphism. The absolute value of the determinant of that isomorphism, computed with respect to orthonormal bases in  $T_xM$  and  $T_{F(x)}N$ , respectively, is the normal Jacobian of F at x. Let us summarize this in a definition.

**Definition 2.25.** Let  $F: M \to N$  be a smooth map between Riemannian manifolds and  $x \in M$  be a regular point of F. Let  $(\cdot)^{\perp}$  denote the operation of taking orthogonal complement with respect to the corresponding Riemannian metric. The normal Jacobian of F at x is defined as

$$\mathrm{NJ}(F,x) := \left| \det \left( \mathrm{D}_x F |_{(\ker \mathrm{D}_x F)^{\perp}} \right) \right|,$$

where the determinant is computed with respect to orthonormal bases in the source and in  $T_x M$  and  $T_{F(x)} N$  (this definition does not depend on the choice of the bases). If  $x \in M$  is not a regular point of F, we set NJ(F, v) = 0.

We are now equipped with all we need to state the coarea formula.

**Theorem 2.26** (The coarea formula). Suppose that M, N are Riemannian manifolds with dim  $M \ge \dim N$ , and let  $F : M \to N$  be a surjective smooth map. Then we have for any integrable function  $h : M \to \mathbb{R}$  that

$$\int_M h(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{y \in N} \left( \int_{x \in F^{-1}(y)} \frac{h(x)}{\mathrm{NJ}(F, x)} \, \mathrm{d}x \right) \, \mathrm{d}y.$$

Notice that by Sard's lemma the set of point in N, which are not regular values, is a measure zero set, and can therefore be ignored in the integration, so that the normal Jacobian is always positive.

In the case when  $F: M \to N$  is a diffeomorphism,  $F^{-1}(y)$  contains a single element for all  $y \in N$ . Therefore, we get the following simplification of the coarea formula in this case.

**Corollary 2.27** (The change of variables formula for manifolds). Suppose that M, N are Riemannian manifolds, and let  $F : M \to N$  be a diffeomorphism and  $h: M \to \mathbb{R}$  be integrable. Then:  $\int_M \mathrm{NJ}(F, x) h(v) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_N h(F^{-1}(y)) \, \mathrm{d}y$ .

If M and N are complex Hermitian manifolds, and  $F: M \to N$  is a complex differentiable map (i.e., F is complex differentiable for every choice of coordinates using charts), then the normal Jacobian of F can be written in a simpler form. Recall that a given a Hermitian metric h on a complex manifold M, then we can construct a Riemannian metric g on M by taking the real part  $g = \frac{1}{2}(h + \overline{h})$  of h. In this context, the coarea formula for a complex map takes the following form.

**Lemma 2.28.** Let  $F : M \to N$  be a complex differentiable map between complex hermitian manifolds and  $x \in M$ . Then:

$$\mathrm{NJ}(F, x) := \big| \det(\mathrm{D}_x^{\mathbb{C}} F \big|_{(\ker \mathrm{D}_x F)^{\perp}}) \big|^2,$$

where  $D_x^{\mathbb{C}}F$  denotes the differential of F viewed as a complex map and the determinant is with respect to hermitian-orthonormal bases, made of real vectors, for  $(\ker D_x F)^{\perp}$  and  $T_{F(x)}N$  viewed as complex vector spaces.

*Proof.* Choose hermitian-orthonormal bases, made of real vectors, for  $(\ker D_x F)^{\perp}$ and  $T_{F(x)}N$  viewed as a *m*-dimensional complex vector spaces. Denoting these

bases by  $\{e_1, \ldots, e_m\}$  and  $\{f_1, \ldots, f_m\}$  respectively, we can construct the new bases  $\{e_1, \ldots, e_m, \sqrt{-1} \cdot e_1, \ldots, \sqrt{-1} \cdot e_m\}$  and  $\{f_1, \ldots, f_m, \sqrt{-1} \cdot f_1, \ldots, \sqrt{-1} \cdot f_m\}$ , which are orthonormal bases for  $(\ker D_x F)^{\perp}$  and  $T_{F(x)}N$  as real vector spaces with the Riemannian metric  $g = \frac{1}{2}(h + \overline{h})$  induced by the Hermitian metric h. Let the complex Jacobian with respect to these bases be  $J^{\mathbb{C}} = A + iB$ , where  $A, B \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$ are real matrices. Then, the real Jacobian has the shape  $J = \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ -B & A \end{pmatrix}$ . Therefore, applying the formula for the normal Jacobian in the Riemannian case we get:  $NJ(F, x) = |\det \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ -B & A \end{pmatrix}| = |\det(A + iB)|^2$ , which shows the assertion.  $\Box$ 

## 2.2.4 Isometries and Riemannian submersions

An important class of smooth functions between manifolds in the context of integrals are *isometries*.

**Definition 2.29.** Let (M, g) and  $(N, \tilde{g})$  be Riemannian manifolds and let  $F : M \to N$  a smooth map. The map F is an isometry, if it is a diffeomorphism and for all  $x \in M$  and  $v, w \in T_x M$  we have

$$g(x)(v,w) = \tilde{g}(F(x))(D_xF(v), D_xF(w));$$

i.e., at every point  $x \in M$  the derivative  $D_x F$  is an isometry of Euclidean spaces. If there is an isometry  $F: M \to N$ , we say that M is isometric to N.

We have the following consequence of this definition.

**Lemma 2.30.** Let (M, g) and  $(N, \tilde{g})$  be Riemannian manifolds and  $F : M \to N$  be an isometry. Then: vol(M) = vol(N).

Proof. Since F is an isometry, we have NJ(F, x) = 1 for all  $x \in M$ , because  $D_x F$  maps an orthonormal basis of  $T_x M$  to an orthonormal basis of  $T_{F(x)}N$ . Furthermore, we have  $vol(F^{-1}(x)) = 1$  for all  $w \in N$ , because F is invertible. Then the coarea formula from Theorem 2.26 implies that vol(M) = vol(N).

**Example 2.31.** Consider again the unit circle  $S^1$ . We want to compute the volume of  $S^1$  relative to the Riemannian metric that is given by defining the bilinear form on  $T_x S^1 \cong x^{\perp}$  (see Example 2.6) to be the standard Euclidean inner product in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ restricted to  $x^{\perp}$ . For this, we define  $F : (0, 2\pi) \to S^1, t \mapsto (\cos(t), \sin(t))$ , which is smooth. Then, the derivative of F at t is  $D_t F(s) = (-\sin(s), \cos(s))$ . Since  $(-\sin(s))^2 + \cos(s) = 1$ , we see that F is an isometry of  $(0, 2\pi)$  and  $S^1 \setminus \{(1, 0)\}$ . Since  $\{(1, 0)\}$  is of measure zero, we have  $\operatorname{vol}(S^1) = \operatorname{vol}(S^1 \setminus \{(1, 0)\})$  and, since Fis an isometry, this implies  $\operatorname{vol}(S^1) = \operatorname{vol}((0, 2\pi)) = 2\pi$ .
A weaker property than being an isometry is being a Riemannian submersion.

**Definition 2.32.** Let (M, g) and  $(N, \tilde{g})$  be Riemannian manifolds. A smooth map  $F: M \to N$  is called a Riemannian submersion, if for all  $x \in M$  the differential  $D_x F$  is surjective and if we have  $g(x)(v, w) = \tilde{g}(F(x))(D_x F(v), D_x F(w))$  for all  $v, w \in (\ker D_x F)^{\perp}$ ; i.e., at every point  $x \in M$  the derivative  $D_x F$  when restricted to the orthogonal complement of its kernel is an isometry of Euclidean spaces.

Using essentially the same arguments as for the proof of Lemma 2.30 we get the following

**Lemma 2.33.** Let (M, g) and  $(N, \tilde{g})$  be Riemannian manifolds and  $F : M \to N$ an Riemannian submersion. Then,  $\operatorname{vol}(M) = \int \operatorname{vol}(F^{-1}(y)) \, dy$ . In particular, if the volume of the fibers is constant, that is,  $\operatorname{vol}(F^{-1}(y)) = \operatorname{vol}(F^{-1}(y_0))$  for all  $y \in N$  and a fixed  $y_0 \in N$ , then  $\operatorname{vol}(M) = \operatorname{vol}(N) \cdot \operatorname{vol}(F^{-1}(y_0))$ .

#### 2.2.5 Volume of the sphere and projective space

Probably the most important example of a manifold is the *n*-dimensional unit sphere  $S^n \hookrightarrow \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ . For us the sphere will be endowed with the Riemannian metric, which in turn is the restriction of the Euclidean structure on  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ .

In Example 2.31 we computed its volume in the case n = 1 using the parametrization by polar coordinates, which turned out to be an isometry. For  $n \ge 2$  we can again use polar coordinates.

Proposition 2.34. 
$$\operatorname{vol}(S^n) = \frac{2\pi^{\frac{n+1}{2}}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{n+1}{2}\right)}$$

For instance, we have

$$\operatorname{vol}(S^1) = 2\pi, \quad \operatorname{vol}(S^2) = 4\pi, \quad \operatorname{vol}(S^3) = 2\pi^2,$$
 (2.9)

where we have used that  $\Gamma(x+1) = x\Gamma(x)$  and  $\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}) = \sqrt{\pi}$ .

Proof of Proposition 2.34. Consider  $\phi : S^n \times \mathbb{R}_{>0} \to \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \setminus \{0\}, (s, r) \mapsto rs$ . Its derivative is  $D\phi(s, r)(\dot{s}, \dot{r}) = r\dot{s} + \dot{r}s$ . Let  $\dot{s}_1, \ldots, \dot{s}_n$  be a basis of the tangent space  $T_s S^n \cong s^{\perp}$  (see (2.3)). Then, det  $D\phi(s, r) = \det \begin{bmatrix} r\dot{s}_1 & \cdots & r\dot{s}_n & s \end{bmatrix} = r^n$ .

Consider now the integral  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}||x||^2} dx$  (since  $\frac{1}{(\sqrt{2\pi})^{n+1}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}||x||^2}$  is the density of a standard Gaussian random variable in  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ , the value of this integral is  $\sqrt{2\pi}^{n+1}$ , but let us prove it directly). The coarea formula (Theorem 2.26) implies

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}\|x\|^2} \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{S^n \times \mathbb{R}_{>0}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}r^2} \, \det(\mathrm{D}\phi(s,r)) \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}r = \int_{S^n \times \mathbb{R}_{>0}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}r^2} \, r^n \, \mathrm{d}s \, \mathrm{d}r.$$

By Tonelli's theorem, this is equal to

$$\int_{S^n} \mathrm{d}s \, \int_{\mathbb{R}_{>0}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}r^2} \, r^n \, \mathrm{d}r = \operatorname{vol}(S^n) \, \int_{\mathbb{R}_{>0}} e^{-t} \, (2t)^{\frac{n-1}{2}} \, \mathrm{d}t, t = \frac{r^2}{2}$$
$$= \sqrt{2}^{n-1} \operatorname{vol}(S^n) \, \Gamma(\frac{n+1}{2}).$$

Now, for n = 1 we know from Example 2.31 that  $\operatorname{vol}(S^1) = 2\pi$ . Moreover, we have  $\Gamma(1) = 1$ , so that  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e^{-\frac{1}{2}||x||^2} dx = 2\pi$ . Since the exponential map is a group homomorphism from  $(\mathbb{R}, +) \to (\mathbb{R}_{>0}, \cdot)$ , we have  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^k} e^{-\frac{1}{2}||x||^2} dx = (\int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}x^2} dx)^k$ , for every k, which implies that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n+1}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}\|x\|^2} \, \mathrm{d}x = \sqrt{2\pi}^{n+1}$$

We use this in the equation above to obtain the asserted formula.

We will now introduce a Riemannian metric and consequently a Riemannian volume on the real projective space  $\mathbb{RP}^n$ . In order to do this, observe first that the antipodal map  $x \mapsto -x$  is an isometry for the Euclidean structure on the sphere. Therefore, the Riemannian metric  $g_{S^n}$  on  $S^n$  descend to a Riemannian metric  $g_{\mathbb{RP}^n}$ on  $\mathbb{RP}^n$ , meaning that we declare a metric on  $\mathbb{RP}^n$  that makes P a Riemannian submersion. With this metric we have that  $(S^n, g_{S^n})$  and  $(\mathbb{RP}^n, g_{\mathbb{RP}^n})$  are locally isometric. For  $x \in S^n$  we have  $T_x S^n = T_{-x} S^n = x^{\perp}$ , and we can identify

 $T_x \mathbb{R} \mathbb{P}^n \cong x^{\perp}.$ 

The Riemannian metric on  $\mathbb{R}P^n$  is then given by

$$g_{\mathbb{R}P^n}(x)(v,w) := v^T w,$$

where  $x \in \mathbb{R}P^n$  and  $v, w \in x^{\perp}$ .

Let  $P: S^n \to \mathbb{R}P^n$  the projection that identifies antipodal points. Because the volume of the preimage  $P^{-1}(x)$  is 2 for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}P^n$ , Lemma 2.33 implies that the volume of a submanifold  $X \hookrightarrow \mathbb{R}P^n$  is given as  $\operatorname{vol}(X) := \frac{1}{2}\operatorname{vol}(P^{-1}(X))$ . In particular, the volume of the projective space with this metric is half the volume of the sphere:

$$\operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{R}P^n) = \frac{\pi^{\frac{n+1}{2}}}{\Gamma\left(\frac{n+1}{2}\right)}.$$
(2.10)

We make a similar construction for the complex projective space  $\mathbb{CP}^n$ . The main difference being that the projection  $P_{\mathbb{C}}: S^{2n+1} \to \mathbb{CP}^n$  has positive dimensional fibers. Namely,  $P_{\mathbb{C}}^{-1}(x) = \{\xi x_0 \mid |\xi| = 1\}$ , where  $P(x_0) = x$ . The tangent space

at  $x_0 \in S^{2n+1}$  is  $T_{x_0}S^{2n+1} \cong x_0^{\perp} = \{y \in \mathbb{C}^{n+1} \mid \Re(x^T\overline{y}) = 0\}$ . Note that  $\Re(x^T\overline{y}) = 0$  if and only if  $x^T\overline{y} \in i\mathbb{R}$ . Then, we have  $\Re(\xi x^T\overline{y}) = 0$  for all  $\xi$  with  $|\xi| = 1$ , if and only if  $x^T\overline{y} = 0$ . This yields

$$T_x \mathbb{C} \mathbb{P}^n \cong x^{\perp_{\mathbb{C}}} := \{ y \in \mathbb{C}^{n+1} \mid x^T \overline{y} = 0 \}.$$

The Hermitian metric on  $\mathbb{C}P^n$  is given by  $h(x)(v,w) = v^T \overline{w}$ , where  $x \in \mathbb{C}P^n$ and  $v, w \in x^{\perp_{\mathbb{C}}}$ , and, consequently, the Riemannian metric on  $\mathbb{C}P^n$  is

$$g(x)(v,w) = \Re(v^T \overline{w}).$$

Since the preimage  $P_{\mathbb{C}}^{-1}(x)$  is a isometric to a circle, we have  $\operatorname{vol}(P_{\mathbb{C}}^{-1}(x)) = 2\pi$  for all x. Together with Lemma 2.33 this implies that the volume of a submanifold  $X \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}P^n$  is  $\operatorname{vol}(X) := \frac{1}{2\pi} \operatorname{vol}(P_{\mathbb{C}}^{-1}(X))$ . In particular, the volume of the projective space with this metric is:

$$\operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{C}\mathrm{P}^n) = \frac{\pi^n}{n!},\tag{2.11}$$

where we have used that  $\Gamma(n+1) = n!$ .

#### 2.2.6 Volume of the Orthogonal and Unitary group

The orthogonal group O(n) is the group of matrices  $Q \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  such that  $Q^T Q = \mathbf{1}$ . This is a system of  $\frac{n(n+1)}{2}$  polynomials in  $n^2$  many variables. Let  $Q \in O(n)$ . The kernel of the Jacobian matrix J(Q) of this system of polynomial equations is ker  $J(Q) = \{R \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n} \mid Q^T R + R^T Q = 0\}$ , so dim ker  $J(Q) = \frac{n(n-1)}{2}$ . We can therefore apply Corollary 2.9 to deduce that O(n) is a smooth manifold of dimension

$$\dim O(n) = \frac{n(n-1)}{2}.$$

and that the geometric tangent is given by

$$T_Q O(n) = \{ R \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n} \mid Q^T R + R^T Q = 0 \} = Q \cdot T_1 O(n).$$
(2.12)

We consider the orthogonal group as a Riemannian manifold endowed with the metric that is the restriction of the Euclidean structure of  $\mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ :

$$g(Q)(R_1, R_2) = \frac{1}{2} tr(R_1^T R_2).$$
 (2.13)

The next proposition gives the volume of O(n) with respect to this metric structure.

**Proposition 2.35.** 
$$\operatorname{vol}(O(n)) = \prod_{k=0}^{n-1} \operatorname{vol}(S^k).$$

Proof. Consider the smooth surjective map  $F: O(n) \to S^{n-1}$  that maps  $Q \in O(n)$  to its first column  $Qe_1$ , where  $e_1 = (1, 0, ..., 0) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . We compute the normal Jacobian of F. The derivative of F is  $D_QF(R) = Re_1$  for  $R \in T_QO(n)$ . Let  $E_{i,j} \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  be the matrix that has a 1 as the (i, j)-th entry, a -1 in the (j, i)-th entry and zeros elsewhere. Then,  $\{QE_{i,j} \mid 1 \leq i < j \leq n\}$  is an orthonormal basis for  $T_QO(n)$ . The inner product between  $D_QF(QE_{i,j})$  and  $D_QF(QE_{k,\ell})$  is then

$$(QE_{i,j}e_1)^T (QE_{k,\ell}e_1) = (E_{i,j}e_1)^T E_{k,\ell}e_1 = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } k = i = 1 \text{ and } j = \ell \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Hence,  $D_Q F$  maps an orthonormal basis of  $(\ker D_Q F)^{\perp}$  to an orthonormal basis of  $(Qe_1)^{\perp}$ , which shows that NJ(F,Q) = 1; i.e., F is a Riemannian submersion. Moreover,  $F^{-1}(Qe_1) = QF^{-1}(e_1) = \{Q[\begin{smallmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & R \end{bmatrix} \mid R \in O(n-1)\}$ , so that  $vol(F^{-1}(q)) = vol(O(n-1))$  for all  $q \in S^{n-1}$ . We can now use Lemma 2.33 to deduce that

$$\operatorname{vol}(O(n)) = \operatorname{vol}(S^{n-1})\operatorname{vol}(O(n-1)).$$

Induction on n proves the assertion.

The unitary group consists of matrices  $Q \in \mathbb{C}^{n \times n}$  such that  $Q\overline{Q}^T = \mathbf{1}$ ; the Riemannian metric on U(n) is obtained by restricting to it the metric on  $\mathbb{C}^{n \times n}$ given by the Euclidean structure  $g(Q)(A_1, A_2) = \mathfrak{Re}(\frac{1}{2}\mathrm{tr}(A_1^T\overline{A}_2))$ . Arguing as for the orthogonal group, we can show that the complex dimension of U(n) is

$$\dim_{\mathbb{C}} U(n) = \frac{n(n-1)}{2},$$

and that its volume is

$$\operatorname{vol}(U(n)) = \prod_{k=0}^{n-1} \operatorname{vol}(S^{2k+1}).$$
 (2.14)

(We will come back to these formulas when we discuss volumes of Riemannian homogenous spaces.)

In this section we introduce *semialgebraic sets*. They describe a large class of sets and are rigid enough to allow being able to practically work with them.

## 3.1 Semialgebraic sets and functions

We start with the definition of semialgebraic sets and functions.

**Definition 3.1** (Semialgebraic sets). A basic semialgebraic set is a subset  $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  defined by a system of algebraic equations and inequalities:

$$S = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid p_1(x) = 0, \dots, p_a(x) = 0, q_1(x) > 0, \dots, q_b(x) > 0\},\$$

where  $p_1, \ldots, p_a, q_1, \ldots, q_b \in \mathbb{R}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$  are real polynomials. A *semialgebraic* set is a finite union of basic semialgebraic sets.

**Definition 3.2** (Semialgebraic functions). Let A and B be semialgebraic sets. A function  $f : A \to B$  is called *semialgebraic* if its graph  $\operatorname{Graph}(f) \subset A \times B$  is semialgebraic.

Next comes a list of examples and simple properties.

- (1) Finite unions, intersections, complements and cartesian products of semialgebraic sets are semialgebraic.
- (2) The composition, the sum and the product of semialgebraic functions is a semialgebraic function.
- (3) If  $S \subset \mathbb{R}$ , then S is a finite union of points and open intervals. Similarly, if  $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $L \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  is an affine line, then  $L \cap S$  is a finite union of points and open intervals.
- (4) If  $F : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^m$  is semialgebraic and  $S \in \mathbb{R}^m$  is semialgebraic, then  $F^{-1}(S)$  is semialgebraic.
- (5) Identifying  $\mathbb{C}^n \simeq \mathbb{R}^{2n}$  via  $(x_1 + iy_1, \ldots, x_n + iy_n) \mapsto (x_1, y_1, \ldots, x_n, y_n)$ , we see that the complex zero set of complex polynomials is semialgebraic as a subset of  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}$ .

It will be practical for us to be able to define also semialgebraic subsets of projective spaces (and Grassmannians). This is done as follows. First, for every  $0 \le k \le n$  consider

$$\Gamma_{k,n} := \{ A \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n} \, | \, A^T = A, \, A^2 = A, \, \operatorname{tr}(A) = k \}.$$

This is the algebraic set of matrices which are orthogonal projections onto vector subspaces of dimension k. It follows from Corollary 2.9 that  $\Gamma_{k,n}$  is also a smooth submanifold of  $\mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ . Let now G(k, n) denote the Grassmannian of real vector subspaces of dimension k in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . We define the map

$$\psi_{k,n}: G(k,n) \to \Gamma_{k,n}$$

by sending each space  $W \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  to the matrix representing the orthogonal projection onto it.

**Definition 3.3.** We will say that  $S \subset G(k, n)$  is semialgebraic if  $S = \psi_{k,n}^{-1}(R)$  for some  $R \in \mathcal{S}_{n \times n}$ .

With this definition, the projective zero set  $Z_{\mathbb{RP}^n}(p) := \{ [x] \in \mathbb{RP}^n | p(x) = 0 \}$ of a homogeneous polynomial  $p \in \mathbb{R}[x_0, \ldots, x_n]_{(d)}$  is semialgebraic. For instance, writing a matrix as  $A = (a_{ij})$ , we see that for every  $i = 1, \ldots, n$  the hyperplane  $Z_{\mathbb{RP}^n}(x_i)$  is semialgebraic, since  $\{x_i = 0\} = \psi_{1,n}^{-1}(\{a_{ii} = 0\})$ . Semialgebraic subsets of  $\mathbb{RP}^1$  are finite union of points and intervals.

An important result in the context of semialgebraic sets is that this class is closed under projections, as stated in the next theorem.

**Theorem 3.4** (Tarski–Seidenberg). Let  $\pi : \mathbb{R}^{n+k} \to \mathbb{R}^n$  be the projection on the last *n* coordinates. If  $S \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+k}$  is semialgebraic, then  $\pi(S)$  is semialgebraic.

For a proof see, e.g., [3, Section 2.2].

Here is a small example illustrating the Tarski-Seidenberg theorem.

**Example 3.5.** Consider the algebraic set  $S = \{y_1x^2 + y_2x + y_3 = 0\} \subset \mathbb{R}^4$  and let  $\pi : \mathbb{R}^4 \to \mathbb{R}^3$  be the projection on the *y*-coordinates. Then  $y \in \pi(S)$ , if and only if

$$((y_1 \neq 0) \land (y_1^2 - 4y_2y_3 \ge 0)) \lor ((y_1 = 0) \land (y_2 \neq 0)) \lor (y_1 = y_2 = y_3 = 0).$$
(3.1)

In other words,  $y_1x^2 + y_2x + y_3 = 0$  has a solution x over the real numbers, if and only if y satisfies (3.1).

We conclude this section with some corollaries of Theorem 3.4. The standard proof of this theorem is based on the *Tarski–Seidenberg algorithm*. This is an

algorithm that can be used to compute formulas like in Example 3.5. Consider a semialgebraic set  $S \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+k}$  defined by inequalities in  $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+k}$  with  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $y \in \mathbb{R}^k$ , and let  $\pi : S \to \mathbb{R}^k$  be the projection onto the y-coordinate. The algorithm produces finitely many systems of inequalities in y, such that at least one of these systems has a solution, if and only if there is a point  $(x, y) \in \pi^{-1}(y)$ . In this sense, the Tarski–Seidenberg algorithm gives a constructive proof for the Tarski–Seidenberg theorem.

As a direct corollary of Theorem 3.4, we get the following.

**Corollary 3.6.** Let  $f : A \to B$  be a semialgebraic function and  $S \subseteq A$  be a semialgebraic set. Then f(A) is semialgebraic.

*Proof.* Let  $A \subseteq \mathbb{R}^k$  and  $B \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ . Denote by  $\Gamma \subset A \times B$  the graph of f and by  $\pi : \mathbb{R}^{n+k} \to \mathbb{R}^n$  the projection on the last coordinates. Then  $\Gamma \cap (S \times B) \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+k}$  is semialgebraic and  $f(S) = \pi(\Gamma \cap (S \times B))$  is semialgebraic by Theorem 3.4.  $\Box$ 

To appreciate more the power of Theorem 3.4, we introduce the following notion.

**Definition 3.7** (First order formulas). The set of first order formulas is inductively defined by the following rules:

- (1) For every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and for every  $p \in \mathbb{R}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$ , both  $(p(x_1, \ldots, x_n) = 0)$  and  $(p(x_1, \ldots, x_n) > 0)$  are first order formulas.
- (2) If  $\Phi$  and  $\Psi$  are first order formulas, then  $\Phi \land \Psi$ ,  $\Phi \lor \Psi$  and  $\neg \Psi$  are first order formulas.
- (3) If  $\Phi$  is a first order formula and  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ , then both  $(\exists x \Phi)$  and  $(\forall x \Phi)$  are first order formulas.

First order formulas obtained only using the rules (1) and (2) above are called quantfier free formulas. Notice that,  $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  is a semialgebraic set if and only if the following is true: there is a quantifier free formula  $\Phi$  such that  $y \in S$  if and only if  $\Phi(y)$ . In this case we will say that " $\Phi$  defines S", or "S is defined by  $\Phi$ ". With this notation, since the formula  $\forall x \Phi$  is equivalent to  $\neg \exists x \neg \Phi$ , Theorem 3.4 can be rephrased as follows.

**Theorem 3.8.** Every set defined by a first order formula is a semialgebraic set.

This is particularly practical, as shown by the next proposition. We denote by clos(S) and int(S) the Euclidean closure and interior, respectively.

**Proposition 3.9.** Let  $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  be semialgebraic set. Then,  $\operatorname{clos}(S)$  and  $\operatorname{int}(S)$  are also semialgebraic.

*Proof.* Let  $\Phi$  be a first order formula defining S and define the first order formula  $\Psi(x) := (\forall \epsilon > 0 \exists y \in \mathbb{R}^n \Phi(y) \land (||x - y||^2 < \epsilon))$ . Then  $\operatorname{clos}(S)$  is defined by  $\Psi$ , so that Theorem 3.8 implies it is semialgebraic. A similar argument proves that the interior is semialgebraic.

**Example 3.10.** Let  $A \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  be a semialgebraic set. We denote by  $\operatorname{dist}_A : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  the Euclidean distance function from A, i.e.  $\operatorname{dist}_A(x) = \inf_{y \in A} ||x-y||$ . The distance function from A is a continuous, nonnegative semialgebraic function, vanishing exactly on  $\operatorname{clos}(A)$ .

In the world of complex algebraic geometry, the quantifier elimination theorem is called *Chevalley's Theorem*. In order to state this result, we need a preliminary definition. A *basic constructible set* is a set  $C \subseteq \mathbb{C}^n$  of the form

$$C = \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^n \mid p_1(z) = \dots = p_a(z) = 0, q_1(z) \neq 0, \dots, q_b(z) \neq 0 \},\$$

where  $p_1, \ldots, p_a, q_1, \ldots, q_b \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, \ldots, z_n]$ . A constructible set is a finite union of basic constructible sets.

**Theorem 3.11** (Chevalley). Let  $C \subseteq \mathbb{C}^{n+k}$  be constructible and  $\pi : \mathbb{C}^{n+k} \to \mathbb{C}^n$  be the projection on the last coordinates. Then  $\pi(C)$  is constructible.

*Proof.* See, e.g., [23, Theorem 4.19].

# 3.2 Decomposition of semialgebraic sets and their stratification

In this section we discuss the decomposition of semialgebraic sets into simple objects. We start with the following definition.

**Definition 3.12** (Nash submanifold). A semialgebraic set  $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  is called a *Nash* submanifold, if for every point  $x \in S$  there is an open semialgebraic neighborhood  $U_x$  of x in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and a smooth semialgebraic diffeomorphism  $\varphi : U_x \to \mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $S \cap U_x = \varphi^{-1}(\{0\} \times \mathbb{R}^k)$ . The dimension of S is k. A *Nash map* between Nash submanifolds is a smooth semialgebraic map.

We will prove in Theorem 3.14 that every semialgebraic set can be decomposed into a disjoint union of Nash manifolds, each diffeomorphic to  $(0,1)^k$  for some k, called *cell*. Before proving the theorem, we will need an auxiliary lemma and some notation.

Given  $p_1, \ldots, p_s \in \mathbb{R}[t]$ , we denote by  $t_1 < \cdots < t_r$  the set of all the possible roots of those polynomial from the previous list which are nonzero. We also set  $t_0 := -\infty$  and  $t_{r+1} := +\infty$ . We denote by  $I_k := (t_k, t_{k+1})$  and observe that the sign of each polynomial  $p_1, \ldots, p_s$  is constant on each of these intervals. We denote by  $\sigma(p_1, \ldots, p_2) \in \{-1, 0, 1\}^{s \times (2r+1)}$  the following matrix:

$$\sigma(p_1,\ldots,p_2) := \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{sign}(p_1|_{I_0}) & \operatorname{sign}(p_1(t_1)) & \cdots & \operatorname{sign}(p_1(t_r)) & \operatorname{sign}(p_1|_{I_r}) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \operatorname{sign}(p_s|_{I_0}) & \operatorname{sign}(p_s(t_1)) & \cdots & \operatorname{sign}(p_s(t_r)) & \operatorname{sign}(p_s|_{I_r}) \end{pmatrix}$$

Letting  $d := \max\{\deg(p_i)\}$ , we denote by  $\Omega_{s,d}$  the set of all  $s \times (2rs + 1)$  matrices with entries in  $\{-1, 0, 1\}$ , for  $r = 0, \ldots, d$ .

**Lemma 3.13.** Given polynomials  $p_1, \ldots, p_s \in \mathbb{R}[x, t]$ , where  $(x, t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ , there exists a finite partition

$$\mathbb{R}^n = \bigsqcup_{i=1}^a A_i$$

with the property that for every i = 1, ..., a the set  $A_i$  is semialgebraic and there exists  $r_i > 0$  and semialgebraic continuous functions:

$$\xi_{i,j}: A_i \to \mathbb{R}, \ 1 \le j \le r_i,$$

such that  $\xi_{i,1} < \cdots < \xi_{i,r_i}$  and for every  $x \in A_i$  the set  $\{\xi_{i,1}(x), \ldots, \xi_{i,r_i}(x)\}$  consists of all the roots of the nonzero polynomials  $\{p_1(x, \cdot), \ldots, p_s(x, \cdot)\} \subset \mathbb{R}[t]$ .

*Proof.* We assume that the set  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_s\}$  is closed under taking derivatives with respect to the t variable (if we construct the functions  $\{\xi_{i,j}\}$  for a larger set of polynomials, the desired family of functions will be a subset of them).

Denote by  $d = \max_i(\deg(p_i))$ . Using the above notation, for every  $\sigma \in \Omega_{s,d}$ , denote by  $A_{\sigma} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  the semialgebraic set:

$$A_{\sigma} := \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n \, | \, \sigma(p_1(x, \cdot), \dots, p_s(x, \cdot)) = \sigma \}.$$

(This set is semialgebraic by Theorem 3.8.) Observe that we can write:

$$\mathbb{R}^n = \bigsqcup_{\sigma \in \Omega_{s,d}} A_\sigma = \bigsqcup_{i=1}^a A_i,$$

where for each  $A_i$  equals one of the nonempty  $A_{\sigma}$ .

For every i = 1, ..., a, by construction, there exists  $r_i > 0$  such that for every  $x \in A_i$  the nonzero polynomials among the  $p_1(x, \cdot), ..., p_s(x, \cdot)$  all together have  $r_i$ 

real roots. We denote these roots by

$$\xi_{i,1}(x) < \cdots < \xi_{i,r_i}(x).$$

This defines the desired functions. We prove now that they are semialgebraic. The graph of  $\xi_{i,j}$  is given by

$$Graph(\xi_{i,j}) = \left\{ (x,t) \in A_i \times \mathbb{R} \mid \exists (t_1, \dots, t_{r_i}) \in \mathbb{R}^{r_i}, t_1 < \dots < t_{r_i}, t = t_j, \\ \prod_{p_k \neq 0} p_k(x,t_1) = \dots = \prod_{p_k \neq 0} p_k(x,t_{r_i}) = 0 \right\}.$$

Therefore by Theorem 3.8, each  $\xi_{i,j}$  is semialgebraic.

We prove now that these functions are continuous. Pick  $x \in A_i$ . Since  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_s\}$  is closed under differentiation with respect to the t variable, for every  $j = 1, \ldots, r_i$ , the number  $t_j = \xi_{i,j}(x)$  is a simple root for at least one  $p_{i_j}(x, \cdot)$ . In particular

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}p_{i_j}(x,t_j) \neq 0,$$

and by the Implicit Function Theorem there exists a neighborhood  $W_{x,j} = U_{x,j} \times I_j$ of  $(x, t_j)$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$  and a smooth function  $\gamma_{i,j} : U_{x,j} \to I_j$  such that

$$\{(x,t) \mid p_{i_j}(x,t) = 0\} \cap W_{x,j} = \operatorname{Graph}(\gamma_{i,j}).$$

We can repeat this argument for every  $j = 1, \ldots, r_i$  and, setting  $U_x := \bigcap_j U_{x,j}$ , we get the existence of functions  $\gamma_{i,1}, \ldots, \gamma_{i,r_i} : U_x \to \mathbb{R}$  such that  $\gamma_{i,j}(x) = \xi_{i,j}(x)$ . Moreover, by possibly shrinking  $U_x$ , since the  $\gamma_{i,j}$  are smooth, we see that

$$\gamma_{i,1} < \cdots < \gamma_{i,r_i}.$$

Consequently,  $\gamma_{i,j}|_{S_i} = \xi_{i,j}$ , which proves the continuity.

We are now ready to state and prove the main theorem of this section.

**Theorem 3.14.** Let  $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  be a semialgebraic set. Then there exists a finite partition

$$S = \bigsqcup_{i=1}^{\ell} S_i,$$

such that each  $S_i$  is a Nash submanifold of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  that is Nash diffeomorphic to a cell.

*Proof.* The proof is by induction on n. The case n = 1 is trivially true, since semialgebraic sets in  $\mathbb{R}$  are just finite union of points and intervals.

For the inductive step, let  $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  be a semialgebraic set defined by a formula which involves the polynomials  $p_1, \ldots, p_s \in \mathbb{R}[x, t]$  (here  $(x, t) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ ). Using Lemma 3.13, we get a partition

$$\mathbb{R}^n = \bigsqcup_{i=1}^a A_i.$$

Using the inductive step, we can partition each  $A_i$  into finitely many semialgebraic sets, each Nash diffeomorphic to a cell. That is, for every  $i = 1, \ldots, a$  we have  $A_i = \bigsqcup_{k=1}^{k_i} B_{i,k}$ , where  $B_{i,k} \simeq (0,1)^{\dim(B_{i,k})}$ . After relabeling, we can write:

$$\mathbb{R}^n = \bigsqcup_{k=1}^b B_k,$$

where  $B_k \simeq (0,1)^{\dim(B_k)}$ . Moreover, again by Lemma 3.13, restricting the functions  $\{\xi_{i,j} : A_i \to \mathbb{R}\}$  to each each  $B_{i,k}$  and relabeling, for every  $k = 1, \ldots, b$ , there are continuous semialgebraic functions  $\{\xi_{k,j} : B_k \to \mathbb{R}\}_{j=1}^{r_k}$  such that for every  $k = 1, \ldots, b$  and every  $x \in B_k$  the set  $\{\xi_{k,1}(x), \ldots, \xi_{k,r_k}(x)\}$  consists of the set of all zeroes of the nonzero polynomials in  $\{p_1(x, \cdot), \ldots, p_s(x, \cdot)\} \in \mathbb{R}[t]$ and  $\sigma(p_1(x, \cdot), \ldots, p_s(x, \cdot))$  is constant on  $B_k$ . Notice also that, from the proof of Lemma 3.13 it follows that the  $\xi_{k,j}$  are restrictions to  $B_k$  (which now is a smooth manifold) of smooth functions, and therefore they are themselves smooth.

For every  $k = 1, \ldots, b$  and every  $j = 1, \ldots, r_k$  we denote by

$$G_{j,k} := \operatorname{Graph}(\xi_{j,k}).$$

Each  $G_{k,j}$ , being a graph of a smooth semialgebraic function, is Nash diffeomorphic to its domain  $B_k \simeq (0, 1)^{\dim(B_k)}$ .

Moreover, for every k = 1, ..., b we define  $\xi_{k,0} := -\infty$  and  $\xi_{k,r_k+1} := +\infty$  and for every  $j = 0, ..., r_k$  we denote

$$T_{k,j} := \{ (x,t) \mid x \in B_k, \, \xi_{k,j}(x) < t < \xi_{k,j+1}(x) \}.$$

Each  $T_{k,j}$  is Nash diffeomorphic to  $B_k \times (0,1) \simeq (0,1)^{\dim(B_k)+1}$ .

With this notation, we get a partition of  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  into semialgebraic sets:

$$\mathbb{R}^{n+1} = \left(\bigsqcup_{k=1}^{b}\bigsqcup_{j=1}^{r_k} G_{k,j}\right) \sqcup \left(\bigsqcup_{k=1}^{b}\bigsqcup_{j=0}^{r_k} T_{k,j}\right).$$

Since S is the union of some of these sets, this concludes the proof.

As a corollary we get the following interesting result.

**Corollary 3.15.** Let  $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  be semialgebraic. Then S has finitely many connected components, each of which is semialgebraic.

*Proof.* Decompose  $S = \sqcup S_i$ , as in Theorem 3.14. On the set of cells  $\{S_1, \ldots, S_\ell\}$  we impose the equivalence relation generated by

$$S_i \sim S_j \iff S_i \cap \operatorname{clos}(S_j) \neq \emptyset.$$

Denote by  $\{C_1, \ldots, C_b\}$  the set where each  $C_i$  is the union of cells in the same equivalence class. Then  $S = \bigsqcup_i C_i$ , with each  $C_i$  which is semialgebraic and closed in S. Since cells are connected, these are the components of S.

*Exercise* 3.1. Inspect the proof of Theorem 3.14 and deduce a quantitative bound on the number of connected components of a semialgebraic set  $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  defined by a family of s polynomials of degree bounded by d.

*Exercise* 3.2. Is there a direct way to prove that semialgebraic sets have finitely many connected components, just using Definition 3.1 (and maybe Theorem 3.4)?

The decomposition of a semialgebraic set as in Theorem 3.14 can be made stronger, by requiring that cells "meet" in a nice way. To make this rigorous we introduce the following definition.

**Definition 3.16** (Nash stratification). A Nash stratification of a semialgebraic set  $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  is a decomposition

$$S = \bigsqcup_{i=1}^{\ell} S_i$$

into finitely many connected Nash submanifolds (called *strata*) such that

$$S_i \cap \operatorname{clos}(S_j) \neq \emptyset \implies S_i \subset \operatorname{clos}(S_j).$$

for every  $1 \leq i, j \leq \ell$  with  $i \neq j$ .

The following result is a refinement of Theorem 3.14.

**Theorem 3.17.** Let  $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  be a semialgebraic set and  $\{F_j\}_{j=1}^a$  be a family of semialgebraic subsets of S. There exists a Nash stratification of S such that each  $F_j$  is a union of strata.

*Proof.* See [3, Proposition 9.18].

We can use Theorem 3.14 to give the following definition.

**Definition 3.18.** Let  $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  be a semialgebraic set and

$$S = \bigsqcup_{i=1}^{\ell} S_i$$

be a decomposition as in Definition 3.12. The *dimension* of S is

$$\dim(S) := \max_{1 \le i \le \ell} \dim(S_i),$$

where  $\dim(S_i)$  is as in Definition 3.12. Alternatively, using Theorem 3.17, it is the maximum of the dimensions of its strata.

We list now a sequence of simple properties and facts related to notion of dimension.

- (1) If  $S = \bigcup_{i=1}^{d} A_i$ , with each  $A_i$  semialgebraic, then  $\dim(S) = \max_i \dim(A_i)$ .
- (2) For A, B semialgebraic,  $\dim(A \times B) = \dim(A) + \dim(B)$  (with the convention that the dimension of the emptyset is  $\dim(\emptyset) := -\infty$ ).
- (3) If  $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $\dim(S) \leq n-1$ , then S is contained in an algebraic hypersurface.

Let us conclude this section with a comment on Sard's Lemma in the semialgebraic world. Recall that, given a smooth map  $f: M \to N$  between smooth manifolds, a point  $x \in M$  is a critical point for f if the differential  $D_x f: T_x M \to T_{f(x)} N$ is not surjective. Denoting by  $\operatorname{crit}(f) \subseteq M$  the set of critical points of f, the set of its critical values is defined to be  $f(\operatorname{crit}(f))$ . Sard's Lemma [24] states now that  $f(\operatorname{crit}(f))$  has measure zero in N. If we strenghten the hypothesis on f, namely we assume it to be semialgebraic, the conclusions are also stronger.

**Theorem 3.19** (Semialgebraic Sard's Lemma). Let  $f : M \to N$  be a Nash map between Nash manifolds. The set of critical values of f is a semialgebraic susbet of N of codimension at least one.

*Proof.* The set of critical points of f is semialgebraic in M and, consequently, the set of critical values is semialgebraic in N by Corollary 3.6. Sard's Lemma states now that  $f(\operatorname{crit}(f))$  has measure zero in N and, using the fact that it is semialgebraic, it follows that  $\dim(f(\operatorname{crit}(f))) < \dim(N)$ , because otherwise it would not have measure zero.

*Exercise* 3.3. Prove the following semialgebraic version of the constant rank theorem. Let  $f: A \to B$  be a Nash map between open semialgebraic sets  $A \subseteq \mathbb{R}^m$ and  $B \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$ . Assume that for every  $x \in A$  the rank of  $D_x f: T_x S_1 \to T_{f(x)} S_2$ 

is r. Prove that for every  $a \in A$  there exist semialgebraic neighborhood U of a and V of f(a) with  $f(U) \subset V$  and Nash diffeomorphisms  $\varphi : U \to (0,1)^m$  and  $\psi : V \to (0,1)^n$  such that  $\psi \circ f \circ \varphi^{-1}$  is the projection on the first r coordinates composed with the inclusion (i.e.;  $\psi \circ f \circ \varphi^{-1}(x_1, \ldots, x_m) = (x_1, \ldots, x_r, 0, \ldots, 0)$ for every  $x \in (0,1)^m$ ).

*Exercise* 3.4. Try to give a proof of the Theorem 3.19, only using the results we have presented so far (including the semialgebraic constant rank theorem from exercise 3.3), but without using the classical Sard's Lemma.

### 3.3 Cohomology of semialgebraic sets

The main goal of this section is to prove that semilalgebraic sets have finite cohomology. More precisely, for a semialgebraic set S (or, more general, a topological space) and  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , let  $\mathbb{Z}_2 = \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$  be the field with two elements, and denote by

$$b_k(S) := \dim(H^k(S; \mathbb{Z}_2))$$

the k-th Betti number for  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -coefficients and the total Betti number by

$$b(S) := \sum_{k \ge 0} b_k(S).$$

We have the following.

**Theorem 3.20.** Let S be a semialgebraic set. Then  $b(S) < \infty$ .

We prove this theorem towards the end of the section. The proof relies on the fact that semialgebraic sets can be triangulated; see Theorem 3.23. A technical result that we will need for Theorem 3.20 is Lemma 3.25.

There is a precise reason for choosing the coefficients of the cohomology to be  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ . This allows to compare the sum of the Betti numbers of the real part of an algebraic set with those of its complex part. More precisely, let  $\tau : X \to X$  be an involution of a triangulable topological space X and denote by  $\operatorname{fix}(\tau) \subset X$  the set of its fixed points. The basic example we have in mind is the case  $X = \mathbb{C}Z \subset \mathbb{C}P^n$ is an algebraic set defined by real equations and  $\tau : \mathbb{C}Z \to \mathbb{C}Z$  is the complex conjugation, so that  $\operatorname{fix}(\tau) = \mathbb{R}Z$ , the real part of  $\mathbb{C}Z$ . Smith's theory on involution implies that  $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \dim(H^k(\operatorname{fix}(\tau), \mathbb{Z}_2)) \leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \dim(H^k(X, \mathbb{Z}_2))$ . This is not true if we work with different coefficients.

We recall the notion of simplicial complex.

**Definition 3.21** (Finite simplicial complex in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ). A *k*-simplex  $\sigma = [a_0, \ldots, a_k]$ in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is the convex hull of k + 1 affinely independent points  $\{a_0, \ldots, a_k\} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ :

 $\sigma = \{\lambda_0 a_0 + \dots + \lambda_k a_k \mid \lambda_0 + \dots + \lambda_k = 1, \lambda_0 \ge 0, \dots, \lambda_k \ge 0\}.$ 

The  $\ell$ -simplex  $[a_{i_0}, \ldots, a_{i_\ell}], \ell \leq k$ , is said to be an  $\ell$ -face of  $[a_0, \ldots, a_k]$ .

A finite simplicial complex in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is a finite collection  $K = \{\sigma_j\}_{j \in J}$  of simplices in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  such that (1) for every  $j \in J$  all the faces of  $\sigma_j$  belong to K and (2) if  $\sigma_i, \sigma_j \in K$ , then, either  $\sigma_i \cap \sigma_j = \emptyset$  or  $\sigma_i \cap \sigma_j$  is a face of both  $\sigma_i$  and  $\sigma_j$ . A subcomplex L of K is a subset  $L \subseteq K$  which is itself a simplicial complex.

If  $K = {\sigma_j}_{j \in J}$  is a finite simplicial complex in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , we denote

$$|K| := \bigcup_{j \in J} \sigma_j \subset \mathbb{R}^n.$$

While K provides a combinatorial description the complex, |K| is a topological object with the following structure.

**Lemma 3.22.** Let K be a simplicial complex in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Then, |K| is a semialgebraic subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

*Proof.* This follows from the fact that simplices are semialgebraic.  $\Box$ 

The following theorem shows that compact algebraic suspets of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  can be triangulated using simplicial complexes.

**Theorem 3.23** (Triangulation of compact semialgebraic sets). Let  $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a compact semialgebraic set and  $\{S_1, \ldots, S_a\}$  be a finite family of semialgebraic subsets of S. There exist  $\ell \geq 0$ , a finite simplicial complex  $K = \{\sigma_j\}_{j \in J}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  and a semialgebraic homeomorphism

 $\varphi:|K|\to S$ 

such that for every i = 1, ..., a there exists  $J_i \subseteq J$  such that

$$S_i = \bigcup_{j \in J_i} \varphi(\operatorname{int}(\sigma_j)).$$

*Proof.* See [3, Theorem 9.2.1].

In the context of the previous theorem we also say that each  $S_i$  is a *union of* open simplices.

Remark 3.24. If  $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  is not compact, we can still triangulate it as follows. We first embed  $\mathbb{R}^n \hookrightarrow S^n$  and view S as a semialgebraic subset of  $S^n$ . Then  $\operatorname{clos}(S)$  is compact and, using Theorem 3.23, we can triangulate it in such a way that S is a union of open simplices.

Unions of open simplices are slightly more complicated than just subcomplexes. However, the following observation allows to study them, up to homotopy, as if they were subcomplexes.

**Lemma 3.25.** Let K be a finite simplicial complex and  $S \subset |K|$  be a union of open simplices. Let also K' denote the first barycentric subdivision of K. There exists a subcomplex  $L \subset K'$  such that |L| is homotopy equivalent to S.

*Proof.* Denote by  $\{v_0, \ldots, v_r\}$  the vertices (i.e. 0-simplices) of K'. We define a function  $g: |K'| \to [0, 1]$  as follows. First, we set for every  $j = 0, \ldots, r$ ,

$$g(v_j) := \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } v_j \in S \\ 1 & \text{if } v_j \notin S \end{cases}$$

Then we extend g to all |K'| by linearity: whenever  $[v_j]_{j\in J}$  is a face of K', we set

$$g\Big(\sum_{j\in J}\lambda_j v_j\Big) := \sum_{j\in J}\lambda_j g(v_j).$$

Recall from Lemma 3.22 that that |K'| is semialgebraic. Denote by M the simplicial complex given by the union of all the cells in  $g^{-1}(1) \subset |K'|$  and by L complex given as the union of all the cells in  $g^{-1}(0) \subset |K'|$ . Notice that both L and M are subcomplexes. They are closed, since g is continuous. Moreover if a set of vertices  $\{v_{j_0}, \ldots, v_{j_k}\} \subset \{v_0, \ldots, v_r\}$  is entirely contained in L (respectively M), then the simplex  $[v_{j_0}, \ldots, v_{j_k}] \in L$  (respectively  $[v_{j_0}, \ldots, v_{j_k}] \in M$ ). Observe that:

$$|L| \subseteq S \subseteq |K| \setminus |M|$$

by the definition of g. We will define now a deformation retraction of S onto |L|.

For every simplex  $\sigma = [a_0, \ldots, a_k] \in K'$ , up to relabeling, assume that the first  $\ell$  vertices are  $a_0, \ldots, a_\ell \in L$  and the rest is  $a_{\ell+1}, \ldots, a_k \in M$ . For  $y = \sum_{i=0}^k \lambda_i a_i \in \sigma$ , we define the continuous function

$$\alpha(y) := \sum_{i=0}^{\ell} \lambda_i \tag{3.2}$$

Let us denote  $\tau := \sigma \setminus |M|$ . We have  $\alpha(y) > 0$  for  $y \in \tau$ . This implies that the restriction  $\alpha|_{\tau} : \tau \to (0,\infty)$  gives a continuous function  $\sigma \setminus (\sigma \cap |M|) \to (0,\infty)$ .

We then get a continuous map  $\varphi_{\sigma} : \tau \times [0,1] \to \tau$  defined by

$$\varphi_{\sigma}(y,t) = \frac{(1-t)\alpha(y) + t}{\alpha(y)} \sum_{i=0}^{\ell} \lambda_i a_i + (1-t) \sum_{i=\ell+1}^{k} \lambda_i a_i$$

for  $y = \sum_{i=0}^{k} \lambda_i a_i$ . To see that  $\varphi_{\sigma}(y, t) \in \tau$  we check that

$$\frac{(1-t)\alpha(y)+t}{\alpha(y)}\sum_{i=0}^{\ell}\lambda_i + (1-t)\sum_{i=\ell+1}^{k}\lambda_i = (1-t)\alpha(y) + t + (1-t)\sum_{i=\ell+1}^{k}\lambda_i = 1.$$

Notice that for every  $t \in [0,1]$  and  $y \in \sigma \cap S$  we have  $\varphi_{\sigma}(y,t) \in \sigma \cap S$ , because  $\varphi_{\sigma}(y,t)$  does not increase the coefficients  $\lambda_i$  for  $i \geq \ell + 1$  (which belong to K). This can also be verified from Figure 3.1.

Now, given a face  $\sigma'$  of  $\sigma$ , we have that

$$\varphi_{\sigma'} = \varphi_{\sigma}|_{\sigma' \times [0,1]}.$$

Therefore, we can glue together the functions  $\varphi_{\tau}$  and find a continuous function

$$\varphi: S \times [0,1] \to S$$

We have that  $\varphi(y,t) = y$  for every  $y \in |L|$  and  $t \in [0,1]$ . Furthermore, for every  $t \in [0,1]$  and  $y \in S$  we have  $\varphi(y,t) \in S$  and  $\varphi(y,1) \in |L|$ . Therefore,  $\varphi$  defines a retraction from S to |L|.

We can now prove Theorem 3.20.

Proof of Theorem 3.20. Realize first S as a finite union of open simplices of a finite simplicial complex K, using Remark 3.24. Then, by Lemma 3.25, S is homotopy equivalent to the total space |L| of a subcomplex  $L \subseteq K$ . Therefore b(S) is bounded by the number of cells of L, which is finite.

*Exercise* 3.5. Use the Universal Coefficients Theorem [14, Theorem 3.2] to prove that, for a topological space X with finite total Betti number  $b(X) < \infty$  we have  $\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \operatorname{rank}(H^k(X,\mathbb{Z})) \leq b(X)$ . In particular, whatever bound we produce for the sum of the Betti numbers with coefficients in  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ , this bound will also work for Betti numbers with coefficients in  $\mathbb{Z}$ .



Figure 3.1: A visual proof of Lemma 3.25. In this picture |K| is the simplex  $[a_0, a_1, a_2]$ , and  $S = |K| \setminus (int([a_0, a_1]) \cup [a_1])$  and  $|L| = [a_0, a_{12}, a_2]$ .

# 3.4 The mapping cyclinder of semialgebraic functions

In this section we discuss the mapping cyclinder of continuous semialgebraic functions. We will use this notion to show that the zero sets of such functions are homotopy equivalent to tubular neighborhoods; see Corollary 3.30. The main result of this section is Theorem 3.29.

We first recall the following result extending Theorem 3.23.

**Theorem 3.26.** Let  $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a compact semialgebraic set,  $\{S_1, \ldots, S_a\}$  be a finite family of semialgebraic subsets of S and  $f : S \to \mathbb{R}$  be a semialgebraic, continuous function. There exists a finite simplicial complex  $K = \{\sigma_j\}_{j \in J}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  and a semialgebraic homeomorphism  $\varphi : |K| \to S$  such that

(1) each  $S_i$  is the union of open simplices; and

(2) the map

$$f \circ \varphi : |K| \to \mathbb{R}$$

is affine on every simplex.

*Proof.* See [3, Theorem 9.4.1].

As a corollary we can derive some useful results on neighborhoods of semialgebraic sets. We start by recalling the definition of the *Mapping cylinder*.

**Definition 3.27** (Mapping cylinder). Let  $g: B \to Z$  be a continuous map between topological spaces. We define the mapping cylinder  $M_g$  to be the topological space

$$M_g := \left( (B \times [0,1]) \sqcup Z \right) / \sim,$$

where the equivalence relation " $\sim$ " is defined by  $(b, 0) \sim g(b)$  for all  $b \in B$ .

**Definition 3.28** (Mapping cylinder neighborhood). Let S be a topological space and  $Z \subseteq S$  be a subspace. We call a closed neighborhood W of Z a mapping cylinder neighborhood, if there exists a subspace  $B \subset W$  such that:

- (1)  $W \setminus B$  is an open neighborhood of Z;
- (2) there exist a continuous map  $g: B \to Z$  and a homeomorphism  $h: M_g \to W$  such that

$$h|_{Z\cup B} = \mathrm{id}_{Z\cup B}.$$

The subspace B is also called the *boundary* of W.

Let us recall some useful properties of mapping cylinders.

- (1) The mapping cylinder  $M_q$  deformation retracts to Z.
- (2) If  $Z \subset S$  has a mapping cylinder neighborhood, then the pair (S, Z) has the homotopy extension property: given  $f_0: S \to Y$  and a homotopy  $\tilde{f}_t: Z \to Y$ such that  $\tilde{f}_0 = f_0|_Z$ , there is a homotopy  $f_t: S \to Y$  such that  $f_t|_Z = \tilde{f}_t$ .
- (3) Mapping cylinders satisfy a universal property: for every space Y and continuous maps  $f_1: B \times [0,1] \to Y$  and  $f_2: Z \to Y$  such that  $f_1(b,0) = f_2(g(b))$ for every  $b \in B$ , there exists a unique continuous map  $h: M_g \to Y$  which makes the following diagram commute:



where  $q: B \times [0,1] \to M_g$  is the quotient map and  $i_0: B \to B \times [0,1]$  the inclusion  $b \mapsto (b,0)$ .

The next result shows that compact semialgebraic sets have semialgebraic mapping cylinder neighborhoods.

**Theorem 3.29.** Let S be a compact semialgebraic set and  $f : S \to [0, \infty)$  be a continuous semialgebraic function. Denote by  $Z := f^{-1}(0)$  the zero set of f. There exists  $\epsilon_f > 0$  such that for every  $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_f$  the set  $\{f \le \epsilon\}$  is a mapping cylinder neighborhood of Z in S. In particular, the inclusions  $Z \hookrightarrow \{f < \epsilon\} \hookrightarrow \{f \le \epsilon\}$  are homotopy equivalences.

Proof. Let  $\varphi : |K| \to S$  be a triangulation of S such that  $\tilde{f} := f \circ \varphi : |K| \to [0, \infty)$  is affine on each simplex. Such a  $\varphi$  exists by Theorem 3.26. Since  $\tilde{f}$  is affine on each simplex, if  $\tilde{f}^{-1}(0)$  contains a simplex  $\sigma$ , it also contains all the faces of  $\sigma$ . Therefore it is a subcomplex, which we denote by

$$|L| := \tilde{f}^{-1}(0).$$

In particular, we have

$$Z = \varphi(|L|).$$

We denote by V(K) the set of 0-simplices of the complex K and define

$$\epsilon_f := \min_{\substack{v \in V(K) \\ v \notin L}} \widetilde{f}(v);$$

the minimum exists, because  $\tilde{f}$  is continuous.

We will first construct, for every  $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_f$ , a continuous semialgebraic map

$$T: f^{-1}(\epsilon) \times [0, \epsilon] \to \{f \le \epsilon\} \subset S$$

such that f(T(x,t)) = t for every  $(x,t) \in f^{-1}(\epsilon) \times [0,\epsilon]$  and such that  $T|_{f^{-1}(\epsilon) \times (0,\epsilon]}$  is a homeomorphism onto  $\{f \leq \epsilon\} \setminus Z$ .

To this end, let  $x \in f^{-1}(\epsilon) \in S$  and denote by  $y = \varphi^{-1}(x) \in |K|$ . Then y belongs to some simplex  $\sigma = [a_0, \ldots, a_m]$  of K. Up to reordering, we can assume that  $a_0, \ldots, a_k \in |L|$  and  $a_{k+1}, \ldots, a_m \notin |L|$ . We can write:

$$y = \sum_{i=0}^{k} \lambda_i a_i + \sum_{j=k+1}^{m} \lambda_j a_j,$$

with  $\lambda_0 + \dots + \lambda_m = 1$  and  $\lambda_0, \dots, \lambda_m \ge 0$ . As in (3.2) we denote  $\alpha(y) = \sum_{i=0}^k \lambda_i$ . We claim that  $0 < \alpha(y) < 1$ . In fact, if  $\alpha(y) = 0$ , then the only the last m - k coefficients of y are nonzero and so  $\tilde{f}(y) = \sum_{j=k+1}^m \lambda_j \tilde{f}(a_j) > \epsilon_f$ , which contradicts  $\tilde{f}(y) = \epsilon < \epsilon_f$ . On the other hand, if  $\alpha(y) = 1$ , then only the first k coefficients of y are nonzero and we have  $\tilde{f}(y) = \sum_{j=0}^k \lambda_j \tilde{f}(a_j) = 0$ , which contradicts  $\tilde{f}(y) = \epsilon > 0$ .

The map T is defined by

$$T(x,t) := \varphi\left(\sum_{i=0}^{k} \frac{t\alpha(y) + \epsilon - t}{\epsilon\alpha(y)} \lambda_i a_i + \sum_{j=k+1}^{m} \frac{t}{\epsilon} \lambda_j a_j\right),$$

where  $y = \varphi^{-1}(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{m} \lambda_i a_i$ . Observe also that the map T is also surjective.

Let us now use T to construct the mapping cylinder neighborhood. We set  $W := \{f \leq \epsilon\} \subset S, B := f^{-1}(\epsilon) \subset S$  and define  $g : B \to Z$  by

$$g(b) := T(b,0) \quad \text{for } b \in B.$$

Following Definition 3.27 this defines the mapping cylinder  $M_g$ . By (3.3) we then have a commutative diagram of maps



where  $i_Z : Z \to W$  denotes the inclusion, and  $i_0(b) = (b, 0)$ , and q is the quotient map. By the universal property of mapping cylinders (see (3.3)) we get the existence of a map  $h : M_g \to W$ . Since this map is injective,  $M_g$  is compact and W is Hausdorff, it is also a homeomorphism onto its image. Since T is surjective, and q is surjective, h is surjective as well and  $h : M_g \to W$  is a homeomorphism. Moreover,  $W \setminus B = \{f < \epsilon\}$  is an open neighborhood of Z. Finally, for every  $z \in Z$  and  $b \in B = f^{-1}(\epsilon)$  we have

$$h(z) = i_Z(z) = z$$
 and  $h(b, \epsilon) = T(b, \epsilon) = b.$ 

This shows  $h|_{(B\times\{\epsilon\})\cup Z} = \mathrm{id}_{(B\times\{\epsilon\})\cup Z}$ , which concludes the proof.

From the previous result we get the following corollary.

**Corollary 3.30.** Let  $Z \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a compact semialgebraic set. There exists  $\epsilon_Z > 0$  such that for all  $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_Z$  the inclusions

$$Z \hookrightarrow \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n \,|\, \text{dist}_Z(x) < \epsilon\} \hookrightarrow \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n \,|\, \text{dist}_Z(x) \le \epsilon\}$$

are homotopy equivalences.

*Proof.* The function dist<sub>Z</sub> :  $\mathbb{R}^n \to [0, \infty)$  is proper, continuous, semialgebraic and it vanishes on Z. The result follows by applying Theorem 3.29 in the case  $S = \{ \text{dist}_Z \leq 1 \}$  (which is compact and semialgebraic) and  $f = \text{dist}_Z|_S$ .  $\Box$ 

We discuss now an interesting corollary, which allows to "regularize" smooth semialgebraic equalities and inequalities.

**Corollary 3.31** (Regularization of smooth equalities and inequalities). Let S be a compact Nash manifold and  $f: S \to \mathbb{R}$  be a smooth semialgebraic function.

(1) There exists  $\epsilon_1 > 0$  such that for all  $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_1$  the inclusion

$$\{f \le 0\} \hookrightarrow \{f \le \epsilon\}$$

is a homotopy equivalence and  $\epsilon$  is a regular value of f.

(2) There exists  $\epsilon_2 > 0$  such that for all  $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon_2$  the inclusion

$$\{f = 0\} \hookrightarrow \{|f| \le \epsilon\}$$

is a homotopy equivalence and both  $\epsilon$  and  $-\epsilon$  are regular values of f.

*Proof.* Let us deal first with the case (1). Let us define  $f_1 := f \cdot \chi_{\{f \ge 0\}} : S \to [0, \infty)$ . Notice that  $f_1$  is continuous and semialgebraic; moreover, for every  $\epsilon > 0$ :

$$\{f \le 0\} = \{f_1 = 0\}$$
 and  $\{f \le \epsilon\} = \{f_1 \le \epsilon\}.$ 

By Theorem 3.29, there exists  $\epsilon' > 0$  such that for all  $0 < \epsilon < \epsilon'$  the inclusion  $\{f \leq 0\} \hookrightarrow \{f \leq \epsilon\}$  is a homotopy equivalence. By Theorem 3.19,  $f(\operatorname{crit}(f)) \subset \mathbb{R}$  is semialgebraic of dimension zero and, consequently,  $f(\operatorname{crit}(f)) = \{c_1, \ldots, c_k\}$ . In particular there exists  $\epsilon'' > 0$  such that the interval  $(0, \epsilon'')$  contains no critical value of f. Defining  $\epsilon_1 =: \min\{\epsilon', \epsilon''\}$ , the conclusion follows.

As for point (2), we consider the function  $f_2 := f^2$ . Notice that  $f_2$  is continuous and semialgebraic; moreover, for every  $\epsilon > 0$ :

$$\{f = 0\} = \{f_2 = 0\}$$
 and  $\{|f| \le \epsilon\} = \{f_2 \le \epsilon^2\}.$ 

The proof follows now the same strategy as for point (1).

### 3.5 Semialgebraic triviality

We discuss now a fundamental tool, which guarantees that continuous semialgebraic maps can be "partitioned" into fibrations.

**Theorem 3.32.** Let  $f : A \to B$  be a semialgebraic continuous map of semialgebraic sets. There exists a finite partition into semialgebraic sets

$$B = \bigsqcup_{j=1}^{\ell} B_j,$$

such that for every  $j = 1, ..., \ell$  there exist a semialgebraic set  $F_j \subset A$ , called fiber, and a semialgebraic homeomorphism  $\theta_j : f^{-1}(B_j) \to B_j \times F_j$ , called trivialization, such that the following diagram commutes:



Here,  $p_1: B_j \times F_j \to B_j$  denotes the projection on the first factor.

*Proof.* See [3, Theorem 9.3.2].

Remark 3.33. If the function  $f : A \to B$  from Theorem 3.32 is not continuous, the conclusion of the statement is false. For instance, let  $f : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$  defined by  $f(x,y) = x^{-1}$  for  $x \neq 0$  and f(0,y) = y. For this function we cannot partition the target space into finitely many pieces over which obtaining a semialgebraic trivialization.

An immediate corollary is the following result, that says that gives a bound on the dimension of a continuous image of a semialgebraic set.

**Corollary 3.34.** Let  $f : A \to B$  a continuous semialgebraic map of semialgebraic sets. Then

$$\dim(f(A)) \le \dim(A).$$

*Proof.* We use Theorem 3.32 and write  $B = \bigsqcup B_j$  with  $f^{-1}(B_j) \simeq B_j \times F_j$ . Then we can write  $f(A) = \bigsqcup_{F_i \neq \emptyset} B_j$  and, consequently,

$$\dim(f(A)) = \sup_{F_j \neq \emptyset} \dim(B_j) \le \sup_{F_j \neq \emptyset} (\dim(B_j) + \dim(F_j))$$
$$= \sup_{F_j \neq \emptyset} \dim(f^{-1}(B_j)) \le \dim A.$$

The next corollary uses Theorem 3.32 to show that there are only finitely many homeomorphism types among the common zero set of polynomials of degree d in n variables.

**Corollary 3.35.** Let  $n, d \in \mathbb{N}$  and consider the collection of zero sets of polynomials of degree in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ :

$$\mathfrak{Z}(n,d) := \{ Z \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n \mid Z = Z(p_1,\ldots,p_s), \ p_1,\ldots,p_s \in \mathbb{R}[x_1,\ldots,x_n]_d, s \in \mathbb{N} \}.$$

There exist real algebraic sets  $Z_1, \ldots, Z_{\ell} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  such that every  $Z \in \mathfrak{Z}(n,d)$  is semialgebraically homeomorphic to one  $Z_j$ .

*Proof.* Observe first that, given  $p_1, \ldots, p_s \in \mathbb{R}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]_d$ , we have

$$Z(p_1, \dots, p_s) = Z(p_1^2 + \dots + p_s^2).$$

In particular

$$\mathcal{Z}(n,d) \subseteq \{Z \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n \mid Z = Z(p), p \in \mathbb{R}[x_1,\ldots,x_n]_{2d}\}.$$

Denote by

$$A := \{ (x, p) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}[x_1, \dots, x_n]_{2d} \,|\, p(x) = 0 \}$$
(3.4)

and observe that A is an algebraic subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]_{2d}$ . Denote

$$B := \mathbb{R}[x_1, \dots, x_n]_{2d}$$

and  $f: A \to B$  be the restriction of the projection on the second factor. Notice also that, given  $p \in B$ , the fiber  $f^{-1}(p) \subset \mathbb{R}^n \times \{p\}$  can be identified  $Z(p) \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ . By Theorem 3.32 we can write

$$B = \bigsqcup_{j=1}^{\ell} B_j$$

and there are  $Z_1, \ldots, Z_{\ell} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  (which are real algebraic, since the fibers of f are real algebraic) such that for every  $j = 1, \ldots, \ell$  and for every  $p \in B_j$ , the fiber  $f^{-1}(p)$  is semialgebraically homeomorphic to  $Z_j$ . Therefore, because of (3.4), every  $Z \in \mathcal{Z}(n, d)$  is semialgebraically homeomorphic to some  $Z_j$ .

*Exercise* 3.6. State and prove a projective version of Corollary 3.35, as well as a version for the family of complex zero sets of complex polynomials in  $\mathbb{C}^n$ .

For r > 0 we denote the closed ball with center  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and of radius r by

$$D(x, r) := \{ y \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid ||x - y|| \le r \}.$$

The next two results use Theorem 3.32 to give information on the local structure of semialgebraic sets and their structure at infinity.

**Proposition 3.36** (Local conic structure). Let  $S \in \mathbb{R}^n$  be a semialgebraic set and  $x \in S$  be a nonisolated point. For every  $\epsilon > 0$  consider the intersection  $S \cap \partial D(x, \epsilon)$  and define

$$\operatorname{cone}(S \cap \partial D(x,\epsilon)) := \{ x + t(v-x) \mid v \in S \cap \partial D(x,\epsilon), t \in [0,1] \}.$$

If  $\epsilon > 0$  is small enough there is a semialgebraic homeomorphism

$$\varphi: D(x,\epsilon) \cap S \to \operatorname{cone}(S \cap \partial D(x,\epsilon))$$

such that  $||x - y|| = ||x - \varphi(y)||$  for every  $y \in D(x, \epsilon) \cap S$ .

*Proof.* Let  $f: S \to [0, \infty)$  be the continuous semialgebraic map f(y) := ||x-y||. By Theorem 3.32 there exists  $\epsilon' > 0$ , a semialgebraic set F homeomorphic to  $f^{-1}(\epsilon')$ and a semialgebraic homeomorphism

$$\theta: \{y \in S \mid 0 < \|x - y\| < \epsilon'\} \to (0, \epsilon') \times F$$

such that the first component of  $\theta(y)$  is ||x - y||.

We can assume  $\epsilon < \epsilon'$ , so that  $f^{-1}(\epsilon')$  is homeomorphic to  $f^{-1}(\epsilon)$ . Notice that  $f^{-1}(\epsilon) = S \cap \partial D(x, \epsilon)$ . So, replacing F by  $f^{-1}(\epsilon)$  we get a semialgebraic homeomorphism  $\{y \in S \mid 0 < \|x - y\| < \epsilon'\} \rightarrow (0, \epsilon) \times (S \cap \partial D(x, \epsilon))$ . Restricting the left side of this to  $D(x, \epsilon) \cap S$  we get a homeomorphism

$$\phi: D(x,\epsilon) \cap S \to (0,\epsilon) \times (S \cap \partial D(x,\epsilon)).$$

Denoting by  $(\phi_1, \phi_2)$  the components of  $\phi$ , we have  $\phi_1(y) = \theta_1(y) = ||x - y||$ . The map  $\varphi$  is now defined as follows:

$$\varphi(y) := \begin{cases} x & \text{if } y = x \\ x + \phi_1(y) \frac{x - \phi_2(y)}{\|x - \phi_2(y)\|} & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

We have  $||x - \varphi(y)|| = \phi_1(y) = ||x - y||$ , and  $\varphi$  is invertible and its inverse is a continuous semialgebraic.

**Corollary 3.37** (Conic structure at infinity). Let  $S \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  be semialgebraic. There exists R > 0 such that S deformation retracts on  $S \cap D(x, r)$  for every r > R.

*Proof.* If S is bounded, then  $S \cap D(x, r) = S$  for r > 0 large enough. In the case S is not bounded, consider the semialgebraic homeomorphism  $\eta : \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\} \to \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ 

given by  $x \mapsto x ||x||^{-2}$ . We define the semialgebraic set  $\widetilde{S} := \eta(S \setminus \{0\}) \cup \{0\}$ . Observe that

$$\eta\left(S \cap \{\|x\| \ge r\}\right) = \widetilde{S} \cap \left\{\|y\| \le r^{-1}\right\} \setminus \{0\}$$

(and the two sets are semialgebraically homeomorphic, the homeomorphism being given by the restriction of  $\eta$ ). Applying now Proposition 3.36 to the semialgebraic set  $\tilde{S}$ , we get the existence of  $\epsilon > 0$  small enough such that for  $\frac{1}{r} < \epsilon$  we have a semialgebraic homeomorphism

$$\theta: \widetilde{S} \cap \left\{ \|y\| \le r^{-1} \right\} \to \operatorname{cone}(\widetilde{S} \cap \partial D(0, r^{-1})).$$

Removing the origin from  $\widetilde{S}$ , and using the cone structure, we get a deformation retraction of  $\widetilde{S} \cap \{ \|y\| \le r^{-1} \}$  onto  $\widetilde{S} \cap \partial D(0, r^{-1})$ .

Since  $\eta : \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\} \to \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$  is a semialgebraic homeomorphism, the deformation retraction above can be seen as a deformation retraction of  $S \cap \{\|x\| \ge r\}$  onto  $S \cap \partial D(x, r)$ , and this glues to a deformation retraction of S onto  $S \cap D(x, r)$ .  $\Box$ 

In this chapter we address the basic problem of counting the number of solutions of a random equation – many interesting questions from geometry to topology can be reduced to a problem where we have to count points.

To be more specific, suppose we are given a *random map* 

$$f: \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^k$$

with  $m \geq k$ . This means we have a random vector  $f(x) \in \mathbb{R}^k$  for every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^m$ . In the literature, f is also called a random field. In the case m = k we will be interested in computing  $\mathbb{E} \# (\{f = 0\} \cap U)$ , where  $U \subseteq \mathbb{R}^k$  is a measurable subset. More generally, we compute the (m - k)-dimensional volume  $\mathbb{E}$  vol  $(\{f = 0\} \cap U)$ . For an example of a random map we can take  $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}, x \mapsto \sum_{i=0}^{d} \xi_i x^i$ , where  $\{\xi_i\}_{i=0,\dots,d}$  is a family of independent standard gaussians. This defines a random polynomial called a *Kac polynomial* (see also Definition 4.7 below). Another random map is given by taking the dehomogenization of a Kostlan polynomial  $\sum_{i=0}^{d} \xi_i {d \choose i}^{\frac{1}{2}} x^i$  from (1.2). We can also consider the case where f is given by a complex random polynomial, using the identification of real vector spaces  $\mathbb{R}^2 \cong \mathbb{C}$ .

As before,  $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}^k)$  denotes the space of smooth function  $\mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^k$ . Following the discussion in Section 1.3, we define a random map to be an element of some finite-dimensional Gaussian space of smooth functions. The motivates the next definition.

**Definition 4.1** (Random Gaussian maps). Let  $\mathcal{F} = \{f_0, f_1, \ldots, f_\ell\} \subset C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}^k)$  be finite with  $\ell, m \geq k$ . The random Gaussian map induced by  $\mathcal{F}$  is

$$f(x) = f_0(x) + \xi_1 f_1(x) + \dots + \xi_\ell f_\ell(x),$$

where  $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1,\dots,\ell}$  is a family of i.i.d. N(0,1) random variables.

Let  $V := \text{span}(\{f_1, \ldots, f_\ell\})$  be the vector space spanned by the last  $\ell$  elements in  $\mathcal{F}$ . If  $f_1, \ldots, f_\ell$  are linearly independent, we get an isomorphism

$$\varphi_{\mathcal{F}} : \mathbb{R}^{\ell} \to f_0 + V, \ y \mapsto f_0(x) + \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} y_i f_i(x).$$

$$(4.1)$$

Following Section 1.3, we get a Gaussian distribution on V in the following way:

$$\mathbb{P}(f \in U) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^{\ell}}} \int_{\varphi_{\mathcal{F}}^{-1}(U)} e^{-\frac{\|y\|^2}{2}} \,\mathrm{d}y, \text{ where } U \subset V \text{ is measurable}$$

For example, in the case of Kac polynomials we have  $\mathcal{F} = \{0, 1, x, \dots, x^d\}$ . For defining a complex Kac polynomials we would choose  $\mathcal{F} = \{0, a_0, \dots, a_d, b_0, \dots, b_d\}$  where  $a_k(x, y) = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \Re(x+iy)^k \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$  and  $b_k(x, y) = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \Im(x+iy)^k \end{pmatrix}$ .

## 4.1 The Kac-Rice formula in Euclidean Space

We will now establish the framework, in which we can compute the expected volume of zeros of random maps.

For this, we assume that  $f : \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^k$  is a random map induced by a set of smooth functions  $\mathcal{F} = \{f_0, f_1, \ldots, f_\ell\}$ , in the sense of Definition 4.1. Here we assume that f(x) has a nondegenerate distribution, i.e. that for almost all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^m$ the covariance matrix is positive definite:

$$\mathbb{E}\left(f(x) - f_0(x)\right)(f(x) - f_0(x))^T \succ 0$$

Furthermore, we let  $Jf(x) \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times m}$  be the jacobian matrix of f at x. The normal Jacobian is  $NJ(f, x) = \sqrt{\det(Jf(x)Jf(x)^T)}$ . The Kac-Rice density for  $\mathcal{F}$  is given in terms of the expected value of the normal Jacobian.

**Definition 4.2** (The Kac-Rice density). The Kac-Rice density of  $\mathcal{F}$  at x is

$$\rho(x) = \mathbb{E}\left[ \operatorname{NJ}(f, x) \mid f(x) = 0 \right] \cdot \phi_{f(x)}(0),$$

where  $\phi_{f(x)}(0)$  is the density of the random vector f(x) evaluated at zero.

For every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^m$  the vector-matrix pair  $(f(x), Jf(x)) \in \mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^{k \times m}$  is Gaussian. In the homogeneous case where  $f_0 = 0$ , the Gaussian regression formula from [2, Proposition 1.2] gives way for computing the conditional expectation in Definition 4.2.

**Proposition 4.3.** Let  $(\xi, \eta) \in \mathbb{R}^r \times \mathbb{R}^s$  be a centered Gaussian vector such that the covariance matrix of  $\xi$  is nondegenerate:  $A = \mathbb{E} \xi \xi^T \succ 0$ . Let us also define the matrices:  $B = \mathbb{E} \eta \eta^T$  and  $C = \mathbb{E} \eta \xi^T$ . Then for every measurable function  $h : \mathbb{R}^s \to \mathbb{R}$  we have:

$$\mathbb{E}\left\{h(\eta) \,\middle|\, \xi = 0\right\} = \mathbb{E}\,h(\zeta),$$

where  $\zeta \in \mathbb{R}^s$  is a Gaussian vector with mean zero and covariance  $B - CA^{-1}C^T$ .

In the case when the pair (f(x), Jf(x)) itself has a density we can give an alternative formulation for the Kac-Rice density. Let us denote by  $p : \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^{k \times m} \times \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}$  the joint density of the pair (f(x), Jf(x)). This means that p is the function defined by the requirement that for every measurable subset  $A \subseteq \mathbb{R}^k \times \mathbb{R}^{k \times m}$  we have for a fixed  $x \in \mathbb{R}^m$ 

$$\mathbb{P}\left((f(x), Jf(x)) \in A\right) = \int_{A} p(v, J, x) \,\mathrm{d}v \mathrm{d}J$$

The Kac-Rice density for  $\mathcal{F}$  in this case is given by

$$\rho(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{k \times m}} \sqrt{\det(JJ^T)} \, p(0, J, x) \, \mathrm{d}J. \tag{4.2}$$

Now comes the Kac-Rice formula. We prove a special case of the more general formula in [2, Theorem 6.2].

**Theorem 4.4** (Kac-Rice formula). Let  $\ell, m \geq k$  and let  $f : \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^k$  be the random map induced by  $\mathcal{F} \subset C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}^k)$ ,  $\#\mathcal{F} = \ell + 1$ . Assume that for almost all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^m$  we have

- (1) f(x) has a nondegenerate distribution;
- (2) the probability of  $\det(Jf(x)Jf(x)^T) = 0$  conditioned on the event f(x) = 0is equal to zero; i.e.,  $\mathbb{P}\{\det(Jf(x)Jf(x)^T) = 0 \mid f(x) = 0\} = 0.$

Then, almost surely the zero set of f is an (m-k)-dimensional smooth manifold. The volume of the zeros of f in a measurable set  $U \subseteq \mathbb{R}^m$  is given by the formula:

$$\mathbb{E} \operatorname{vol}_{m-k}(\{x \in U \mid f(x) = 0\}) = \int_U \rho(x) \, \mathrm{d}x$$

In particular, if m = k, we have  $\mathbb{E} \# \{x \in U \mid f(x) = 0\} = \int_U \rho(x) \, dx$ .

The theorem shows the role of the Kac-Rice density  $\rho(x)$ : it is the density of the zeros of f. We thus call  $\rho(x)$  also root density. This theorem is actually a special case of a more general result, which we state next.

**Theorem 4.5.** Let  $h : \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}$  be a measurable function. Under the assumptions from Theorem 4.4 the zero set  $Z(f) = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^m \mid f(x) = 0\}$  is almost surely an (m-k)-dimensional smooth submanifold of  $\mathbb{R}^m$  and we have

$$\mathbb{E} \int_{Z(f)\cap U} h(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_U h(x)\rho(x) \, \mathrm{d}x$$

for any measurable set  $U \subset \mathbb{R}^m$ .

Before we prove Theorem 4.5, let us recall the next result on multivariate Gaussians; for a proof see, e.g., [26, Theorem 1.2.6].

**Lemma 4.6.** Let  $X = (X_1, \ldots, X_n)$  be Gaussian with mean  $\mu$  and covariance matrix  $\Sigma$ , and let  $A \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times n}$ . Then,  $AX \sim N(A\mu, A\Sigma A^T)$ .

Now, we prove Theorem 4.4.

*Proof of Theorem 4.5.* Let Jf(x) be the Jacobian matrix of f at x. We use the following shorthand notations:

$$J := Jf(x)$$
 and  $M = \begin{bmatrix} f_1(x) & \cdots & f_\ell(x) \end{bmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times \ell}$ 

By Proposition 2.8, the zero set  $Z(f) = f^{-1}(0)$  is a smooth manifold of dimension m-k, if  $\det(JJ^T) \neq 0$  on  $f^{-1}(0)$ . This holds almost surely due to our assumption that  $\mathbb{P}\{\det(JJ^T) = 0 \mid f(x) = 0\} = 0$ .

Let us write  $f = \varphi_{\mathcal{F}}(y) = f_0 + My$  as in (4.1). Then, if  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  is a vector of i.i.d. Gaussians we have

$$\mathbb{E}(f(x) - f_0(x))(f(x) - f_0(x))^T = \mathbb{E} M\xi\xi^T M^T = MM^T.$$

Let  $W \subset \mathbb{R}^{\ell} \times \mathbb{R}^{m}$  be the subset of points (y, x) such that  $\det(MM^{T}) \neq 0$ . By assumption, W is an open dense subset. We define the incidence correspondence

$$Z := \{(y, x) \in W \mid f(x) = 0, \text{ where } f = \varphi_{\mathcal{F}}(y)\}.$$

If Z is empty, then f(x) = 0 has no solution in  $\mathbb{R}^m$ . In this case, the Kac-Rice formula is trivially true. In the following, we assume that  $Z \neq \emptyset$ . We show that Z is a manifold. To see this, we define  $g: W \to \mathbb{R}^k, (y, x) \mapsto f(x)$ . This map has Jacobian matrix  $Jg(y, x) = [M J] \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times (\ell+m)}$ . Since M has rank k, this shows that 0 is a regular value of g. Proposition 2.8 implies that  $Z = g^{-1}(0)$  is a smooth manifold of dimension  $\ell + m - k$  with tangent space

$$T_{(y,x)}Z = \left\{ (\dot{y}, \dot{x}) \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell} \times \mathbb{R}^{m} \mid M\dot{y} = -J\dot{x} \right\}.$$

Let us define the coordinate projections  $\pi_1 : Z \to \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  and  $\pi_2 : Z \to \mathbb{R}^k$ . Since M has rank  $k, \pi_2$  is a submersion. By [21, Proposition 4.28], submersions are open maps, hence  $\pi_2(Z)$  is open in  $\mathbb{R}^k$ . If moreover  $JJ^T$  is invertible at (y, x), the zero set  $Z(f) = (\pi_2 \circ \pi_1^{-1})(y)$  is a manifold as we have discussed above. In this case, we can isometrically identify  $Z(f) \cong \pi_1^{-1}(y)$ . We apply the coarea formula (Theorem 2.26) first to  $\pi_1$  to get

$$\int_{Z(f)\cap U} h(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{\ell}} \left( \int_{\pi_1^{-1}(y)} \chi_U(x) \, h(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \right) \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^{\ell}}} e^{-\frac{\|y\|^2}{2}} \, \mathrm{d}y, \qquad (4.3)$$

where  $\chi_U$  is the indicator function of U. Next, we apply the coarea formula to  $\pi_2$  to (4.3) and get

$$\int_{Z(f)\cap U} h(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbb{R}^m} \chi_U(x) \, h(x) \, \tilde{\rho}(x) \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

where

$$\tilde{\rho}(x) = \int_{\pi_2^{-1}(x)} \frac{\mathrm{NJ}(\pi_1, (y, x))}{\mathrm{NJ}(\pi_2, (y, x))} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi^{\ell}}} e^{-\frac{\|y\|^2}{2}} \mathrm{d}(y, x).$$

We have to show that  $\rho(x) = \tilde{\rho}(x)$ . First, we compute the ratio of normal jacobians. For this, we fix  $(y, x) \in Z$  such that  $JJ^T$  is invertible (recall that this holds for almost everywhere). We define  $K := T_{(y,x)}Z \cap ((\ker M)^{\perp} \times (\ker J)^{\perp})$  and denote the coordinate projections by  $p_1 : K \to \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  and  $p_2 : K \to \mathbb{R}^m$ . We have an orthogonal decomposition

$$T_{(y,x)}Z = \ker M \oplus \ker J \oplus K$$

If  $(u, v, w) \in \ker M \oplus \ker J \oplus K$  is a decomposition of a point in  $T_{(y,x)}Z$  relative to this decomposition, its images under the derivatives of  $\pi_1$  and  $\pi_2$  are  $D_{(y,x)}\pi_1(u, v, w) = (u, p_1(w))$  and  $D_{(y,x)}\pi_2(u, v, w) = (v, p_2(w))$ . Furthermore, for  $w = (w_1, w_2) \in K$  we have that  $w_1 = -(M|_{(\ker M)^{\perp}})^{-1}(J|_{(\ker J)^{\perp}})(w_2)$ . This implies that both  $p_1$  and  $p_2$  are invertible and  $\det(p_1 \circ p_2^{-1}) = \det((M|_{(\ker M)^{\perp}})^{-1}(J|_{(\ker J)^{\perp}}))$ . We get

$$\frac{\mathrm{NJ}(\pi_1, (y, x))}{\mathrm{NJ}(\pi_2, (y, x))} = \frac{|\det(p_1)|}{|\det(p_2)|} = |\det(p_1 \circ p_2^{-1})| = \det((M|_{(\ker M)^{\perp}})^{-1}(J|_{(\ker J)^{\perp}}))$$
$$= \frac{\sqrt{\det(JJ^T)}}{\sqrt{\det(MM^T)}}.$$

For a fixed  $x \in \mathbb{R}^m$  we have  $\pi_2^{-1}(x) = (y_0 + \ker M) \times \{x\}$ , where  $y_0 \in (\ker M)^{\perp}$  satisfies  $f_0(x) + My_0 = 0$ . This shows

$$\tilde{\rho}(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\det(MM^T)}} \int_{\ker M} \sqrt{\det(JJ^T)} \cdot \frac{1}{\sqrt{(2\pi)^\ell}} \cdot e^{-\frac{\|y-y_0\|^2}{2}} \,\mathrm{d}y.$$

Recall that  $\rho(x) = \mathbb{E}[\operatorname{NJ}(f, x) | f(x) = 0] \cdot \phi_{f(x)}(0)$ . Using  $\sqrt{\det(JJ^T)} = \operatorname{NJ}(f, x)$  we have

$$\rho(x) = \frac{\int_{\ker M} \sqrt{\det(JJ^T)} \cdot \frac{1}{\sqrt{(2\pi)^{\ell}}} \cdot e^{-\frac{\|y-y_0\|^2}{2}} \,\mathrm{d}y}{\int_{\ker M} \frac{1}{\sqrt{(2\pi)^{\ell}}} \cdot e^{-\frac{\|y-y_0\|^2}{2}} \,\mathrm{d}y} \cdot \phi_{f(x)}(0).$$
(4.4)

Because  $y_0$  is chosen to be orthogonal to ker M we have  $||y - y_0||^2 = ||y||^2 + ||y_0||^2$ . The dimension of ker M is  $\ell - k$ . Let  $U \in O(\ell)$  be an orthogonal matrix so that  $MU^T = [M' \ 0]$ , where  $M' \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times k}$  is invertible. We have  $y \in \ker M$  if and only if  $Uy = (0, z) \in \{0\} \times \mathbb{R}^{\ell-k}$ . The denominator in (4.4) therefore is

$$\int_{\ker M} \frac{1}{\sqrt{(2\pi)^{\ell}}} \cdot e^{-\frac{\|y-y_0\|^2}{2}} \, \mathrm{d}y = \frac{1}{\sqrt{(2\pi)^k}} \cdot e^{-\frac{\|y_0\|^2}{2}}$$

Finally, as  $f(x) = f_0(x) + My = M(y - y_0)$  we have by Lemma 4.6 that

$$\phi_{f(x)}(0) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{(2\pi)^k \det(MM^T)}} \cdot e^{-\frac{\|y_0\|}{2}}.$$

If we plug both these identities into (4.4) we see that  $\rho(x) = \tilde{\rho}(x)$ .

## 4.2 Root density of Kac polynomials

In the first chapter, specifically in Section 1.4, we discussed that Kostlan polynomials are a reasonable class of random maps. Another class are Kac polynomials as defined at the beginning of this chapter. Let us recall their definition.

**Definition 4.7** (Kac polynomials). Let  $f = \sum_{i=0}^{d} \xi_i x^i$  be a univariate polynomial of degree d. We call f a Kac polynomial, if the  $\xi_i$  are i.i.d. N(0, 1) random variables.

However, Kac polynomials are not entirely reasonable in the sense of Section 1.3. We observe that Kac polynomials are only invariant under the symmetry  $f \mapsto -f$ , and in fact, as one can see from the plot of the root density of these polynomials in Figure 4.1, the zeroes are more likely to be near the points  $\pm 1 \in \mathbb{R}$  (hence there are privileged points for this model of randomness). In particular, for U = [a, b] with either  $a, b \gg 0$  or  $a, b \ll 0$ , the expected number of zeros  $\mathbb{E} \ \#(\{f = 0\} \cap U)$  is almost zero. Yet, Kac polynomials are still interesting, at least because they have historically been the first examples to be studied. For this reason and to illustrate the use of the Kac-Rice formula we study them in this section.

In this subsection we want to illustrate Theorem 4.4 in the case of Kac polynomials. The following theorem appeared in [16].

**Theorem 4.8.** The root density of a Kac polynomial is

$$\rho(x) = \frac{1}{\pi} \frac{\sqrt{1 - h(x)^2}}{1 - x^2}, \quad where \quad h(x) = \frac{(d+1)x^d(1 - x^2)}{1 - x^{2(d+1)}}.$$



Figure 4.1: The root density  $\rho(x)$  of Kac polynomials of degree d = 4. The two peaks are at x = -1 and x = 1. This means that a root of a Kac polynomial is most likely close to -1 or 1.

It should be mentioned that one has not been able to derive a closed formula for  $\int_{\mathbb{R}} \rho(x) dx$ . In Kac's original paper [16] he considered instead the *asymptotic* behavior of this integral. This is a recurring theme in this book: often one can not compute closed expressions of expected properties, but one can estimate the asymptotics when one (or several) parameters go to infinity. In the case of Kac polynomials we have the following.

**Theorem 4.9.** The number of zeros of Kac polynomials satisfies for  $d \to \infty$ :

$$\mathbb{E} \ \# Z(f) \sim \frac{2}{\pi} \ \log(d).$$

We prove Theorem 4.8 and Theorem 4.9.

Proof of Theorem 4.8 and Theorem 4.9. The following proof appeared in [16]. For a Kac polynomial f we have  $f(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{d} \xi_i x^i$ , and  $Jf(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{d} i\xi_i x^{i-1}$ . Consider the Kac Rational normal curve

$$\vartheta(x) = (1, x, x^2, \dots, x^d)^T.$$

Let us also write  $\xi = (\xi_0, \dots, \xi_d)^T$ . Then,  $f(x) = \xi^T \vartheta(x)$  and  $Jf(x) = \xi^T \vartheta'(x)$ , where  $\vartheta'(x)$  denotes the derivative of  $\vartheta(x)$ . By Lemma 4.6, (f(x), Jf(x)) is a vector of Gaussian random variables with covariance matrix that is invertible almost everywhere:

$$\Sigma = \begin{bmatrix} \vartheta^T \vartheta & \vartheta^T \vartheta' \\ (\vartheta')^T \vartheta & (\vartheta')^T \vartheta' \end{bmatrix}.$$

The joint density of  $(u, v) = (f(x), Jf(x)) \in \mathbb{R}^2$  therefore is

$$p(u, v, x) = \frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{\det\Sigma}} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(u,v)\Sigma^{-1}(u,v)^T}.$$

This implies  $p(0, v, x) = (2\pi\sqrt{\det \Sigma})^{-1} e^{-\frac{v^2}{2}\alpha}$ , where  $\alpha = (\det \Sigma)^{-1} \vartheta^T \vartheta$ . We can use the fomula for the Kac-Rice density in (4.2) to get

$$\rho(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} |v| \, p(0, v, x) \, \mathrm{d}v = \frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{\det\Sigma}} \int_{\mathbb{R}} |v| \, e^{-\frac{v^2}{2}\alpha} \, \mathrm{d}v = \frac{1}{\pi} \, \frac{\sqrt{\det\Sigma}}{\vartheta^T \vartheta}$$

Let us simplify this expression a little further. We have

$$\frac{\sqrt{\det \Sigma}}{\vartheta^T \vartheta} = \sqrt{\frac{\vartheta^T \vartheta \cdot (\vartheta')^T \vartheta' - (\vartheta^T \vartheta')^2}{\vartheta^T \vartheta}} = \sqrt{\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x \partial y}} \Big|_{x=y} \log \vartheta^T \vartheta(y).$$

We have  $\vartheta(x)^T \vartheta(y) = \sum_{i=0}^d (xy)^i = (1 - (xy)^{d+1})/(1 - xy)$  and so

$$\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x \partial y}\Big|_{x=y} \log \vartheta(x)^T \vartheta(y) = -\frac{(d+1)^2 x^{2d}}{(1-x^{2(d+1)})^2} + \frac{1}{(1-x^2)^2}$$

Thus, we have  $\rho(x) = \frac{1}{\pi} \frac{\sqrt{1-h(x)^2}}{1-x^2}$ , where  $h(x) = \frac{(d+1)x^d(1-x^2)}{1-x^{2(d+1)}}$ . This finishes the proof of Theorem 4.8.

For proving Theorem 4.8 we observe that  $\rho(x)$  is symmetric around 0, so that

$$\mathbb{E} \# \{ f = 0 \} = 2 \int_0^\infty \rho(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = 2 \left( \int_0^1 \rho(x) \, \mathrm{d}x + \int_1^\infty \rho(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \right).$$

In the right interval, we make a change of variables  $y = \frac{1}{x}$ , which reveals that the two integrals in the sum are equal. Thus, we have  $\mathbb{E} \#\{f = 0\} = 4 \int_0^1 \rho(y) \, dy$ . Using the formula for the geometric sum, and the fact that  $0 \le y \le 1$ , we have

$$h(y) = \frac{(d+1)y^d(1-y^2)}{(1-y)(1+y+\dots+y^{2d+1})} \ge \frac{y^d(1+y)}{2},$$
(4.5)

which implies

$$1 - h(y)^2 \le (1 - \frac{1}{2}y^d(1+y))(1 + \frac{1}{2}y^d(1+y)) \le 2 - y^d(1+y).$$

By the mean value theorem, for a fixed y there exists some  $y < \theta < 1$  such that

$$\frac{(2-1^d(1+1)) - (2-y^d(1+y))}{1-y} = \frac{y^d(1+y) - 2}{1-y} = -d\theta^{d-1}(1+\theta) - \theta^d.$$

Since  $\theta < 1$ , this implies  $1 - h(y)^2 \le 2 - y^d(1+y) < (1-y)(2d+1)$ . Moreover, for  $0 \le y \le 1$  we have  $1 - y^2 \ge 1 - y$ , so that

$$\frac{\sqrt{1-h(y)^2}}{1-y^2} \le \frac{\sqrt{1-h(y)^2}}{1-y} < \sqrt{\frac{2d+1}{1-y}}.$$
(4.6)

On the other hand, (4.5) implies that  $h(y) \ge 0$ , and so

$$\frac{\sqrt{1-h(y)^2}}{1-y^2} \le \frac{1}{1-y^2}.$$
(4.7)

A combination of (4.6) and (4.7) yields

$$\mathbb{E} \#\{f=0\} \le \frac{4}{\pi} \left( \int_0^{1-\frac{1}{d}} \frac{1}{1-y^2} \, \mathrm{d}y + \int_{1-\frac{1}{d}}^1 \sqrt{\frac{2d+1}{1-y}} \, \mathrm{d}y \right)$$

$$= \frac{4}{\pi} \left( \frac{\log(2-\frac{1}{d})}{2} + \frac{\log(d)}{2} + 2\sqrt{\frac{2d+1}{d}} \right)$$

$$\le \frac{4\log(2)}{\pi} + \frac{2\log(d)}{\pi} + \frac{8\sqrt{3}}{\pi} \le \frac{2\log(d)}{\pi} + 6,$$
(4.8)

where in the penultimate step we have used  $d \ge 1$ .

To finish the proof of Theorem 4.9 we also need a lower bound for  $\mathbb{E} \#\{f = 0\}$ . For this we consider a number  $0 \leq \delta < 1$ . Then, since  $h(y) \leq (d+1)y^d$ , we have  $h(y) \leq (d+1)(1-d^{\delta-1})^d$  for  $0 \leq y \leq 1-d^{\delta-1}$ . This implies

$$\mathbb{E} \#\{f=0\} = \frac{4}{\pi} \int_0^1 \rho(y) \, \mathrm{d}y \tag{4.9}$$
$$\geq \frac{4}{\pi} \int_0^{1-d^{\delta-1}} \frac{\sqrt{1-(d+1)^2(1-d^{\delta-1})^{2d}}}{1-y^2} \, \mathrm{d}y$$
$$= \frac{2}{\pi} \sqrt{1-(d+1)^2(1-d^{\delta-1})^{2d}} \left(\log(2-d^{\delta-1})+(1-\delta)\log(d)\right)$$

Let us write  $d' = d^{1-\delta}$ . Since  $1 - \delta > 0$  we have

$$(d+1)(1-d^{\delta-1})^d = (d+1)\left(\left(1-\frac{1}{d'}\right)^{d'}\right)^{d^{\delta}} \stackrel{d \to \infty}{\sim} (d+1)e^{-d^{\delta}} \stackrel{d \to \infty}{\to} 0,$$

which in combination with (4.9) and (4.8) shows that

$$\mathbb{E} \# \{ f = 0 \} \sim \frac{2}{\pi} \log(d) \text{ for } d \to \infty.$$

This finishes the proof of Theorem 4.9.

## 4.3 The Kac-Rice formula for random maps on manifolds

In this section we extend the Kac-Rice formula to random maps defined on a Riemannian manifold (M, g). Let  $m = \dim M$ . Similar to Definition 4.1 we say that a finite collection of smooth functions  $\mathcal{F} = \{f_0, f_1, \ldots, f_\ell\} \subset C^{\infty}(M, \mathbb{R}^k)$  induces the random Gaussian map

$$f(x) = f_0(x) + \xi_1 f_1(x) + \dots + \xi_\ell f_\ell(x),$$

where  $\{\xi_i\}_{i=1,\dots,\ell}$  is a family of i.i.d. N(0,1) random variables. Assuming that the density of f(x) is nondegenerate, the analogue of Definition 4.2 for manifolds is the following.

**Definition 4.10** (The Kac-Rice density for random maps on manifolds). The Kac-Rice density of  $\mathcal{F}$  at x is

$$\rho(x) = \mathbb{E}\left[\mathrm{NJ}(f, x) \left| f(x) = 0 \right] \cdot \phi_{f(x)}(0),\right]$$

where  $\phi_{f(x)}(0)$  is the density of the random vector f(x) evaluated at zero, and the determinant is defined to be the determinant of  $D_x f$  in coordinates with respect to orthonormal bases in  $T_x M$  and  $T_{f(x)} \mathbb{R}^k$ ; see (2.4).

Here is the Kac-Rice formula for manifolds

**Theorem 4.11** (Kac-Rice formula for random maps on manifolds). Let  $\ell, m \geq k$ . Let (M, g) be a Riemannian manifold of dimension m and  $f : M \to \mathbb{R}^k$  be the random map induced by  $\mathfrak{F} \subset C^{\infty}(M, \mathbb{R}^k)$ ,  $\#\mathfrak{F} = \ell + 1$ . Assume that for almost all  $x \in M$  we have

- (1) f(x) is nondegenerate (i.e.,  $\mathbb{E}(f(x) f_0(x))^T (f(x) f_0(x)) \succ 0);$
- (2)  $\mathbb{P}\{\mathrm{NJ}(f, x) = 0 \mid f(x) = 0\} = 0.$

Then, almost surely the zero set of f is an (m-k)-dimensional smooth manifold. The volume of the zeros of f in a measurable set  $U \subseteq M$  is given by the formula:

$$\mathbb{E} \operatorname{vol}_{m-k}(\{x \in U \mid f(x) = 0\}) = \int_U \rho(x) \operatorname{dvol}_g(x).$$

In particular, if m = k, we have  $\mathbb{E} \# \{x \in U \mid f(x) = 0\} = \int_U \rho(x) \operatorname{dvol}_g(x)$ .

As in the case of random maps between Euclidean cases the Kac-Rice formula is a special case of the following more general formula.
**Theorem 4.12.** Let  $h : \mathbb{M} \to \mathbb{R}$  be a measurable function. Under the assumptions from Theorem 4.11 the zero set  $Z(f) = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^m \mid f(x) = 0\}$  is almost surely an (m-k)-dimensional smooth submanifold of M and we have

$$\mathbb{E} \int_{Z(f)\cap U} h(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = \int_U h(x) \rho(x) \, \mathrm{d}x$$

for any measurable subset  $U \subset M$ .

Proof. If  $NJ(f, x) \neq 0$  on  $f^{-1}(0)$ , by Proposition 2.8 the zero set  $Z(f) = f^{-1}(0)$ is a smooth manifold of dimension m - k. This holds almost surely due to our assumption  $\mathbb{P}\{\det(JJ^T) = 0 \mid f(x) = 0\} = 0$ . Let  $\chi_U$  be the indicator function of U. Let  $(U_\alpha, \varphi_\alpha)_{\alpha \in A}$  be an atlas for M and  $\{p_\alpha : U_\alpha \to \mathbb{R}\}_{\alpha \in A}$  be a partition of unity subordinated to  $\{U_\alpha\}_{\alpha \in A}$ . For a fixed  $x \in \varphi_\alpha(U_\alpha)$  let us abbreviate  $g_\alpha := g_\alpha(\varphi_\alpha^{-1}(x))$ . Let  $v_1, \ldots, v_m$  denote an orthonormal basis of  $T_{\varphi_\alpha(x)}M$  so that  $v_1, \ldots, v_{m-k}$  span  $T_xZ(f)$ . Similarly, let  $w_1, \ldots, w_m$  denote an orthonormal basis of  $\mathbb{R}^m$  such that  $T_xZ(f \circ \varphi_\alpha^{-1})$  is spanned by  $w_1, \ldots, w_{m-k}$ . Let us denote by  $C = (c_{i,j}) \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times m}$  the matrix such that  $(\varphi_\alpha^{-1})_*(w_i) = \sum_{i=1}^m c_{i,j}v_j$ . By construction,  $c_{i,j} = 0$  when  $i \leq m - k$  and  $j \geq k$ , so

$$C = \begin{bmatrix} C_1 & 0\\ * & C_2 \end{bmatrix}$$

with matrices  $C_1 \in \mathbb{R}^{(m-k)\times(m-k)}$  and  $C_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{k\times k}$ . We have  $g_\alpha = CC^T$ , so that

$$\det \mathbf{g}_{\alpha} = \det(C_1 C_1^T) \, \det(C_2 C_2^T).$$

By Proposition 2.8 we have  $T_xZ(f) = \ker D_x f$ , so that  $(\rho \circ \varphi_{\alpha}^{-1})(x)\sqrt{\det(C_2C_2^T)}$  is the Kac-Rice density at x of the random map  $f \circ \varphi_{\alpha}^{-1}$ . Setting  $a(x) := \chi_U(x) h(x)$ and using Theorem 4.5 we get

$$\int_{M} a(x)\rho(x) \operatorname{dvol}_{g}(x) = \sum_{\alpha \in A} \int_{\varphi_{\alpha}(U_{\alpha})} \left( (a \cdot \rho \cdot p_{\alpha}) \circ \varphi_{\alpha}^{-1} \right)(x) \sqrt{\det g_{\alpha}(\varphi_{\alpha}^{-1}(x))} \, \mathrm{d}x$$
$$= \mathbb{E} \sum_{\alpha \in A} \int_{Z(f \circ \varphi_{\alpha}^{-1})} \left( (a \cdot p_{\alpha}) \circ \varphi_{\alpha}^{-1} \right)(x) \sqrt{\det(C_{1}C_{1}^{T})} \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

The matrix  $C_1 C_1^T$  describes the metric g restricted to Z(f), so that

$$\int_{M} a(x)\rho(x) \operatorname{dvol}_{g}(x) = \mathbb{E} \sum_{\alpha \in A} \int_{Z(f) \cap U_{\alpha}} \chi_{U}(x) p(x) h(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = \mathbb{E} \int_{Z(f)} \chi_{U}(x) h(x) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

This finishes the proof.

### 4.4 Root density of systems of Kostlan polynomials

As an illustrative example, we compute the Kac-Rice density (Definition 4.10) of a system of  $k \leq n$  independent Kostlan polynomials of degrees  $(d_1, \ldots, d_k)$  defined on the sphere  $S^n$ . Recall from (1.2) that a Kostlan polynomial is a random homogeneous polynomial defined by  $\sum_{|\alpha|=d} \xi_{\alpha} {d \choose \alpha}^{1/2} x^{\alpha}$ , where  $x = (x_0, \ldots, x_n)$  and  $\{\xi_{\alpha}\}$  is a family of i.i.d. N(0, 1) random variables. We denote a system of k independent Kostlan polynomials by

$$f(x) = \begin{bmatrix} \sum_{|\alpha|=d_1} \xi_{\alpha}^{(1)} {\binom{d_1}{\alpha}}^{1/2} x^{\alpha} \\ \vdots \\ \sum_{|\alpha|=d_k} \xi_{\alpha}^{(k)} {\binom{d_k}{\alpha}}^{1/2} x^{\alpha} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (4.10)

We also apply the Kac-Rice formula to f(x) to compute the expected volume of zeros on  $S^n$ . This also computes the volume of zeros in  $\mathbb{R}P^n$ , since

$$\mathbb{E}\operatorname{vol}\{x \in \mathbb{R}P^n \mid f(x) = 0\} = \frac{1}{2} \mathbb{E}\operatorname{vol}\{x \in S^n \mid f(x) = 0\};$$
(4.11)

see the discussion in Subsection 2.2.5. Edelman and Kostlan showed in their seminal paper [7] that in the case of univariate Kostlan polynomials (k = n = 1) of degree d the expected number of zeros of f in  $\mathbb{RP}^1$  is  $\sqrt{d}$ . This is a special case of the general situation in the next theorem.

**Theorem 4.13.** Let f(x) be a system of  $k \leq n$  independent Kostlan polynomials of degrees  $(d_1, \ldots, d_k)$  in n + 1 variables. Then, almost surely the zero set of f is an (n - k)-dimensional submanifold of  $S^n$ , the Kac-Rice density of the real zeros of f is constant and equal to

$$\rho(x) = \frac{\operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{R}P^{n-k})}{\operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{R}P^n)} \sqrt{d_1 \cdots d_k}.$$

The expected volume of the zero set in  $\mathbb{R}P^n$  is

$$\mathbb{E}\operatorname{vol}_{n-k}\{x \in \mathbb{R}\operatorname{P}^n \mid f(x) = 0\} = \operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{R}\operatorname{P}^{n-k})\sqrt{d_1 \cdots d_k}.$$

In particular, if k = n we expect  $\sqrt{d_1 \cdots d_n}$  many zeros.

While in this section we will use the Kac-Rice formula for polynomials defined on the sphere to prove Theorem 4.13, in the next section we will prove Theorem 4.13 by treating polynomials as section of an appropriate line bundle over  $\mathbb{RP}^1$ . Going from the first to the second proof we will make a conceptual jump when introducing the notion of a random section of a vector bundle.

Now, we prove Theorem 4.13.

Proof of Theorem 4.13. By (4.11), the volume of zeros of f in  $\mathbb{R}P^n$  is half the volume of zeros of f in  $S^n$ . We compute the latter. The system of Kostlan polynomials in (4.10) defines a random map on  $S^n$ , which satisfies the assumptions of Theorem 4.11 so that the zero set is almost surely (n - k)-dimensional an

$$\mathbb{E}\operatorname{vol}_{n-k}\{x \in S^n \mid f = 0\} = \int_{S^n} \rho(x) \,\mathrm{d}x.$$

Let us compute the Kac-Rice density  $\rho(x)$ . By Lemma 1.11 we have  $f \sim f \circ U$  for every  $U \in O(n+1)$ , and so  $\rho(Ux) = \rho(x)$ . Moreover, O(n+1) acts transitively on  $S^n$  which shows that  $\rho$  is in fact constant on  $S^n$ . This implies

$$\int_{S^n} \rho(x) \, \mathrm{d}x = \rho(e_0) \operatorname{vol}(S^n),$$

where  $e_0 = (1, 0, ..., 0) \in S^n$ . For computing the root density at  $e_0$ , we recall from that the tangent space of  $S^n$  at  $e_0$  is  $T_{e_0}S^n = e_0^{\perp}$  We choose  $\{e_1, ..., e_n\}$  both as orthonormal basis for  $e_0^{\perp}$  and for  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . The matrix of  $D_{e_0}f$  with respect to these bases is

$$J = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_1}(e_0) & \cdots & \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_n}(e_0) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \sqrt{d_1}\xi_{(d-1,1,0,\dots,0)} & \cdots & \sqrt{d_1}\xi_{(d-1,0,0,\dots,1)} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \sqrt{d_k}\xi_{(d-1,1,0,\dots,0)} & \cdots & \sqrt{d_k}\xi_{(d-1,0,0,\dots,1)} \end{bmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times n}.$$

Furthermore,  $f(e_0) = (\xi_{(d_1, 0, ..., 0)}, \dots, \xi_{(d_k, 0, ..., 0)})^T$  so that it's density at 0 is

$$\phi_{f(x)}(0) = \sqrt{2\pi}^{-k}.$$

We see that J is independent of  $f(e_0)$ . Using  $NJ(f, x) = \sqrt{\det(JJ^T)}$  we get

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sqrt{\det(JJ^T)} \left| f(e_0) = 0\right] = \mathbb{E}\sqrt{\det(JJ^T)} = \sqrt{d_1 \cdots d_k} \mathbb{E}\sqrt{\det(XX^T)}, \quad (4.12)$$

where  $X \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times n}$  is a matrix whose entries are i.i.d. N(0, 1) random variables.

All this implies  $\rho(e_0) = (2\pi)^{-\frac{k}{2}} \sqrt{d_1 \cdots d_k} \mathbb{E} \sqrt{\det(XX^T)}$ , and so

$$\mathbb{E}\operatorname{vol}_{n-k}\{x \in S^n \mid f=0\} = \frac{\operatorname{vol}(S^n)}{\sqrt{2\pi^k}} \sqrt{d_1 \cdots d_k} \mathbb{E}\sqrt{\det(XX^T)}.$$
(4.13)

We consider the case  $d_1 = \cdots = d_k = 1$ , where the system of Kostlan polynomials consists of k linear equations with i.i.d. N(0, 1) coefficients. With probability one the k equations define k hyperplanes in  $\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  in general position so that their intersection is a linear space of dimension n - k + 1. Its intersection with  $S^n$  is a

sphere of dimension (n - k). The expected volume of zeros on the sphere in this case is vol $(S^{n-k})$ . Plugging this into (4.13) we get

$$\operatorname{vol}(S^{n-k}) = \operatorname{vol}(S^n) (2\pi)^{-\frac{n}{2}} \mathbb{E}\sqrt{\operatorname{det}(XX^T)}, \qquad (4.14)$$

so that  $\rho(e_0) = (\operatorname{vol}(S^{n-k})/\operatorname{vol}(S^n)) \sqrt{d_1 \cdots d_k} = (\operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{R}P^{n-k})/\operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{R}P^n)) \sqrt{d_1 \cdots d_k}$ and, consequently,  $\mathbb{E} \operatorname{vol}\{x \in S^n \mid f = 0\} = 2\operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{R}P^{n-k})\sqrt{d_1 \cdots d_k}$ .  $\Box$ 

An important corollary from the proof of Theorem 4.13 is the following result.

**Corollary 4.14.** Let  $X \in \mathbb{R}^{k \times n}$ ,  $k \leq n$ , be a matrix whose entries are *i.i.d.* N(0, 1) random variables. Then,

$$\mathbb{E}\sqrt{\det(XX^T)} = \sqrt{2\pi}^n \frac{\operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{R}P^{n-k})}{\operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{R}P^n)} = \sqrt{2^n \pi^{n-k}} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{n-k+1}{2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{n+1}{2}\right)}.$$

Proof. We have  $\operatorname{vol}(S^{n-k}) = \operatorname{vol}(S^n) (2\pi)^{-\frac{n}{2}} \mathbb{E} \sqrt{\det(XX^T)}$  by (4.14). This yields  $\mathbb{E} \sqrt{\det(XX^T)} = (2\pi)^{\frac{n}{2}} \operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{R}P^{n-k})/\operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{R}P^n)$ . Using from (2.10) that the volume of projective space is  $\operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{R}P^n) = \pi^{\frac{n+1}{2}}/\Gamma\left(\frac{n+1}{2}\right)$  gives the second equality.

In the important special case k = n the corollary gives the expected absolute determinant of a matrix  $X \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  filled with i.i.d. standard normal random variables:  $\mathbb{E} |\det(X)| = \sqrt{2^n \pi^{-1}} \Gamma\left(\frac{n+1}{2}\right)^{-1}$ .

We can use the same strategy to compute the volume of complex zeros in  $\mathbb{C}P^n$ of complex Kostlan polynomials. Let  $k \leq n$  and

$$f(x) = \begin{bmatrix} \sum_{|\alpha|=d_1} \zeta_{\alpha}^{(1)} {\binom{d}{\alpha}}^{1/2} x^{\alpha} \\ \vdots \\ \sum_{|\alpha|=d_k} \zeta_{\alpha}^{(k)} {\binom{d}{\alpha}}^{1/2} x^{\alpha} \end{bmatrix},$$

where the  $\zeta_{\alpha}^{(i)}$  are i.i.d. complex Gaussian random variables (a complex Gaussian random variable is of the form  $\zeta = \xi_1 + \sqrt{-1}\xi_2$ , where  $\xi_1$  and  $\xi_2$  are independent and both N(0,1)). Using the Kac-Rice formula we can show that the zero set of  $f(x) \in \mathbb{CP}^n$  is almost surely an (n-k)-dimensional submanifold of expected volume  $\mathbb{E} \operatorname{vol}_{n-k} \{x \in \mathbb{CP}^n \mid f(x) = 0\} = d_1 \cdots d_k$ . The reason why we don't get the square root as in Theorem 4.13 is Lemma 2.28: if  $J = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_1}(e_0) \cdots & \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_n}(e_0) \end{bmatrix}$  is the matrix of *complex derivatives* of f at  $e_0$ , the expected value in (4.12) becomes  $\mathbb{E} \det(JJ^T) = d_1 \cdots d_k \mathbb{E} |\det(XX^T)|$ , where  $X \in \mathbb{C}^{k \times n}$  is a complex Gaussian matrix. In fact, the volume of the zero set is generic, because it is locally constant on the complement of the discriminant consisting of polynomial systems f whose

zero set has a singular point, which by Lemma 1.5 is connected. Therefore, we have

 $\operatorname{vol}_{n-k} \{ x \in \mathbb{C} \mathbb{P}^n \mid f(x) = 0 \} = d_1 \cdots d_k \text{ almost surely.}$ (4.15)

In the case n = k this number is  $d_1 \cdots d_n$ , which is the *generic* number of complex zeros of f(x). Indeed, the number  $d_1 \cdots d_n$  is implied by Bézout's theorem. But Bézout's theorem gives in fact more: it asserts that, if the number of zeros of f(x) is finite, then it has  $d_1 \cdots d_n$  zeros counted with multiplicity. The result in (4.15) is weaker in this regard: it only shows that the the number of zeros of a *generic* system is  $d_1 \cdots d_n$ . On the other hand, (4.15) is also stronger than the Bézout theorem, because it also measures the number of solutions in the case k < n.

### 4.5 Random sections of vector bundles

In the final section of this chapter we develop the most general version of the Kac-Rice formula. While Theorem 4.11 generalizes the Kac-Rice formula from random maps on Euclidean spaces to random maps on manifolds, here we take the next conceptual step: we measure the zero set of *random sections* of vector bundles. Let us first recall the definition and basic properties of vector bundles.

**Definition 4.15** (Vector bundles). A vector bundle of rank k is a triple  $(\pi, E, M)$  where E and M are smooth manifolds and

$$\pi: E \to M$$

is a submersion such that there is an open cover  $M = \bigcup_{\alpha \in A} V_{\alpha}$  and diffeomorphisms  $\psi_{\alpha} : \pi^{-1}(V_{\alpha}) \to V_{\alpha} \times \mathbb{R}^{k}$  with the following two properties:

(1) The following diagram is commutative,  $p_1$  is the projection on the first factor:



(2) Whenever  $V_{\alpha} \cap V_{\beta} \neq \emptyset$ , there is a continuous map  $g_{\alpha\beta} : V_{\alpha} \cap V_{\beta} \to \operatorname{GL}(\mathbb{R}^k)$ such that the map  $\psi_{\alpha} \circ \psi_{\beta}^{-1} : (V_{\alpha} \cap V_{\beta}) \times \mathbb{R}^k \to (V_{\alpha} \cap V_{\beta}) \times \mathbb{R}^k$  is given by  $(x, v) \mapsto (x, g_{\alpha\beta}(x) \cdot v)$ .

The family  $\{(V_{\alpha}, \psi_{\alpha})\}_{\alpha \in A}$  is called a *vector bundle atlas*, and each  $\psi_{\alpha}$  is called a *trivialization*.

Let  $(\pi, E, M)$  be a vector bundle. We call M the base space of the bundle. The fiber over  $x \in M$  is the vector space

$$E_x := \pi^{-1}(x).$$

The family  $\{g_{\alpha\beta}\}_{\alpha,\beta\in A}$  is called the *cocycle* of the bundle and satisfies  $g_{\alpha\alpha}(x) = \mathbf{1}$ and  $g_{\alpha\beta}(x)g_{\beta\gamma}(x) = g_{\alpha\gamma}(x)$ .

**Definition 4.16** (Sections). Let  $\pi : E \to M$  be a vector bundle. A section of E is a smooth map  $s : M \to E$  such that  $\pi(s(x)) = x$  for every  $x \in M$ . The zero section is the section that associates to every point  $x \in M$  the zero vector in  $E_x$ .

Similar to the definition of random maps we now introduce the notion of a random section: a finite set  $\mathcal{F} = \text{span} \{\sigma_0, \sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_\ell\}$  of sections defines the random section

$$\sigma = \sigma_0 + \xi_1 \sigma_1 + \dots + \xi_\ell \sigma_\ell$$

with  $\{\xi_k\}_{k=1,\ldots,\ell}$  a family of i.i.d. standard real gaussian variables. In particular, if we have the trivial bundle  $M \times \mathbb{R}^k$  this reduces to a random map on M. For the vector bundle analogue of the Kac-Rice density, we work with the next definition.

**Definition 4.17** (Riemannian vector bundle). A *Riemannian vector bundle* of rank k is a vector bundle  $(\pi, E, M)$  of rank k, where  $(E, \tilde{g})$  and (M, g) are Riemannian manifolds such that  $\pi : E \to M$  is a Riemannian submersion.

If  $(\pi, E, M)$  is a Riemannian vector bundle of rank k, we have the orthogonal decomposition  $T_z E \cong T_x M \oplus \mathbb{R}^k$ , where  $x = \pi(z)$ . Let  $\{(V_\alpha, \psi_\alpha)\}_{\alpha \in A}$  be a vector bundle atlas with vector bundle trivializations  $\psi_\alpha : \pi^{-1}(V_\alpha) \to V_\alpha \times V_\alpha \times \mathbb{R}^k$ . For every  $\alpha$  we define the local section

$$\sigma_{\alpha} := \psi_{\alpha} \circ \sigma|_{V_{\alpha}} : V_{\alpha} \to \mathbb{R}^{k}, \tag{4.16}$$

First, we define the local Kac-Rice density for random sections.

**Definition 4.18.** Let  $\{(V_{\alpha}, \psi_{\alpha})\}_{\alpha \in A}$  be a vector bundle atlas for E. The Kac-Rice density at  $V_{\alpha}$  of the collections of sections  $\mathcal{F}$  at  $x \in V_{\alpha}$  is

$$\rho_{\alpha}(x) = \mathbb{E}\left[\mathrm{NJ}(\sigma_{\alpha}, x) \middle| \sigma_{\alpha}(x) = 0\right] \cdot \phi_{\sigma_{\alpha}(x)}(0)$$

where  $\phi_{\sigma_{\alpha}(x)}(x)$  is the density of the random vector  $\sigma_{\alpha}(x)$  evaluated at zero.

We need the local definition together with the following proposition to get a global notion for the Kac-Rice density.

**Proposition 4.19.** For every  $\alpha, \beta \in A$  such that  $V_{\alpha} \cap V_{\beta} \neq \emptyset$  we have for almost all  $x \in V_{\alpha} \cap V_{\beta}$  that  $\rho_{\alpha}(x) = \rho_{\beta}(x)$ .

Proof. For every  $\alpha$  the map  $p_2 \circ \sigma_\alpha$  satisfies the assumptions of Theorem 4.11. Moreover,  $\sigma_\alpha = \operatorname{id}_{V_\alpha} \times (p_2 \circ \sigma_\alpha)$  so that  $\operatorname{NJ}(\sigma_\alpha, x) = \operatorname{NJ}(p_2 \circ \sigma_\alpha, x)$ . We therefore have  $\mathbb{E} \operatorname{vol}\{x \in U \mid \sigma_\alpha(x) = 0\} = \int_U \rho_\alpha(x) \operatorname{dvol}_g(x)$  for every measurable subset  $U \subset V_\alpha$ . For every pair  $\alpha, \beta$  we  $\sigma_\alpha(x) = 0$  if and only if  $\sigma_\beta(x) = 0$ . This shows that for  $U \subset V_\alpha \cap V_\beta$  we have  $\int_U \rho_\alpha(x) \operatorname{dvol}_g(x) = \int_U \rho_\beta(x) \operatorname{dvol}_g(x)$ . Since this equality holds for all measurable subsets we see that  $\rho_\alpha(x) = \rho_\beta(x)$  for almost all  $x \in V_\alpha \cap V_\beta$ .  $\Box$ 

The proposition shows that the following definition does not depend on the partition of unity up to sets of measure zero.

**Definition 4.20** (The Kac-Rice density for random sections of vector bundles). Let  $\{(V_{\alpha}, \psi_{\alpha})\}_{\alpha \in A}$  be a vector bundle atlas for E and  $\{q_{\alpha} : V_{\alpha} \to \mathbb{R}\}_{\alpha \in A}$  be a partition of unity subordinated to the open cover  $M = \bigcup_{\alpha \in A} V_{\alpha}$ . Then, the Kac-Rice density of the collections of sections  $\mathcal{F}$  at  $x \in M$  is

$$\rho(x) = \sum_{\alpha \in A} q_{\alpha}(x) \rho_{\alpha}(x).$$

Now comes the Kac-Rice formula for vector bundles.

**Theorem 4.21** (Kac-Rice formulas for random sections of vector bundles). Let  $\ell, m \geq k$ . Let  $(\pi, E, M)$  be a Riemannian vector bundle of rank-k. Let  $m := \dim M$  and  $\{(V_{\alpha}, \psi_{\alpha})\}_{\alpha \in A}$  be a vector bundle atlas for the bundle. Let  $\sigma : M \to E$  be a random section of E defined by the family of sections  $\mathfrak{F}, \#\mathfrak{F} = \ell + 1$ . Assume that for almost all  $x \in M$ :

- (1)  $\sigma$  is nondegenerate (i.e.,  $\mathbb{E}(\sigma(x) \sigma_0(x))^T(\sigma(x) \sigma_0(x)) \succ 0)$ ;
- (2)  $\mathbb{P}\{\mathrm{NJ}(\sigma_{\alpha}, x) = 0 \mid \sigma_{\alpha}(x) = 0\} = 0 \text{ for every } \alpha \in A.$

Then, almost surely the zero set of  $\sigma$  is a (m-k)-dimensional submanifold of Mand we have for every measurable set  $U \subset M$ :

$$\mathbb{E}\operatorname{vol}\{x \in U \mid \sigma(x) = 0\} = \int_{U} \rho(x) \operatorname{dvol}_{g}(x)$$

Proof. Let  $\{q_{\alpha} : V_{\alpha} \to \mathbb{R}\}_{\alpha \in A}$  be a partition of unity subordinated to the open cover  $M = \bigcup_{\alpha \in A} V_{\alpha}$ . For every  $\alpha$  we have  $\operatorname{NJ}(\sigma_{\alpha}, x) \neq 0$  on  $f^{-1}(0)$  almost surely, so that Proposition 2.8 implies that the zero set  $Z(\sigma_{\alpha}) = f^{-1}(0)$  is a smooth manifold of dimension m - k. We have  $Z(\sigma_{\alpha}) = Z(\sigma) \cap V_{\alpha}$ , so that we can use the atlas of each  $Z(\sigma_{\alpha})$  to define an atlas for  $Z(\sigma)$ . This shows that the zero set

of  $\sigma$  is also a smooth manifold of dimension m - k. Furthermore,  $\sigma_{\alpha}$  satisfies the assumptions of Theorem 4.12 so that

$$\int_{U \cap V_{\alpha}} q_{\alpha}(x) \rho_{\alpha}(x) \operatorname{dvol}_{g}(x) = \mathbb{E} \int_{Z(\sigma_{\alpha}) \cap U \cap V_{\alpha}} q_{\alpha}(x) \, \mathrm{d}x,$$

Then,

$$\int_{U} \rho(x) \operatorname{dvol}_{g}(x) = \sum_{\alpha \in A} \int_{U \cap V_{\alpha}} q_{\alpha}(x) \rho_{\alpha}(x) \operatorname{dvol}_{g}(x)$$
$$= \sum_{\alpha \in A} \mathbb{E} \int_{\int_{Z(\sigma_{\alpha}) \cap U \cap V_{\alpha}}} q_{\alpha}(x) \operatorname{d}x$$
$$= \sum_{\alpha \in A} q_{\alpha}(x) \mathbb{E} \operatorname{vol}\{x \in U \cap V_{\alpha} \mid \sigma(x) = 0\}$$
$$= \mathbb{E} \operatorname{vol}\{x \in U \mid \sigma(x) = 0\}.$$

This finishes the proof.

To illustrate the theorem let us discuss how to prove Theorem 4.13 using vector bundles. To simplify, let us restrict to the case when we have one Kostlan polynomial f in n + 1 many variables.

For this we introduce the real line bundle

$$\pi: \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{R}P^n}(d) \to \mathbb{R}P^n \tag{4.17}$$

defined as follows: we cover  $\mathbb{R}P^n$  with the open sets  $V_i = \{ [x_0 : \ldots : x_n] | x_i \neq 0 \}$ and define the cocycle  $h_{ij} : VU_i \cap V_j \to \operatorname{GL}(\mathbb{R}), [x_0 : \cdots : x_n] \mapsto (\frac{x_i}{x_j})^d$ . As a topological space  $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{R}P^1}(d)$  is defined to be the quotient topological space:

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{R}\mathrm{P}^n}(d) = \left(\bigsqcup_{i=0}^n V_i \times \mathbb{R}\right) / \sim,$$

where we identify  $(x, v) \in V_i \times \mathbb{R}$  with  $(x, w) \in V_j \times \mathbb{R}$  if and only if  $h_{i,j}(x)v = w$ . The projection map in (4.17) is  $\pi(x, v) = x$ . The Kostlan polynomial f defines a local random section  $\sigma_i : V_i \to V_i \times \mathbb{R}$  by  $\sigma_i(x) = f(\frac{x_0}{x_i}, \ldots, \frac{x_n}{x_i})$ . If  $\psi_i, \psi_j$  denote the trivializations on  $U_i$  and  $U_j$ , we have

$$\psi_1 \psi_0^{-1} \left( \sigma_i(x) \right) = \left( x, \left( \frac{x_i}{x_j} \right)^d f\left( \frac{x_0}{x_i}, \dots, \frac{x_n}{x_i} \right) \right) = \left( x, f\left( \frac{x_0}{x_j}, \dots, \frac{x_n}{x_j} \right) \right) = \sigma_j(x).$$

which implies that the two local sections agree on their overlap. We can therefore the global section  $\sigma_f$  which takes the value  $(\psi_i^{-1} \circ \sigma_i)(x)$  on  $V_i$ . By definition,

the local sections as defined in (4.16) are  $\sigma_i = \psi_i \circ \sigma$ . We can therefore apply Theorem 4.21 to conclude that  $\mathbb{E} \operatorname{vol} \{x \in \mathbb{R}P^n \mid \sigma_f(x) = 0\} = \int_U \rho(x) \, \mathrm{d}x$ . Lemma 1.11 implies that the Kac-Rice density is constant on  $\mathbb{R}P^n$  so that we have  $\mathbb{E} \operatorname{vol} \{x \in \mathbb{R}P^n \mid \sigma_f(x) = 0\} = \operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{R}P^n) \rho(e_0)$ . The value of the Kac-Rice density is computed as in the proof of Theorem 4.13.

### 4.6 There are $6\sqrt{2} - 3$ lines on a real cubic surface

We use the Kac-Rice formula for vector bundles to show [28, Theorem 5], which computes the expected number of lines contained in the cubic surface  $Z(f) \subset \mathbb{RP}^3$ , where f is a Kostlan polynomial of degree 3 in 4 variables. We have discussed in Example 1.7 that, generically, a cubic surface in  $\mathbb{RP}^3$  can contain either 27, 15, 7 or 3 real lines. We show the following for Kostlan polynomials.

**Theorem 4.22.** The expected number of lines on a cubic surface in  $\mathbb{R}P^n$  defined by a Kostlan polynomial of degree 3 in 4 variables is  $6\sqrt{2} - 3$ .

Let us put the problem of counting real lines on hypersurfaces in the above framework of measuring zero sets of sections on vector bundles. Let  $\mathbb{G}(1,3)$  be the Grassmannian of lines in  $\mathbb{R}P^3$ . Every line  $L \in \mathbb{G}(1,3)$  corresponds to a twodimensional linear space  $\hat{L}$ . This way we can identify  $\mathbb{G}(1,3) \cong G(2,4)$ , where the latter is the Grassmanian of two-dimensional linear spaces in  $\mathbb{R}^4$  (see (5.2)). We we put the manifold structure quotient manifold structure on  $\mathbb{G}(1,3) \cong G(2,4)$  (see Section 5.4) so the Grassmanian admits the structure of a homogenous O(4)-space with a left- and right-invariant Riemannian metric.

Let us consider the vector bundle

$$\pi: E \to \mathbb{G}(1,3),$$

where at  $L \in \mathbb{G}(1,3)$  the fiber  $E_L$  is the set of homogeneous cubic polynomials in four variables restricted to L. The vector bundle structure is defined as follows. Consider the open cover  $\mathbb{G}(1,3) \cong G(2,4) = \bigcup_{1 \le i \le j \le 4} V_{i,j}$  defined by charts

$$\varphi_{i,j}^{-1} : \mathbb{R}^{2 \times 2} \to V_{i,j}, \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \mapsto \operatorname{rowspan} \left( \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & a & b \\ 0 & 1 & c & d \end{bmatrix} P_{i,j} \right),$$
(4.18)

where  $P_{i,j}$  is the matrix for the permutation interchanging 1 with *i* and 2 with *j*. We have the trivializations  $\psi_{i,j} : \pi^{-1}(V_{i,j}) \to V_{i,j} \times \mathbb{R}[s,t]_{(3)}$  defined for  $\varphi_{i,j}(L) = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix}$  by evaluating a polynomial *h* at these variables:

$$h(x_0, x_1, x_2, x_3)|_L \mapsto h\Big( \begin{bmatrix} s & t \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & a & b \\ 0 & 1 & c & d \end{bmatrix} P_{i,j} \Big).$$

The cocycles of E are  $g_{(i,j),(\ell,k)}(L,f) = (L, f \circ A^T_{(i,j),(k,\ell)})$ , where  $A_{(i,j),(k,\ell)} \in \mathbb{R}^{2 \times 2}$  is the matrix such that

$$A_{(i,j)(k,\ell)} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & a & b \\ 0 & 1 & c & d \end{bmatrix} P_{i,j} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & a & b \\ 0 & 1 & c & d \end{bmatrix} P_{k,\ell}.$$

We need the following lemma.

**Lemma 4.23.** For every  $1 \le i < j \le 4$  the derivative of  $\varphi_{i,j}^{-1}$  at  $0 \in \mathbb{R}^{2 \times 2}$  is an orthogonal linear map.

*Proof.* It is enough to prove this for i = 1, j = 2, because the matrices  $P_{i,j}$  are orthogonal matrices and the orthogonal group acts on G(k, n) by isometries. Let  $\varphi := \varphi_{1,2}$  and

$$L_0 := \varphi^{-1}(0) = \operatorname{span}\{(1, 0, 0, 0)^T, (0, 1, 0, 0)^T\}.$$

If  $\varphi : O(4) \to G(2,4)$  is the quotient map, we have  $\pi(\mathbf{1}_4) = L_0$ , where  $\mathbf{1}_4$  is the  $4 \times 4$  identity matrix.

Let us consider the following four curves in  $\mathbb{R}^{2\times 2}$ .

$$\gamma_1(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \sin(t) & 0 \\ 0 & \sin(t) \end{bmatrix}, \ \gamma_2(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \sin(t) & 0 \\ 0 & -\sin(t) \end{bmatrix},$$
$$\gamma_3(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \sin(t) \\ \sin(t) & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \ \gamma_4(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \sin(t) \\ -\sin(t) & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Their derivatives at t = 0 span  $\mathbb{R}^{2 \times 2}$  and they define the curves

$$\theta_i(t) := \cos(t)\mathbf{1}_4 + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -\gamma_i(t) \\ \gamma_i(t) & 0 \end{bmatrix} \in O(4).$$

We have  $\theta_i(0) = \mathbf{1}_4$  for all *i* and  $(\varphi^{-1} \circ \gamma_i)(t) = (\pi \circ \theta_i)(t)$ , so that

$$\mathrm{D}_0\varphi^{-1}(\gamma_i'(0)) = \mathrm{D}_{\mathbf{1}_4}\pi(\theta_i'(0)).$$

The derivatives  $\theta'_i(0) \in T_1O(n)$  satisfy

$$\theta_i'(0) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -\gamma_i'(0) \\ \gamma_i'(0) & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Following (5.3), we see that  $D_{1_4}\pi(\theta'_i(0)) = D_0\varphi^{-1}(\gamma'_i(0)) = \gamma'_i(0)$ , which shows that  $D_0\varphi^{-1}$  is the identity with respect to a choice of orthonormal basis of  $\mathbb{R}^{2\times 2}$ , hence an orthogonal linear map.

Let us now pick a random Kostlan polynomial

$$f(x) = \sum_{|\alpha|=3} \xi_{\alpha} \cdot \left(\frac{3!}{\alpha_0! \alpha_1! \alpha_2! \alpha_3!}\right)^{1/2} x_0^{\alpha_0} x_1^{\alpha_1} x_2^{\alpha_0} x_3^{\alpha_3}$$

where  $\{\xi_{\alpha}\}_{|\alpha|=3}$  is a family of i.i.d. standard real gaussian variables. The zero set  $Z(f) \subset \mathbb{R}P^3$  is a random real cubic surface. The random polynomial f defines a random section  $\sigma_f : \mathbb{G}(1,3) \to E$  by restriction  $\sigma_f(L) = (L, f|_L)$  and we have

{real lines on Z(f)} = {zeros of  $\sigma_f$ }.

Proof of Theorem 4.22. We can use Theorem 4.21 for computing the expectation of the number of lines as  $\mathbb{E} \# \{ \text{real lines on } Z(f) \} = \int_{\mathbb{G}(1,3)} \rho(L) \, dL$ . Since  $f \sim f \circ U$ for every  $U \in O(4)$  by Lemma 1.11, the Kac-Rice density is constant and we have

$$\mathbb{E} \# \{ \text{real lines on } Z(f) \} = \operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{G}(1,3)) \rho(L_0), \qquad (4.19)$$

where  $L_0 = \operatorname{rowspan}(\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix})$ . Let us compute  $\rho(L_0)$ . Locally around  $L_0$  we have the chart  $\varphi := \varphi_{(1,2)}$  as defined in (4.18):  $\varphi^{-1}(\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix}) = \operatorname{rowspan}(\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & a & b \\ 0 & 1 & c & d \end{bmatrix})$ . The trivialization  $\psi := \psi_{(1,2)}$  is given by

$$\psi(L, h(x_0, x_1, x_2, x_3)|_L) := (L, h(s, t, sa + tc, sb + td)), \text{ where } \varphi(L) = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix}.$$

As basis for the vector space of cubics we take  $\mathcal{B} = \{s^i t^{3-i} \mid 0 \le i \le 3\}$ . We have  $L_0 = \varphi^{-1}(0)$  and we have

$$\sigma_f(L) = \left(L, \sum_{|\alpha|=3} \xi_{\alpha} \cdot {\binom{3}{\alpha}}^{1/2} s^{\alpha_0} t^{\alpha_1} (sa+tc)^{\alpha_2} (sb+td)^{\alpha_3} \right).$$

Taking derivatives of the second component with respect to the variables a, b, c, d, evaluating at 0 and representing them as vectors with respect to the basis  $\mathcal{B}$  gives

$$M := \sqrt{3} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \xi_{(0,2,1,0)} & 0 & \xi_{(0,2,0,1)} \\ \xi_{(0,2,1,0)} & \sqrt{2} \xi_{(1,1,1,0)} & \xi_{(0,2,0,1)} & \sqrt{2} \xi_{(1,1,0,1)} \\ \sqrt{2} \xi_{(1,1,1,0)} & \xi_{(2,0,1,0)} & \sqrt{2} \xi_{(1,1,0,1)} & \xi_{(2,0,0,1)} \\ \xi_{(2,0,1,0)} & 0 & \xi_{(2,0,0,1)} & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

This matrix represents  $D_0(\psi \circ \sigma_f \circ \varphi^{-1})$  with respect to the chosen bases. Moreover,

$$NJ(\psi \circ \sigma_f, L_0) = |\det M|,$$

because  $D_{L_0}\varphi$  is orthogonal as we have shown in Lemma 4.23. Moreover, we

observe the second component of  $\sigma_f(L_0)$  is  $\sum_{i=0}^{3} \xi_{(i,3-i,0,0)} {\binom{3}{\alpha}}^{1/2} s^i t^{3-i}$ , which is independent of the random matrix above. The density of this random vector with respect to the basis  $\mathcal{B}$  is the density of  $(\xi_{(0,3,0,0)}, \sqrt{3} \xi_{(1,2,0,0)}, \sqrt{3} \xi_{(2,1,0,0)}, \xi_{(3,0,0,0)})$ . The density of this random vector evaluated at zero is  $(2\pi)^{-1}(6\pi)^{-1}$ . Therefore,

$$\rho(L_0) = \mathbb{E}[|\det(M)| \mid \sigma_f(L_0) = 0] \cdot \frac{1}{12\pi^2} = \mathbb{E} |\det(M)| \cdot \frac{1}{12\pi^2}.$$

In [28, Section 3] it is shown that  $\mathbb{E} |\det(M)| = 3^2(4\sqrt{2}-2)$ , so that

$$\rho(L_0) = \frac{3^2(4\sqrt{2}-2)}{12\pi^2} = \frac{6\sqrt{2}-3}{2\pi^2}.$$

Using from (5.4) that  $vol(G(2,4)) = 2\pi^2$  and (4.19) we get  $6\sqrt{2}-3$  as the expected number of lines.

A situation that we will often encounter in these lectures is when a manifold is a *homogeneous space*. In the first two sections of this chapter we recall the basic definitions and properties of Lie groups and homogeneous spaces. For a more detailed treatment of this subject we refer to [21, Section 7 & Section 21]. We start with the definition of Lie groups.

### 5.1 Lie groups

A Lie group G is a smooth manifold that is also a group, such that the multiplication mul:  $G \times G \to G, (g, h) \mapsto gh$  and the inversion  $i: G \to G, g \mapsto g^{-1}$  are smooth maps. Let  $g \in G$ . We define the left- and right-translation of g to be the maps

$$L_q: G \to G, h \mapsto gh$$
, and  $R_q: G \to G, h \mapsto hg$ .

As  $L_g = \text{mul} \circ (h \mapsto (g, h))$  is a composition of smooth maps it is smooth. Furthermore,  $L_g$  has the smooth inverse  $L_{g^{-1}}$ , so that  $L_g$  is in fact a diffeomorphism. Similarly,  $R_g$  is an isomorphism. For  $g, h \in G$  and  $v \in T_h G$  we write  $D_h L_g(v) =: gv$ . Similarly,  $D_g R_g(v) =: vg$ .

**Example 5.1.** Examples of Lie groups are  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with the smooth Euclidean structure and vector addition as group operation, the general linear group  $\operatorname{GL}(n, \mathbb{R})$  with the smooth structure inherited from  $\mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  with matrix multiplication as group operation, and the orthogonal group O(n) as a submanifold of  $\operatorname{GL}(n, \mathbb{R})$ . Similarly,  $\operatorname{GL}(n, \mathbb{C})$  and the unitary group U(n) are Lie groups.

Let G be a Lie group of dimension m, and let  $e \in G$  be the identity element. For every  $g \in G$ , left-translation is a diffeomorphism, which implies that the derivative  $D_e L_g$  is invertible. Consequently, we have  $T_g G = D_e L_g(T_e G) = g T_e G$ . This implies

$$T_g G = (gh^{-1}) T_h G, \quad \text{for } g, h \in G.$$

$$(5.1)$$

### 5.2 The Haar measure

We discuss how to define a left-invariant Riemannian structure on a Lie group G. Let  $m := \dim(G)$ . We choose any basis  $\{u_1, \ldots, u_n\}$  of  $T_eG$ . We define an inner product on  $T_eG$  by declaring this basis to be orthonormal:

$$g(e)\Big(\sum_{i=1}^m \lambda_i u_i, \sum_{i=1}^m \mu_i u_i\Big) := \sum_{i=1}^m \lambda_i \mu_i.$$

This defines a Riemannian metric g on G in the following way: for  $g \in G$  we set

$$g(g)(v,w) := g(e)(g^{-1}v, g^{-1}w), \text{ for } v, w \in T_gG,$$

which is well-defined by (5.1). By construction, the Riemannian metric is *left-invariant* and with respect to this metric any left-translation  $L_g : G \to G$  is an isometry. The left-invariant metric defines a left-invariant measure on G by Definition 2.24, called the *Haar measure* on G.

The next result states that, despite making a choice of basis above, the resulting measure is unique up to scaling.

### **Theorem 5.2.** There is a unique left-invariant measure on G up to scaling.

*Proof.* The existence of such a measure is given by the construction above. For uniqueness let  $\mu$  and  $\nu$  be two left-invariant measures on G. We have for any measurable set  $U \subset G$  that  $\mu(U) + \nu(U) = 0$  implies  $\mu(U) = 0$ . Hence,  $\mu$  is absolutely continuous with respect to  $\mu + \nu$ . The Radon-Nikodym theorem (see, e.g., [10, Section 23]) implies that there exists a measurable function  $\phi : G \to \mathbb{R}$ with  $\mu = \phi (\mu + \nu)$ . We show that  $\phi$  is constant  $(\mu + \nu)$ -almost everywhere: for any measurable subset  $W \subset G$  and every  $g \in G$  we have

$$\mu(L_g(W)) = \int_{L_g(W)} \phi \,\mathrm{d}(\mu + \nu) = \int_W (\phi \circ L_g) \,\mathrm{d}(\mu + \nu),$$

by left-invariance of  $\mu + \nu$ . On the other hand, by left-invariance of  $\mu$ , we have  $\mu(L_g(W)) = \mu(W) = \int_W \phi \, \mathrm{d}(\mu + \nu)$ , and so  $\int_W \left( (\phi \circ L_g) - \phi \right) \, \mathrm{d}(\mu + \nu) = 0$ , which implies that  $(\phi \circ L_g) - \phi = 0$  almost everywhere.

A consequence of this theorem is that there is a *unique* left-invariant probability measure on G (if it exists).

**Corollary 5.3.** Let G be a Lie group. Then, there is a unique left-invariant probability measure on G (if it exists).

*Proof.* Let G be a Lie group and  $\mathbb{P}$  and  $\mathbb{P}$  be two left-invariant probability measures on G. By Theorem 5.2, they are multiples of each other, so there exists  $c \neq 0$  with  $\mathbb{P} = c \cdot \tilde{\mathbb{P}}$ . This implies  $1 = \mathbb{P}(G) = c \cdot \tilde{\mathbb{P}}(G) = c$ , so  $\mathbb{P} = \tilde{\mathbb{P}}$ .

In the following, we denote by vol the left-invariant measure on G that we have constructed above, after declaring some basis in  $\mathfrak{g}$  to be orthonormal. Then, for every  $g \in G$  the measure  $\mu(A) := \operatorname{vol}(R_g(A)) = \operatorname{vol}(Ag)$  is also left-invariant. Since G is locally compact, there exists a measurable subset  $A \subseteq G$  with the property that  $0 < \operatorname{vol}(A) < \infty$ . Hence, by Theorem 5.2 there exists a real number m(g)such that  $\mu = m(g)$  vol. This defines the so-called modular function.

**Definition 5.4.** The modular function of G is defined by

$$m(g) := \frac{\operatorname{vol}(Ag)}{\operatorname{vol}(A)}, \quad A \subseteq G, \ 0 < \operatorname{vol}(A) < \infty.$$

Here are some basic properties of the modular function.

**Lemma 5.5.** Let G be a Lie group.

- (1) The modular function is a group homomorphism  $m: G \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ .
- (2) If  $vol(G) < \infty$ , then m is constant and equal to one.

*Proof.* We have  $m : G \to \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$  since volumes are nonnegative. Let  $A \subseteq G$  be measurable with  $0 < \operatorname{vol}(A) < \infty$ . For every  $g \in G$  right-translation  $R_g : G \to G$  is a diffemorphism, which implies  $0 < \operatorname{vol}(Ag) < \infty$ . Then, for  $g, h \in G$  we have

$$m(gh) = \frac{\operatorname{vol}(Agh)}{\operatorname{vol}(A)} = \frac{\operatorname{vol}(Agh)}{\operatorname{vol}(Ag)} \frac{\operatorname{vol}(Ag)}{\operatorname{vol}(A)} = m(g)m(h).$$

If m(g) = 0 for some  $g \in G$ , then  $1 = m(e) = m(g)m(g^{-1}) = 0$ , which is a contradiction. Hence m(g) > 0 for every g. This settles the first part of the lemma. For the second part we use A = G to get  $m(g) = \operatorname{vol}(Gg)/\operatorname{vol}(G) = 1$ .  $\Box$ 

In particular, this shows that compact Lie groups are unimodular.

*Exercise* 5.1. Prove that a discrete group is unimodular.

### 5.3 Volumes of homogeneous spaces

Let G be a Lie group and M be a smooth manifold. We say that G acts on M, if we have a group action  $G \times M \to M$ ,  $(g, x) \mapsto g \cdot x$  that is smooth and transitive,

meaning that for all  $x, y \in M$  we can find  $g \in G$  such that  $g \cdot x = y$ . In this case, we say that M is a homogeneous space. We denote  $\mathbf{0} := H = \pi(e) \in M$ . As for Lie groups we write  $L_g : M \to M, x \mapsto g \cdot x$ , and we write  $D_x L_g(v) =: gv, v \in T_x M$ .

If M is a Riemannian manifold and G is endowed with a left-invariant metric, and for every  $g \in G$  the map  $L_g$  is an isometry, we say that G acts on Misometrically and we call M a *Riemannian homogeneous space*.

Here are some examples of homogeneous spaces.

**Example 5.6.** The orthogonal group O(n) acts isometrically on the sphere  $S^{n-1}$  and on projective space  $\mathbb{R}P^{n-1}$ . The unitary group U(n) acts isometrically on the sphere  $S^{2n-1}$  and on complex projective space  $\mathbb{C}P^{n-1}$ . In general, every Lie group acts isometrically on itself.

The next two results imply that quotients of Lie groups completely classify homogeneous spaces. The first is [21, Theorem 21.17]

**Theorem 5.7.** Let G be a Lie group and let  $H \subset G$  be a closed subgroup. The left coset space G/H is a topological manifold of dimension equal to  $\dim(G) - \dim(H)$ , and it has a unique smooth structure such that the quotient map  $\pi : G \mapsto G/H$ is a smooth submersion. The quotien G/H us a homogeneous space under the left action of G on G/H.

In the following we will always assume that the quotient space is endowed with the unique smooth structure from Theorem 5.7. In fact, all homogeneous spaces arise in this way, as next Theorem says. To state the theorem we need to define for  $p \in M$  the *isotropy group* 

$$G_p := \{ g \in G \mid g \cdot p = p \}.$$

For a proof of the following result see [21, Theorem 21.18].

**Theorem 5.8.** Let G be a Lie group, M be a homogeneous G-space and  $p \in M$ . The isotropy group  $G_p$  is a closed subgroup of G, and

$$\phi_p: G/G_p \to M, \quad gG_p \mapsto g \cdot p$$

is an equivariant diffeomorphism.

A natural way to build *Riemannian* homogeneous G-spaces is to start with a Lie group G endowed with a left invariant Riemannian metric, which is also *right* invariant under the action of a compact subgroup H.

5 Homogeneous spaces and integral geometry

**Proposition 5.9.** Let G be a Lie group with a left-invariant Riemannian metric which is right invariant for a closed subgroup H. This metric induces a unique Riemannian metric on the homogeneous space G/H that makes the quotient map  $\pi: G \to G/H$  a Riemannian submersion.

*Proof.* The required metric is built as follows. Given an element  $p \in G/H$ , chose an element  $g \in G$  such that  $\pi(g) = p$ . Then  $D_g \pi|_{(\ker D_g \pi)^{\perp}} : (\ker D_g \pi)^{\perp} \to T_p(G/H)$  is a linear isomorphism and there is a unique way to declare it to be a Euclidean isometry. We show that the induced metric on  $T_p(G/H)$  does not depend on the choice of g such that  $\pi(g) = p$ , so that we get a well-defined Riemannian submersion.

The invariance of the metric on G under the action of H induces an isometry by right-translation  $R_h: G \to G$  for every  $h \in H$ . For  $g, g' \in G$  such that g' = ghwe then have an Euclidean isometry

$$D_q R_h : T_q G \to T_{q'} G, v \mapsto vh$$

Let  $v \in \ker D_g \pi$ . We show that  $vh \in \ker D_{g'}\pi$ . This would imply that  $D_g R_h$  maps  $(\ker D_g \pi)^{\perp}$  isometrically to  $(\ker D_{g'}\pi)^{\perp}$ , so the induced metric on  $T_pG/H$  does not depend on the choice of g. To see this, we take  $f \in C^{\infty}(G/H, \mathbb{R})$ . Then:

$$D_{q'}\pi(vh)(f) = v(f \circ \pi \circ R_h).$$

By construction, we have  $f \circ \pi \circ R_h = f \circ \pi$ . Moreover,  $v(f \circ \pi) = D_g \pi(v)(f) = 0$ , because  $v \in \ker D_g \pi$ . This shows that  $vh \in \ker D_{g'} \pi$ .

We call the metric induced on G/H as in Proposition 5.9 the quotient metric. Observe that G/H with the quotient metric is a Riemannian homogeneous space. If G is compact, it is unimodular by Lemma 5.5, and so the metric on G is rightinvariant for any closed subgroup H of G. We have the following useful result.

**Theorem 5.10.** Let G be a compact Riemannian Lie group endowed with a leftinvariant Riemannian metric. Let  $H \subset G$  be a closed subgroup. Endow G/H with the quotient metric. Then:

$$\operatorname{vol}(G/H) = \frac{\operatorname{vol}(G)}{\operatorname{vol}(H)}.$$

Here, the volume of H is the one induced by restricting the Riemannian metric to H and then taking the corresponding Riemannian measure.

*Proof.* The quotient map  $\pi : G \mapsto G/H$  is a Riemannian submersion. Lemma 2.33 implies that  $\operatorname{vol}(G) = \int_{w \in G/H} \operatorname{vol}(\pi^{-1}(w)) dw$ , where dw denotes the integration

with respect to the Riemannian measure of G/H. Because G acts on itself by isometries, for all  $g \in G$  we have that the map  $h \mapsto gh$  from H to gH is an isometry of submanifolds of G with the induced Riemannian metric and consequently, if  $\pi(g) = w$ :  $\operatorname{vol}(\pi^{-1}(w)) = \operatorname{vol}(gH) = \operatorname{vol}(H)$ . This finishes the proof.  $\Box$ 

Since the orthogonal O(n) and the unitary group U(n) are compact, we can use Theorem 5.10 to compute the volumes of O(n) and U(n). The orthogonal group acts on  $S^n$  by rotations. The isotropy group  $O(n)_x$  of  $x \in S^{n-1}$  is the orthogonal group that rotates the orthogonal complement  $e_1^{\perp}$ , so it is isometric to O(n-1). Theorem 5.8 implies that  $S^{n-1}$  is diffeomorphic to O(n)/O(n-1). Thus, if we endow  $S^{n-1}$  with the quotient structure, then

$$\operatorname{vol}(S^{n-1}) = \frac{\operatorname{vol}(O(n))}{\operatorname{vol}(O(n-1))},$$

by Theorem 5.10. In fact, we have shown in the proof of Proposition 2.35 that the quotient structure agrees with the Euclidean metric on  $S^{n-1}$  inherited from  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . This is why we get the same formula. The orthogonal group also acts on  $\mathbb{R}P^{n-1}$ , but with isotropy group  $O(1) \times O(n-1)$ , so that

$$\operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{R}P^{n-1}) = \frac{\operatorname{vol}(O(n))}{\operatorname{vol}(O(1)) \cdot \operatorname{vol}(O(n-1))} = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{vol}(S^{n-1}),$$

which agrees with (2.10). With the same argumentation we have that

$$\operatorname{vol}(S^{2n-1}) = \frac{\operatorname{vol}(U(n))}{\operatorname{vol}(U(n-1))}$$

because U(n) acts on  $S^{2n-1}$  seen as the complex sphere of points  $x \in \mathbb{C}^n$  with  $x^*x = 1$  and has isotropy group U(n-1). This shows (2.14). Furthermore, U(n) acts on complex projective space  $\mathbb{C}P^{2n-1}$  with isotropy group  $U(1) \times U(n-1)$ , so that Theorem 5.10 implies

$$\operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{C}P^{n-1}) = \frac{\operatorname{vol}(U(n))}{\operatorname{vol}(U(1)) \cdot \operatorname{vol}(U(n-1))} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \operatorname{vol}(S^{2n-1}),$$

which agrees with (2.11).

### 5.4 Grassmannians

We compute the volume of the *Grassmannian*. This is the space of all k-dimensional linear spaces in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ :

$$G(k,n) := \{ L \subset \mathbb{R}^n \mid L \text{ is a linear space of dimension } k \}$$
(5.2)

Similarly, we denote the complex Grassmannian by

 $G_{\mathbb{C}}(k,n) := \{ L \subset \mathbb{C}^n \mid L \text{ is a complex linear space of dimension } k \}.$ 

Both G(k,n) and  $G_{\mathbb{C}}(k,n)$  are homogeneous spaces in the following way. The orthogonal group acts on the Grassmanian G(k,n) by  $Q \cdot L := \{Q\ell \mid \ell \in L\}$  for  $Q \in O(n)$  and  $L \in G(k,n)$ . The isotropy group of  $L_0 = \operatorname{span}\{e_1,\ldots,e_k\}$ , where  $e_i$  is the *i*-th standard basis vector in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is  $G_{L_0} = O(k) \times O(n-k)$ ; so that we have a bijective map  $O(n)/(O(k) \times O(n-k)) \to G(k,n)$ . We define a Riemannian manifold structure on G(k,n) by declaring this map to be an isometry. By Proposition 5.9, the quotient map  $\pi : O(n) \to G(k,n)$  is a Riemannian submersion, which implies that for  $L \in G(k,n)$  we have an isometry  $(\ker D_Q \pi)^{\perp} \cong T_L G(k,n)$ , where  $\pi(Q) = L$ .

Let us consider the tangent space  $T_{L_0}G(k,n)$ . We have  $\pi(\mathbf{1}_n) = L_0$ , where  $\mathbf{1}_n$  denotes the  $n \times n$  identity matrix. The tangent space of G(k,n) at  $L_0$  can be isometrically identified with the orthogonal complement of ker  $D_{\mathbf{1}_n}\pi$  and we have ker  $D_{\mathbf{1}_n}\pi = T_{\mathbf{1}_n}G_{L_0} = T_{\mathbf{1}_k}O(k) \times T_{\mathbf{1}_{n-k}}O(n-k)$ . We have computed the tangent space of the orthogonal group in (2.12):

$$T_{\mathbf{1}_n}O(n) = \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} A & -C \\ C & B \end{bmatrix} \mid A \in T_{\mathbf{1}_k}O(k), B \in T_{\mathbf{1}_{n-k}}O(n-k), C \in \mathbb{R}^{(n-k) \times k} \right\}.$$

Therefore, we have

$$T_{L_0}G(k,n) = \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -C \\ C^T & 0 \end{bmatrix} \mid C \in \mathbb{R}^{(n-k) \times k} \right\} \cong \operatorname{Hom}(L_0, L_0^{\perp})$$
(5.3)

as  $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ C & 0 \end{bmatrix}$  represents elements in  $\operatorname{Hom}(L_0, L_0^{\perp})$  in coordinates. Since for  $L \in G(k, n)$ and  $Q \in O(n)$  with  $\pi(Q) = L$  we have  $T_QO(n) = Q \cdot T_{\mathbf{1}_n}O(n)$  by (2.12) and  $G_L = Q \cdot G_{L_0} \cdot Q^T$ , the tangent space of the Grassmanian at  $L \in G(k, n)$  is

$$T_LG(k,n) = \operatorname{Hom}(L,L^{\perp})$$

Moreover, by (2.13) the metric on  $T_{L_0}G(k,n)$  is

$$g_L(C_1, C_2) = \operatorname{tr}(C_1^T C_2), \text{ for } C_1, C_2 \in \operatorname{Hom}(L, L^{\perp}).$$

We proceed similarly for the complex Grassmannian. We now have the following theorem.

**Theorem 5.11.** On the Grassmannian we put the quotient metric from the O(n) action on G(k,n). Similarly, on  $G_{\mathbb{C}}(k,n)$  we put the quotient metric from the U(n) action. With these structures:

$$\operatorname{vol}(G(k,n)) = \frac{\operatorname{vol}(O(n))}{\operatorname{vol}(O(k)) \cdot \operatorname{vol}(O(n-k))}, \quad and$$
$$\operatorname{vol}(G_{\mathbb{C}}(k,n)) = \frac{\operatorname{vol}(U(n))}{\operatorname{vol}(U(k)) \cdot \operatorname{vol}(U(n-k))}.$$

*Proof.* This follows immediately from Theorem 5.10.

For example,  $\operatorname{vol}(G(2,4)) = \operatorname{vol}(O(4))/\operatorname{vol}(O(2))^2$ , which by Proposition 2.35 is equal to  $\operatorname{vol}(S^3) \cdot \operatorname{vol}(S^2)/(\operatorname{vol}(S^1) \cdot \operatorname{vol}(S^0))$ . U sing (2.9) we get

$$\operatorname{vol}(G(2,4)) = 2\pi^2.$$
 (5.4)

The volumes of other Grassmannians can be computed similarly.

### 5.5 Integral geometry

Let G be a unimodular Lie group with a left-invariant Riemannian metric, and let  $H \subseteq G$  be a compact subgroup. Then, by Proposition 5.9 we know that the homogeneous space  $M \cong G/H$  has a left invariant metric. Let us denote the corresponding measure on M by vol.

**Definition 5.12.** A submanifold  $X \hookrightarrow M$  is called *cohomogeneous*, if G acts transitively on tangent spaces of X; i.e., for all  $x, y \in X$  there exists  $g \in G$  with gx = y and  $gT_xX = T_yX$ .

In this section we will prove the *integral geometry formula in Riemannian ho*mogeneous space, that computes the average volume of  $X \cap g \cdot Y$  for cohomogeneous submanifolds X and Y. For this, we need to introduce a definition of *angle* between

subspaces. Let  $V, W \subset T_0M$ ,  $\mathbf{0} := \pi(e)$ , and let  $v_1, \ldots, v_m$  be an orthonormal basis for V and  $w_1, \ldots, w_n$  be an orthonormal basis for W. We define

$$\sigma(V,W) := \sqrt{\det(1_n - A^T A)}, \quad A := \begin{bmatrix} \langle v_1, w_1 \rangle & \cdots & \langle v_1, w_n \rangle \\ & \ddots & \\ \langle v_m, w_1 \rangle & \cdots & \langle v_m, w_n \rangle \end{bmatrix}.$$
(5.5)

Since  $H = \pi(e)$  is the stabilizer group of  $\pi(e)$ , we have  $h W \subset T_{\pi(e)}M$  for every  $h \in G$  and  $W \subset T_e G$ . The average angle between  $V, W \subset T_e G$  is

$$\sigma_{\mathrm{av}}(V,W) := \int_{H} \sigma(V,hW) \,\mathrm{d}h.$$

For two cohomogeneous submanifolds  $X, Y \hookrightarrow M$  we then set

$$\sigma(X,Y) := \sigma_{\rm av}(N_0 \, a^{-1} X, \, N_0 \, b^{-1} X), \tag{5.6}$$

where  $a, b \in G$  are such that  $\pi(a) \in X$  and  $\pi(b) \in Y$ . Due to cohomogeneity (5.6) is independent of the choices of a and b.

We will prove the following theorem in Section 5.7 below.

**Theorem 5.13.** Let G be a unimodular Lie group with a left-invariant metric, and H be a compact subgroup. Let M := G/H and denote  $N := \dim(M)$ . Let  $X \hookrightarrow M$  and  $Y \hookrightarrow M$  be cohomogeneous submanifolds of codimensions m and n, respectively. We assume that  $X \cap g \cdot Y \neq \emptyset$  for a full-dimensional subset of G. Then, for almost all  $g \in G$  we have that  $X \cap g \cdot Y$  is either empty or a submanifold of codimension m + n, and

$$\int_{G} \operatorname{vol}_{N-m-n}(X \cap g \cdot Y) \, \mathrm{d}g = \sigma(X, Y) \operatorname{vol}_{N-m}(X) \operatorname{vol}_{N-n}(Y).$$

Howard [15] proved a more general formula for any submanifolds and allowing G to be not unimodular, but here in this book we focus on the special case from the above theorem. Before we prove Theorem 5.13, let us first discuss its consequences in the case when M is projective space.

## 5.6 Probabilistic intersection theory in projective space

We want to apply Theorem 5.13 to real projective space  $M = \mathbb{R}P^N$ . Recall that  $\mathbb{R}P^N \cong G/H$  for G = O(N+1) and  $H := O(1) \times O(N)$ . The orthogonal group

is compact, hence H is compact, and by Lemma 5.5 O(N + 1) is unimodular. Therefore, real projective space falls into the setting of this section. The next lemma shows that all submanifolds of projective space are cohomogeneous.

### **Lemma 5.14.** Let $X \hookrightarrow \mathbb{R}P^N$ be a submanifold. Then X is cohomogeneous.

Proof. Let  $x, y \in X$  and let  $g \in G$  with  $L_g(x) = y$ . Put  $V := g T_x X$ . Without restriction we can assume that  $y = e_0 = [1 : 0 : ... : 0]$ . The stabilizer of  $e_0$ is  $H = O(1) \times O(N)$ , and  $T_{e_0} \mathbb{R} \mathbb{P}^N = e_0^{\perp}$ . Take  $h = (h_1, h_2) \in O(1) \times O(N)$ . Then, for  $v \in e_0^{\perp}$  we have  $hv = h_2 v$ . Therefore, H acts as the orthogonal group O(n) on  $e_0^{\perp} \cong \mathbb{R}^N$ . The orthogonal group acts transitively on the Grassmanian of  $(\dim X)$ -dimensional planes in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . This shows that we can find  $h \in H$  such that  $hV = T_{e_0}X$ . Setting g' := hg we have  $L_{g'}(x) = g'x = y$  and  $g' T_x X = T_y X$ .  $\Box$ 

In the proof of Lemma 5.14 we used the fact that H acts transitively on every Grassmanian in  $T_{e_0}\mathbb{R}\mathbb{P}^N$ . This implies in fact more: it implies that  $\sigma(X, Y)$  does not depend on X and Y but only on their codimensions. In this case, let us denote  $\sigma(m, n) := \sigma(X, Y)$ . We have the following result.

Lemma 5.15. 
$$\sigma(m,n) = \frac{\operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{R}P^{N-m-n})}{\operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{R}P^{N-m}) \cdot \operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{R}P^{N-n})} \cdot \operatorname{vol}(O(N+1)).$$

Proof. We take  $X = \mathbb{R}P^{N-m} \times \{0\}^m$  and  $X = \mathbb{R}P^{N-n} \times \{0\}^n$ . Then, X and  $g \cdot Y$  intersect transversally for almost all  $g \in O(N+1)$ , so that  $X \cap g \cdot Y$  is a linear space of dimension N-m-n. Hence,  $\int_{O(N+1)} \operatorname{vol}_{N-m-n}(X \cap g \cdot Y) \, \mathrm{d}g = \operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{R}P^{N-m-n})$ . Plugging this into Theorem 5.13 gives the asserted formula.

Combining this lemma with the integral geometry formula (Theorem 5.13) implies the following important result.

**Corollary 5.16.** Let  $X, Y \hookrightarrow \mathbb{R}P^N$  be submanifolds of codimensions m and n, respectively. Then, we have that  $X \cap g \cdot Y$  is either empty or a submanifold of codimension m + n for almost all  $g \in G$ 

$$\mathbb{E}_{g \sim \text{Unif}(O(N+1))} \operatorname{vol}(X \cap g \cdot Y) = \operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{R}P^{N-m-n}) \cdot \frac{\operatorname{vol}(X)}{\operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{R}P^{N-m})} \cdot \frac{\operatorname{vol}(Y)}{\operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{R}P^{N-n})}.$$

We can argue similar for submanifolds of complex projective space. But here, we have the special situation that the volume of  $X \cap g \cdot Y$  is a generic value. Hence, when translatin Corollary 5.16 to complex projective space we are taking the expected value over a function, which is constant almost everywhere. This is why we don't have an expected value in the following corollary.

**Corollary 5.17.** Let  $X, Y \hookrightarrow \mathbb{C}P^N$  be submanifolds of codimensions m and n, respectively. Then, for almost all  $g \in G$  we have that  $X \cap g \cdot Y$  is a submanifold of codimension m + n, and

$$\operatorname{vol}(X \cap g \cdot Y) = \operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{C}P^{N-m-n}) \cdot \frac{\operatorname{vol}(X)}{\operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{C}P^{N-m})} \cdot \frac{\operatorname{vol}(Y)}{\operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{C}P^{N-n})}$$

We use Corollary 5.17 to prove a probabilistic version of intersection theory in complex projective space. Let  $X \subseteq \mathbb{CP}^N$  be a projective variety of codimension m. Recall that the degree of a projective variety  $X \subseteq \mathbb{CP}^N$  denoted deg(X), is the number of points in the intersection  $X \cap L$ , where L is a generic linear space of dimension m.

Recall from Bézout's theorem, that if Y is another subvariety of  $\mathbb{CP}^N$ , that intersects X transversally, then the intersection  $X \cap Y$  is a subvariety of degree  $\deg(X) \cdot \deg(Y)$ . This follows from the fact that the *Chow-ring* of  $\mathbb{CP}^N$  is generated by hyperplane classes (see [8, Theorem 2.1]).

Let  $L := \mathbb{C}P^m \times \{0\}^{N-m}$ . It follows from Theorem 5.13 that X and  $g \cdot L$  intersect transversally for almost all  $g \in U(N+1)$ . Furthermore, recall that we defined the volume of X to be the volume of the smooth locus of X, which is an embedded submanifold of  $\mathbb{C}P^N$ . We may therefore apply Corollary 5.17 to the smooth locus of X. This yields the following formula.

**Theorem 5.18.** The degree of a complex projective variety equals its normalized volume:

$$\deg(X) = \frac{\operatorname{vol}(X)}{\operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{C}\mathrm{P}^{N-m})}$$

Now, for subvarieties of X and Y of codimensions m and n, respectively, combining Theorem 5.18 with Corollary 5.17 implies that for almost all g:

$$\deg(X) \cdot \deg(Y) = \deg(X \cap g \cdot Y).$$

Therefore, we have shown that  $X \cap g \cdot Y$  is a variety of degree  $d \cdot d'$ .

For subvarieties of real projective space there is no concept of degree, because there is no general intersection number. Nevertheless, in analogy with Theorem 5.18 we can make the following definition.

**Definition 5.19.** Let X be a subvariety of  $\mathbb{R}P^N$  of codimension m. We define the *average degree* of X to be

$$\operatorname{adeg}(X) := \mathop{\mathbb{E}}_{g \sim \operatorname{Unif}(O(N+1))} \#(X \cap g \cdot L),$$

where  $L = \mathbb{R}P^m \times \{0\}^{N-m}$  is a linear space of dimension m.

It follows from Corollary 5.16 that the average degree of a real variety X equals its normalized volume; i.e.,  $\operatorname{adeg}(X) = \operatorname{vol}(X)/\operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{R}P^{N-m}), m = \operatorname{codim}(X)$ . Therefore, for subvarieties X and Y we have by Corollary 5.16 that

$$\operatorname{adeg}(X)\operatorname{adeg}(X) = \mathop{\mathbb{E}}_{g \in O(N+1)}\operatorname{adeg}(X \cap g \cdot Y),$$

which is the real analogue of Theorem 5.18.

### 5.7 Proof of the integral geometry formula

In this section we prove Theorem 5.13. We follow the monograph by Howard [15].

The first step is the following lemma.

**Lemma 5.20.** Let  $\iota: G \to G, g \mapsto g^{-1}$  be the inversion map. Its derivative at  $g \in G$  is given by  $D_g \iota(\dot{g}) = -g^{-1} \dot{g} g^{-1}, \ \dot{g} \in T_g G$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\alpha(t)$  be a curve in G with  $g = \alpha(0)$ . We write  $\dot{g} := \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\alpha(t)|_{t=0}$ . Differentiating  $\alpha(t)\alpha(t)^{-1} = e$  gives  $0 = \dot{g} g^{-1} + g (\mathrm{D}_g \iota(\dot{g}))$ .

Next, let  $\pi: G \to M := G/H$  be the quotient map. We denote

$$\hat{X} := \pi^{-1}(X)$$
 and  $\hat{Y} := \pi^{-1}(Y).$ 

As  $\pi$  is a fibration  $\hat{X}$  and  $\hat{Y}$  are smooth manifolds of G of codimensions  $m = \operatorname{codim}(X)$  and  $n = \operatorname{codim}(Y)$ , respectively. A central role in the proof is played by the following map:

$$F: \hat{X} \times \hat{Y} \to G, \ (a,b) \mapsto ab^{-1}.$$

For every  $g \in G$  in the image of F we have

$$F^{-1}(g) = \{(a,b) \in \hat{X} \times \hat{Y} \mid a = gb\} = \operatorname{Graph}(L_{g^{-1}}|_{\hat{X} \cap g\hat{Y}}).$$
(5.7)

Therefore,  $X \cap g \cdot Y \neq \emptyset$  if and only if  $F^{-1}(g) \neq \emptyset$ .

The next lemma computes the derivative of F.

**Lemma 5.21.** Let  $(a,b) \in \hat{X} \times \hat{Y}$ . For  $(\dot{a},\dot{b}) \in T_a \hat{X} \times T_b \hat{Y}$  we have

$$D_{(a,b)}F(\dot{a},\dot{b}) = (\dot{a} - g\dot{b})b^{-1},$$

where  $g = F(a, b) = ab^{-1}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\iota(g) = g^{-1}$  be the inversion map. Then,  $F(a,b) = a \iota(b)$ , and so by Lemma 5.20  $D_{(a,b)}(\dot{a},\dot{b}) = \dot{a} b^{-1} + a D_b \iota(\dot{b}) = \dot{a} b^{-1} - a b^{-1} \dot{b} b^{-1}$ .

We have the following proposition, which proves the first part of Theorem 5.13.

**Proposition 5.22.** For almost all  $g \in G$  either  $\hat{X} \cap g\hat{Y}$  is empty or a submanifold of G of codimension m + n.

*Proof.* Let us assume that  $\hat{X} \cap g\hat{Y} \neq \emptyset$ . By (5.7), the preimage of g under F is  $F^{-1}(g) = \operatorname{Graph}(L_{g^{-1}}|_{\hat{X}\cap g\hat{Y}})$ . Therefore, we have  $F^{-1}(g) \neq \emptyset$ . Let  $(a,b) \in F^{-1}(g)$  and  $(\dot{a},\dot{b}) \in T_a\hat{X} \times T_b\hat{Y}$ . By Lemma 5.21, we have  $D_{(a,b)}(\dot{a},\dot{b}) = (\dot{a} - g\dot{b})b^{-1}$ . It follows that the image of  $D_{(a,b)}F$  is

$$\operatorname{Im}(\mathcal{D}_{(a,b)}F) = (T_a\hat{X} + g\,T_b\hat{Y})b^{-1} = (T_a\hat{X} + T_a(g\hat{Y}))b^{-1}.$$
(5.8)

By Sard's lemma, the nonregular values of F are a subset of G of measure zero. Since the set of all  $g \in G$  such that  $\hat{X} \cap g\hat{Y} \neq \emptyset$  is a full-dimensional subset of G (because otherwise  $\int_{G} \operatorname{vol}(X \cap gY) \, \mathrm{d}g = 0$ ), almost all g in the image of Fare regular values. For such g the characterization of  $\operatorname{Im}(D_{(a,b)}F)$  in (5.8) implies that  $T_a\hat{X} + T_a(g\hat{Y}) = T_gG$  for all  $a \in \hat{X} \cap g\hat{Y}$ . Hence,  $\hat{X}$  and  $g\hat{Y}$  intersect transversally, and so by [21, Theorem 6.30]  $\hat{X} \cap g\hat{Y} \hookrightarrow G$  is a submanifold of codimension m + n.

We need another basic lemma from linear algebra. For this, recall the angle  $\sigma(V, W)$  between linear spaces V, W from (5.5).

**Lemma 5.23.** Let  $m < \ell$  and  $V, W \in O(\ell)$  be orthogonal matrices. Let us write  $V = [V_1 V_2]$  and  $W = [W_1 W_2]$  with  $V_1, W_1 \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell \times m}$ . We identify the matrices with their columnspans. Then,  $\sigma(V_1, W_2) = \sigma(V_2, W_1)$ .

Proof. Recall that  $\sigma(V_1, W_2) = \sqrt{\det(\mathbf{1}_m - V_1^T W_2 W_2^T V_1)}$ . Without restriction we can assume that  $W = \mathbf{1}_{\ell}$ . Since  $V_1^T V_1 = \mathbf{1}_m$  and  $\mathbf{1}_{\ell} = W_1 W_1^T + W_2 W_2^T$ , this shows  $\mathbf{1}_m = V_1^T (W_1 W_1^T + W_2 W_2^T) V_1$ . From this we get  $\mathbf{1}_m - V_1^T W_2 W_2^T V_1 = V_1^T W_1 W_1^T V_1$ . The assertion follows now from the symmetry of this argument.

Next, we compute the normal Jacobian of F at a point.

**Proposition 5.24.** For almost all  $(a,b) \in \hat{X} \times \hat{Y}$  the normal Jacobian of F is

$$NJ(F, (a, b)) = \sqrt{2}^{\kappa} \sigma(N_a \hat{X}, N_a g \hat{Y}),$$

where  $k = \dim(\hat{X} \cap g\hat{Y})$ .

*Proof.* Recall from Lemma 5.21 that  $D_{(a,b)}F(\dot{a},\dot{b}) = (\dot{a} - g\dot{b})b^{-1}$ , where  $g = ab^{-1}$ . Since left-multiplication by g and right-multiplication by b are isometries, we have  $NJ(F, (a, b)) = \sqrt{\det(J^T J)}$ , where J is the matrix with respect to orthonormal bases of the linear map

$$\phi: T_a \hat{X} \times T_a g \hat{Y} \to T_a G, \ (\dot{a}, \dot{b}) \mapsto \dot{a} - \dot{b}.$$

Let us write  $V := T_a \hat{X}$  and  $W := T_a g \hat{Y}$  and  $U := V \cap W$ . Then, we have  $\ker(\phi) = \{(\dot{a}, \dot{a}) \mid \dot{a} \in U\}$  and so

$$\ker(\phi)^{\perp} = (V \cap U^{\perp} \times \{0\}) \oplus (\{0\} \times W \cap U^{\perp}) \oplus \{(\dot{a}, -\dot{a}) \mid \dot{a} \in U\},\$$

which is an orthogonal decomposition. By Proposition 5.22, U has codimension m+n in  $T_aG$ . Therefore,  $\dim(V\cap U^{\perp}) = n$  and  $\dim(V\cap U^{\perp}) = m$ . Let  $u_1, \ldots, u_k$  be an orthonormal basis for U, and  $v_1, \ldots, v_n$  be an orthonormal basis for  $V\cap U^{\perp}$ , and  $w_1, \ldots, w_m$  be an orthonormal basis for  $W\cap U^{\perp}$ . Then,  $\phi(v_i, 0) = v_i, \phi(0, w_j) = w_j$  and  $\phi(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(u_\ell, -u_\ell)) = \sqrt{2}u_\ell$ , which shows that

$$J^{T}J = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{1}_{n} & B & 0\\ B^{T} & \mathbf{1}_{m} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 2\mathbf{1}_{k} \end{bmatrix}, \quad \text{where} \quad B = \begin{bmatrix} \langle v_{1}, w_{1} \rangle & \cdots & \langle v_{1}, w_{m} \rangle \\ & \ddots & \\ \langle v_{n}, w_{1} \rangle & \cdots & \langle v_{n}, w_{m} \rangle \end{bmatrix}.$$

Hence,

$$NJ(F, (a, b)) = \sqrt{\det(J^T J)} = \sqrt{2}^k \sqrt{\det \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{1}_n & B \\ B^T & \mathbf{1}_m \end{bmatrix}} = \sqrt{2}^k \sqrt{\det(\mathbf{1}_n - BB^T)}$$
$$= \sqrt{2}^k \sigma(V \cap U^{\perp}, W \cap U^{\perp})$$

From Lemma 5.23 and the fact that the orthogonal complement of  $V \cap U^{\perp}$  in  $U^{\perp}$  is  $V^{\perp}$ , and that the orthogonal complement of  $W \cap U^{\perp}$  in  $U^{\perp}$  is  $W^{\perp}$ , we get  $\sigma(V \cap U^{\perp}, W \cap U^{\perp}) = \sigma(V^{\perp}, W^{\perp})$ .

We can now prove the integral geometry formula.

Proof of Theorem 5.13. The fact that  $X \cap gY$  is either empty or a submanifold of codimension m + n for almost all  $g \in G$  follows from Proposition 5.22. Fix  $g \in G$  such that  $X \cap gY \neq \emptyset$ . Then,  $\hat{X} \cap g\hat{Y} \neq \emptyset$ . Since  $\pi$  is a Riemannian submersion,

$$\operatorname{vol}(\hat{X} \cap g\hat{Y}) = \operatorname{vol}(X \cap gY)\operatorname{vol}(H),$$

(the volume of H is finite due to compactness). Recall  $F^{-1}(g) = \operatorname{Graph}(L_{g^{-1}}|_{\hat{X} \cap q\hat{Y}})$ 

from (5.7). We have a smooth map  $\phi_g : \hat{X} \cap g\hat{Y} \to F^{-1}(g), a \mapsto (a, g^{-1}a)$ . Since left-translation is an isometry,  $\operatorname{NJ}(\phi_g, a) = \sqrt{2}^k$ ,  $k = \dim(\hat{X} \cap g\hat{Y})$ . This implies, using the coarea formula (Theorem 2.26):  $\sqrt{2}^k \operatorname{vol}(\hat{X} \cap g\hat{Y}) = \operatorname{vol}(F^{-1}(g))$ . On the other hand, again using the coarea formula and Proposition 5.24, we have

$$\int_{G} \operatorname{vol}(F^{-1}(g)) \, \mathrm{d}g = \sqrt{2}^k \int_{\hat{X} \times \hat{Y}} \sigma(N_a \hat{X}, N_a g \hat{Y}) \, \mathrm{d}(a, b), \quad g = ab^{-1}.$$

Altogether, this implies

$$\operatorname{vol}(\hat{X} \cap g\hat{Y})\operatorname{vol}(H) = \int_{\hat{X} \times \hat{Y}} \sigma(N_a \hat{X}, N_a g \hat{Y}) \operatorname{d}(a, b).$$
(5.9)

We proceed with the right-hand side. First, we use that left-translation by  $a^{-1}$  is an isometry to see that  $\sigma(N_a \hat{X}, N_a g \hat{Y}) = \sigma(N_e a^{-1} \hat{X}, N_e b^{-1} \hat{Y})$ , where  $e \in G$  is the identity. Using that  $\pi : G \to G/H$  is a Riemannian submersion we get

$$\int_{\hat{X}\times\hat{Y}}\sigma(N_a\hat{X},N_ag\hat{Y})\,\mathrm{d}(a,b) = \int_{X\times Y}\Big(\int_{aH\times bH}\sigma(N_e\,\eta^{-1}\hat{X},N_e\,\theta^{-1}\hat{Y})\,\mathrm{d}(\eta,\theta)\Big)\mathrm{d}(x,y),$$

where  $\pi(a) = x$  and  $\pi(b) = y$ . Next, a change of variables  $\eta = ag$  and  $\theta = bh$ ,  $g, h \in H$ , and using the fact that H stabilizes  $T_eG$ , turns this integral into

$$\int_{X \times Y} \left( \int_{H \times H} \sigma(g^{-1} \hat{V}, h^{-1} \hat{W}) d(g, h) \right) d(x, y),$$
  
where  $\hat{V} = N_e a^{-1} \hat{X}, \ \hat{W} = N_e b^{-1} \hat{Y}.$ 

We have  $H \subset a^{-1}\hat{X}$  and so  $T_eH = \ker D_e\pi \subset T_ea^{-1}\hat{X}$ , which implies that  $D_e\pi$  restricts to an isometry  $N_e a^{-1}\hat{X} \to N_0 a^{-1}X$ ,  $\mathbf{0} = \pi(e)$ . This shows that the last integral is equal to

$$\int_{X \times Y} \left( \int_{H \times H} \sigma(g^{-1} V, h^{-1} W) \operatorname{d}(g, h) \right) \operatorname{d}(x, y),$$

where  $V = N_0 a^{-1}X$ ,  $W = N_0 b^{-1}Y$ . Since G acts transitively on tangent spaces of X and Y, we have that the inner integral is independent of a and b, so that

$$\int_{H\times H} \sigma(g^{-1} V, h^{-1} W) \operatorname{d}(g, h) = \int_{H\times H} \sigma(V, (hg)^{-1} W) \operatorname{d}(g, h) = \sigma(X, Y) \operatorname{vol}(H).$$

Plugging this into (5.9) yields  $\operatorname{vol}(\hat{X} \cap g\hat{Y}) \operatorname{vol}(H) = \int_{X \times Y} \sigma(X, Y) \operatorname{vol}(H) \operatorname{d}(x, y)$ , which gives  $\operatorname{vol}(X \cap gY) = \sigma(X, Y) \operatorname{vol}(X) \operatorname{vol}(Y)$ .

In this section we start adopting the metric point of view and endow a complex or real vector space V with in inner product. Clearly, there are multiple choices of inner products which we can put. We want to select among them those which have a geometric meaning, which are *reasonable* in the sense of Chapter 1. We assume that there is a group G acting on V and we look at inner products on V, which are invariant under the action by G. Furthermore, an invariant inner product induces an invariant norm, but not all norms comes from inner products. Therefore, towards the end of this chapter we also consider invariant norms on V.

The setting in this chapter is general, but the scenario we have in mind is when V is the space of polynomials and G is the orthogonal or unitary group acting by change of variables. This special case will be worked out in Chapter 7.

We start by recalling some basics facts from *representation theory*. For more details we refer to the textbooks [9, 11].

In the following, we denote by GL(V) the group of invertible linear maps from V to V. That is, real linear maps, if V is a real vector space, and complex linear, if V is complex.

**Definition 6.1.** Let G be a topological group.

- (1) A representation of the group G is a (real or complex) vector space together with a continuous group homomorphism  $\rho: G \to \operatorname{GL}(V)$ .
- (2) If a linear subspace  $W \subset V$  satisfies  $\rho(g)W = W$  we call it G-invariant.
- (3) The representation is reducible, if there exists a G-invariant linear subspace  $0 \neq W \subsetneq V$ . Otherwise, it is called irreducible.
- (4) The representation is called continuous, if  $\rho$  is continuous

If  $W \subset V$  is a *G*-invariant subspace, any  $\rho(g)$  can be regarded as an element in GL(W). Therefore, *W* is also a representation for *G*. We call *W* a subrepresentation of *V*.

In the following, we will always consider continuous representations.

**Definition 6.2.** Let  $\rho_V : G \to \operatorname{GL}(V)$  and  $\rho_W : G \to \operatorname{GL}(W)$  be two representations of a group G. We say that a linear map  $\phi : V \to W$  is a G-homomorphism, if for all  $g \in G$  and  $v \in V$  we have  $\phi(\rho_V(g)v) = \rho_W(g)\phi(v)$ .

From another perspective, a linear map  $\phi : V \to W$  is a *G*-homomorphism, if and only if the following diagram commutes.

$$V \xrightarrow{L} W$$

$$\rho_1(g) \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \rho_2(g)$$

$$V \xrightarrow{L} W$$

**Definition 6.3.** Let  $\rho_V : G \to \operatorname{GL}(V)$  and  $\rho_W : G \to \operatorname{GL}(W)$  be two representations of a group G. We call the representations *isomorphic*, if there is a linear isomorphism  $\phi : V \to W$ , which is also a G-homomorphism.

The map from the previous definitions is also called an *intertwining map*.

**Lemma 6.4.** Let  $\phi: V \to W$  be a *G*-homomorphism between two representations of a group *G*. Then, ker  $\phi$  is a sub-representation of *V* and the image of  $\phi$  is sub-representation of *W*.

Proof. For all  $g \in G$  and  $v \in \ker \phi$  we have  $\phi(\rho_V(g)v) = \rho_W(g)\phi(v) = 0$ , so ker  $\phi$  is G-invariant and hence a sub-representation of V. On the other hand, for any  $w = \phi(v)$  in the image of  $\phi$  we have  $\rho_W(g)w = \phi(\rho_V(g)v)$ . This shows that the image of  $\phi$  is G-invariant, and hence a sub-representation of W.  $\Box$ 

The next lemma, called *Schur's lemma*, is a central yet powerful observation about irreducible representations.

**Lemma 6.5** (Schur's lemma). Let  $\phi : V \to W$  be a *G*-homomorphism between irreducible representations of a group *G*. Then, either  $\phi = 0$  or  $\phi$  is an isomorphism.

*Proof.* By Lemma 6.4, ker  $\phi$  is a sub-representation of V. Since V is irreducible, this implies ker  $\phi = 0$  or ker  $\phi = V$ ; i.e.,  $\phi = 0$  or  $\phi$  is injective. Furthermore, again by Lemma 6.4, the image of  $\phi$  is a sub-representation of W. Since W is irreducible, this shows  $\phi(V) = 0$  or  $\phi(V) = W$ ; i.e.,  $\phi = 0$  or  $\phi$  is surjective.  $\Box$ 

**Proposition 6.6.** Let  $\rho : G \to GL(V)$  be a continuous representation of a compact group G. There exists on V a scalar product which is  $\rho$ -invariant.

*Proof.* Let  $H := im(\rho)$ . First observe that a scalar product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  on V is  $\rho$ -invariant if it is H-invariant, i.e.

$$\langle hv_1, hv_2 \rangle = \langle v_1, v_2 \rangle \quad \forall v_1, v_2 \in V, \, \forall h \in H.$$

It will therefore be enough to construct a H-invariant scalar product.

Observe now that H is compact (since  $\rho$  is continuous and G is compact), and it is a subgroup of GL(V), which is a Lie group. In particular H is a closed subgroup of GL(V), and it is therefore a Lie group. By Theorem 5.2 there exists a (unique) left-invariant Haar measure  $\mu$  on H. Let  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  be any scalar product on V and define, for  $v_1, v_2 \in V$ ,

$$\langle v_1, v_2 \rangle_{\rho} := \int_H \langle hv_1, hv_2 \rangle \mu(dh).$$
 (6.1)

Clearly (6.1) defines a scalar product on V. In order to see that it is H-invariant, we observe that for every  $\tilde{h} \in H$ 

$$\langle \tilde{h}v_1, \tilde{h}v_2 \rangle_{\rho} = \int_H \langle h\tilde{h}v_1, h\tilde{h}v_2 \rangle \mu(dh) = \int_H \langle hv_1, hv_2 \rangle \mu(dh) = \langle v_1, v_2 \rangle_{\rho},$$

where in the second step we have used the fact that the measure  $\mu$  is right–invariant.

Note that, because of Proposition 6.6, if G is compact we can always assume that the representation takes values in the orthogonal group of V.

We now work towards understanding the structure of the space of invariant inner products. In the following  $\rho: V \to \operatorname{GL}(V)$  will be a fixed representation of a compact Lie group G. Given an inner product we define the orthogonal complement of a subspace W by

$$W^{\perp} := \{ v \in V \mid \langle v, w \rangle = 0 \text{ for all } w \in W \}.$$

**Lemma 6.7.** Let  $\langle , \rangle$  be a *G*-invariant inner product on *V*. Let  $W \subset V$  be a sub-representation. Then, the orthogonal projection  $P: V \to W$  from *V* onto *W* is a *G*-homomorphism.

Proof. Pick  $v \in V = W \otimes W^{\perp}$  and decompose it as  $v = w + w_{\perp}$  with  $w \in W$ and  $w_{\perp} \in W^{\perp}$ . Let  $g \in G$ . Then, by definition of the orthogonal projection we have P(v) = w. We have  $\rho(g)v = \rho(g)w + \rho(g)w^{\perp}$ , and  $\rho(g)w \in W$ , because W is G-invariant. Furthermore, we have  $\langle \rho(g)w_{\perp}, u \rangle = \langle w_{\perp}, \rho(g^{-1})u \rangle = 0$  for all  $u \in W$ , because  $\rho(g^{-1})u \in W$ . This shows that  $\rho(g)w_{\perp} \in W^{\perp}$  and so we have  $P(\rho(g)v) = \rho(g)w = \rho(g)P(v)$ ; i.e., P is a G-homomorphism.  $\Box$ 

An immediate corollary of this lemma is the following result.

**Corollary 6.8.** Let  $\langle , \rangle$  be a *G*-invariant inner product on *V*. Let  $W \subset V$  be a sub-representation. Then, also the orthogonal complement  $W^{\perp}$  is a sub-representation.

*Proof.* Let  $P: V \to W$  be the orthogonal projection. We have

$$\ker W^{\perp} = \ker P.$$

By Lemma 6.7, P is a G-homomorphism, and so by Lemma 6.4 ker P is a sub-representation of V.

The next result tells us that representations can be orthogonally decomposed into subsrepresentations

**Corollary 6.9.** Let  $\rho: G \to \operatorname{GL}(V)$  be a continuous representation of a compact group and let  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  be a  $\rho$ -invariant scalar product on V (which exists by Proposition 6.6). Then V can be decomposed as an orthogonal direct sum

$$V = \bigoplus_{k=1}^{r} V_k,$$

such that each  $V_k$  is  $\rho$ -invariant and the restriction  $\rho|_{V_k} : G \to \operatorname{GL}(V_k)$  is an irreducible representation.

*Proof.* The proof is by induction on the dimension of V, the case  $\dim(V) = 1$ being trivial:  $V = V_1$  is irreducible. Let therefore  $\dim(V) > 1$ . If  $\rho$  is irreducible, there is nothing to prove. Otherwise, let  $W \subsetneq V$  be an invariant subspace. By Corollary 6.8,  $W^{\perp} \subsetneq V$  is also a proper invariant subspace, and the result follows by induction, since  $\dim(W), \dim(W^{\perp}) < \dim(V)$ .

We can rephrase the decomposition in Corollary 6.9 by grouping isomorphic terms, so that we get a decomposition

$$V \simeq \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\nu} V_i^{m_i},\tag{6.2}$$

where  $V_i^{m_i} = V_i^{(1)} \oplus \cdots \oplus V_i^{(m_i)}$ , and  $V_i$  and  $V_j$  are non-isomorphic for  $i \neq j$ . In fact, two subrepresentations that are non-isomorphic will be orthogonal with respect to any invariant inner product. We show this next.

**Lemma 6.10.** Let  $W, Z \subset V$  be two irreducible sub-representations of V and  $\langle , \rangle$  be a G-invariant inner product on V.

- (1) If  $W \neq Z$ , then  $W \cap Z = 0$ .
- (2) If W and Z are not isomorphic as representations of G, we have  $W \perp Z$ ; i.e.,  $\langle w, z \rangle = 0$  for all  $w \in W$  and  $z \in Z$ .

Proof. For the first item let us assume that  $0 \neq x \in W \cap Z$ . Consider the orthogonal projection  $P: V \to W$ . By Lemma 6.7, P is a *G*-homomorphism. Since Z is *G*-invariant, also the restriction  $P|_Z: Z \to W$  is a *G*-homomorphism. We have  $P|_Z(x) = x$ , so that  $P|_Z - \mathrm{id}_Z$  is not an isomorphism. By Schur's lemma (Lemma 6.5), this implies  $P|_Z - \mathrm{id}_Z = 0$ , hence W = Z. For the second item, we use that  $P|_Z$  can't be an isomorphism, because W and Z are non-isomorphic. Again by Schur's lemma (Lemma 6.5),  $P|_Z = 0$ , which implies that  $Z \subset \ker P = W^{\perp}$ .  $\Box$ 

We now come to the main theorem of this first section describing the structure of invariant inner products.

**Theorem 6.11.** Let  $\rho : G \to \operatorname{GL}(V)$  be a continuous representation of a compact group, with  $\dim(V) = n$ . Let  $\operatorname{Sym}_n^+(\mathbb{R})$  denote the cone of positive definite symmetric matrices and  $\operatorname{Her}_n^+(\mathbb{C})$  the cone of positive definite Hermitian matrices.

(1) If V is a real vector space, the set of  $\rho$ -invariant scalar products on V can be identified with the linear section

$$\{P \in \operatorname{Sym}_n^+(\mathbb{R}) | \rho(g)P = P\rho(g) \text{ for all } g \in G\}.$$

(2) If V is a complex vector space, the set of  $\rho$ -invariant scalar products on V can be identified with

$$\{P \in \operatorname{Her}_{n}^{+}(\mathbb{C}) | \rho(g)P = P\rho(g) \text{ for all } g \in G\}.$$

(3) In both cases, if  $\rho$  is irreducible, this cone is one-dimensional and there is on V only one  $\rho$ -invariant scalar product, up to multiples.

*Proof.* We work out the real case. The complex case is one-to-one.

Let  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  be a  $\rho$ -invariant scalar product (which exists by Proposition 6.6) and pick an orthonormal basis  $\{e_1, \ldots, e_n\}$  for V with respect to  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ . Using this basis we identify V with  $\mathbb{R}^n$  (through the list of coordinates of a vector) and we observe that  $\rho(g) \in O(n)$  for all  $g \in G$ . Let now  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_2$  be another  $\rho$ -invariant scalar product. There exists  $P \in \text{Sym}_n(\mathbb{R})$  such that

$$\langle v_1, v_2 \rangle_2 = v_1^T P v_2 \quad \text{for } v_1, v_2 \in V.$$

Moreover, by invariance of  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_2$  we have  $\rho(g)^T P \rho(g) = P$  for all  $g \in G$ , i.e.  $P \rho(g) = \rho(g)P$ ,  $\forall g \in G$ . This shows that the set of  $\rho$ -invariant scalar products has the asserted structure.

Assume now that  $\rho$  is irreducible. Since P is symmetric, it has a real eigenvalue  $\lambda$ . Therefore,  $P - \lambda \mathbf{1}_n$  has a kernel, and so by Schur's lemma Lemma 6.5, it is zero. This implies  $P = \lambda \mathbf{1}_n$ , so that in this case the cone is one-dimensional.

### 6.1 Invariant Hermitian structures

In this section and the next section we will now refine Theorem 6.11 in the complex and the real case separately. We start with the complex case.

In this section V is a *complex* vector space of complex dimension n. First, we give a stronger version of Schur's lemma in the complex setting.

**Lemma 6.12** (Schur's Lemma, complex version). Let  $\phi : V \to W$  be a *G*-homomorphism between irreducible of a group *G*. Then,  $\phi$  is either zero or an isomorphism. Moreover, if V = W, there exists  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$  such that  $\phi = \lambda \mathbf{1}$ .

*Proof.* The first part follows from Lemma 6.5. For the second part of the proof, pick an eigenvalue  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$  of  $\phi$ . Then  $\phi - \lambda \mathbf{1}$  is a *G*-homomorphism, which is not an isomorphism, so it is zero. This shows  $\phi = \lambda \mathbf{1}$ ,

We can use this result and the decomposition in (6.2) to classify all  $\rho$ -invariant Hermitian products.

**Theorem 6.13.** Let V be a complex vector space and  $\rho : G \to \operatorname{GL}(V)$  be a continuous representation of a compact group. Let  $\nu, m_1, \ldots, m_{\nu}$  be given by (6.2) and, for every  $i = 1, \ldots, \nu$  denote by  $d_i := \dim(V_i)$ . The set  $\mathfrak{H}^{\rho}$  of  $\rho$ -invariant Hermitian structures on V is isomorphic to the semialgebraic cone

$$\mathcal{H}^{\rho} \simeq \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\nu} \operatorname{Her}_{m_i}^+.$$

In fact, the proof of Theorem 6.13 shows that the inner product associated to  $(Q_1, \ldots, Q_\nu) \in \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\nu} \operatorname{Her}_{m_i}^+$  is represented by the Hermitian matrix

$$H = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{1}_{d_1} \otimes Q_1 & \cdots & 0\\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots\\ 0 & \cdots & \mathbf{1}_{d_\nu} \otimes Q_\nu \end{bmatrix},$$

where  $\otimes$  denotes the Kronecker product.

Proof of Theorem 6.13. Let  $h_0$  be a  $\rho$ -invariant Hermitian product, and let

$$V \simeq \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\nu} V_i^{m_i}$$

be the decomposition from (6.2), so that each  $V_i$  is irreducible.

For every i, j let us pick an orthonormal basis  $\{e_{i,k}^j\}_{k=1,\ldots,d_i}$  for the *j*-th factor in  $V_i^{m_i}$ . Collating these basis, we get an orthonormal basis  $\{e_1,\ldots,e_n\}$  for V. In this basis the Hermitian product can be written as

$$h_0(v,w) = w^*v.$$

Let now h be another  $\rho$ -invariant Hermitian product and let H be the Hermitian matrix that relative to the basis above gives

$$h(v,w) = w^* H v.$$

Recall that  $V_i$  and  $V_j$  are non-isomorphic, if  $i \neq j$ . Therefore, by Lemma 6.10, we have h(v, w) = 0 for all  $v \in V_i$  and  $w \in V_j$ . This implies that H is block-diagonal:

$$H = \begin{bmatrix} B_1 & \cdots & 0\\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots\\ 0 & \cdots & B_\nu \end{bmatrix}$$

with  $B_i \in \operatorname{Her}_{d_i m_i}^+$ . The third item in Theorem 6.11 implies that the restriction of h to each  $V_i$  is a multiple of  $h_0$ . Therefore,  $B_i$  consists of  $m_i \times m_i$  blocks which are multiples of the identity matrix  $\mathbf{1}_{d_i}$ ; i.e.,

$$B_{i} = \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_{1,1}^{(i)} \mathbf{1}_{d_{i}} & \cdots & \lambda_{1,m_{i}}^{(i)} \mathbf{1}_{d_{i}} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \overline{\lambda}_{1,m_{i}}^{(i)} \mathbf{1}_{d_{i}} & \cdots & \lambda_{m_{i},m_{i}}^{(i)} \mathbf{1}_{d_{i}} \end{bmatrix} = \mathbf{1}_{d_{i}} \otimes Q_{i},$$

where  $\lambda_{k,\ell}^{(i)} \in \mathbb{C}$  with  $1 \leq k \leq \ell \leq m_i$ , and

$$Q_i := \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_{1,1}^{(i)} & \cdots & \lambda_{1,m_i}^{(i)} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \overline{\lambda}_{1,m_i}^{(i)} & \cdots & \lambda_{m_i,m_i}^{(i)} \end{bmatrix}$$

is positive definite Hermitian. This proves that an invariant Hermitian product is uniquely determined by a block-diagonal matrix with blocks  $B_i \in \mathbf{1}_{d_i} \otimes \operatorname{Her}_{m_i}^+$ . Conversely, every such matrix gives an invariant Hermitian product.

### 6.2 Classification of real invariant inner products

Let us introduce some notation first, following [1].

Given a real vector space V, we denote by  $cV := \mathbb{C} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} V$  its complexification and, if  $\rho : G \to \operatorname{GL}(V)$  is a representation,  $c\rho : G \to \operatorname{GL}(cV)$  is the representation given by  $c\rho(g) := 1 \otimes \rho(g)$ .

If W is a complex vector space, we denote by rW the underlying real vector space and, if  $\rho : G \to GL(W)$  is a complex representation, we denote the representation induced by the inclusion  $GL(W) \hookrightarrow GL(rW)$  by  $r\rho : G \to GL(rW)$ .

Let now V be a fixed real vector space, and denote

$$W := cV.$$

The vector space W comes with a conjugation

$$\tau: W \to W, \quad \tau(z \otimes v) := \overline{z} \otimes v.$$

Such a map squares to the identity, and it induces a linear map, which we also denote  $\tau : rW \to rW$ . The real vector space rW can be decomposed into its eigenspaces:

$$rW = (rW)_+ \oplus (rW)_-, \quad \tau|_{(rW)_{\pm}} = \pm \mathbf{1}_{(rW)_{\pm}}.$$
 (6.3)

The map  $v \mapsto 1 \otimes v$  gives an isomorphism  $V \simeq (rW)_+$ ; similarly, the map  $v \mapsto i \otimes v$  gives an isomorphism  $V \simeq (rW)_-$ . In coordinates we have  $rW \simeq V \oplus V$  and these isomorphisms are simply  $v \mapsto (v, 0) \in V \oplus V$  and  $v \mapsto (0, v) \in V \oplus V$ .

In the previous section we relied on a specialization of Schur's lemma (Lemma 6.5) to the complex setting. Here, we need a version for real vector spaces. We use the setup above to prove the following proposition.

**Proposition 6.14.** Let  $\rho : G \to GL(V)$  be a real irreducible representation of a compact group G. The  $\rho$ -invariant endomorphisms of V

$$\operatorname{End}(V)^{\rho} := \{ L \in \operatorname{End}(V) \mid L\rho(g) = \rho(g)L \text{ for all } g \in G \}$$

form a division algebra. In particular,  $\operatorname{End}(V)^{\rho}$  is isomorphic to either  $\mathbb{R}$ ,  $\mathbb{C}$  or  $\mathbb{H}$ , according to the following cases:

- (1) If  $c\rho$  is irreducible, then  $\operatorname{End}(V)^{\rho} = \{\lambda \mathbf{1} \mid \lambda \in \mathbb{R}\} \simeq \mathbb{R}$ .
- (2) If  $c\rho$  is not irreducible and  $cV \simeq W_1 \oplus W_2$  with  $W_1$  not isomorphic to  $W_2$ (as complex representations), then V carries a complex structure  $I: V \to V$ , and  $\operatorname{End}(V)^{\rho} = \{a_1\mathbf{1} + a_2I \mid a_1, a_2 \in \mathbb{R}\} \simeq \mathbb{C}$ .
- (3) If  $c\rho$  is not irreducible and  $cV \simeq W \oplus W$  (as complex representations), then V carries a quaternionic structure  $I, J, K : V \to V$ , and we have that  $\operatorname{End}(V)^{\rho} = \{a_1\mathbf{1} + a_2I + b_1J + b_2K \mid a_1, a_2, b_1, b_2 \in \mathbb{R}\} \simeq \mathbb{H}.$

Let *h* be an invariant scalar product for the representation  $\rho : G \to \operatorname{GL}(V)$ . Using Proposition 6.14 we can refine the partition in(6.2) by grouping into isomorphism classes of real representations, according to the set of  $\rho$ -invariant endomorphism for each summand. We can write:

$$V \simeq \bigoplus_{\beta=1,2,4} \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\nu_{\beta}} V_{\beta,i}^{m_{\beta,i}}, \tag{6.4}$$

where  $V_{\beta,i}^{m_{\beta,i}} = V_{\beta,i}^{(1)} \oplus \cdots \oplus V_{\beta,i}^{(m_{\beta,i})}$  and such that for every  $\beta = 1, 2, 4$  and for every  $i = 1, \ldots, \nu_{\beta}$  and  $j = 1, \ldots, m_{\beta,i}$ , the subspace  $V_{\beta,i}^{(j)}$  is an irreducible subrepresentation with

$$\operatorname{End}(V_{\beta,i}^{(j)})^{\rho_{\beta,i}^{(j)}} \simeq \begin{cases} \mathbb{R} & \beta = 1\\ \mathbb{C} & \beta = 2\\ \mathbb{H} & \beta = 4 \end{cases}$$

(Notice that in this case dim  $V_{\beta,i}^{(j)}$  is divisible by  $\beta$ .). Moreover,

$$V_{\beta,i}^{(j_1)} \simeq V_{\beta,i}^{(j_2)}$$

as representations and, if  $(\beta_1, i_1) \neq (\beta_2, i_2)$ ,

$$V_{\beta_1,i_1}^{(j_1)} \perp V_{\beta_2,i_2}^{(j_2)}$$

with respect to h.

In order to finally state the result on classification of real invariant scalar product we introduce the following notation. For  $\beta = 1, 2, 4$  we denote by  $\operatorname{Her}_{\beta,n}$  the set of symmetric matrices ( $\beta = 1$ ), Hermitian matrices ( $\beta = 2$ ), quaternionic hemitian matrices ( $\beta = 4$ ). The latter correspond to the set of Hermitian matrices on  $\mathbb{H}^n \simeq \mathbb{C}^n$  which commutes with the quaternionic structure. Similarly we define the intersections of these sets with the positive definite cone by  $\operatorname{Her}_{\beta,n}^+$ .

**Theorem 6.15.** Let  $\rho: G \to \operatorname{GL}(V)$  be a continuous representation of a compact group. Let  $\{\nu_{\beta}, m_{\beta,i}\}_{\beta,i}$  be given by (6.4) and, for every  $\beta = 1, 2, 4$ , and  $i = 1, \ldots, \nu$ write  $\dim(V_{\beta,i}) = d_{\beta,i}$ . The set  $\mathfrak{H}^{\rho}$  of  $\rho$ -invariant scalar product on V is isomorphic to the semialgebraic cone

$$\mathcal{H}^{\rho} \simeq \bigoplus_{\beta=1,2,4} \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\nu_{\beta}} \operatorname{Her}_{\beta,m_{\beta,i}}^{+}.$$

*Proof.* The proof proceeds as the proof of Theorem 6.13. Let  $h_0$  be the  $\rho$ -invariant scalar product giving the decomposition (6.4). For every  $\beta$ , i, j let us pick an or-
#### 6 Representation theory

thonormal basis  $\{e_{\beta,i,k}^{(j)}\}_{k=1,\ldots,\beta d_{\beta,i}}$  for  $V_{\beta,i}^{(j)}$ . Collating these bases, we get an orthonormal basis  $\{e_1,\ldots,e_n\}$  for V. In this basis the scalar product can be written as

$$h(v,w) = w^T v$$

The set of  $\rho$ -invariant scalar products is isomorphic to

$$\mathcal{H}^{\rho} \simeq \{ H \in \operatorname{Her}_{1,n}^+ | \rho(g)^T H \rho(g) = H \quad \forall g \in G \} \\= \{ H \in \operatorname{Her}_{1,n}^+ | H \rho(g) = \rho(g) H \quad \forall g \in G \}.$$

The restriction of  $h \in \mathcal{H}^{\rho}$  to each  $V_{\beta,i}^{(j)}$  is a multiple of  $h_0$  by Theorem 6.11 (since  $\rho_i^{(j)}$  is irreducible). Therefore the corresponding orthogonal matrix H, defined by  $h(v,w) = w^T H v$  for all  $v, w \in V$ , is a block-matrix (we call this blocks "first order blocks"), with each block which is itself a block matrix (we call these blocks "second order blocks") and whose diagonal blocks are multiples of the identity. Off-diagonal blocks correspond to either endomorphisms between isomorphic or between non-isomorphic spaces.

First order off-diagonal blocks are zero, since the corresponding representations are non-isomorphic. Second-order diagonal blocks on diagonal first-order blocks are multiple of the identity and second-order off-diagonal blocks on diagonal first-order blocks are endomorphisms belonging to  $\operatorname{End}(V_{\beta,i}^{(j)})^{\rho_{\beta,i}^{(j)}} \simeq \mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}, \mathbb{H}$ . Using Proposition 6.14 we see that each diagonal first order block is of the form  $\mathbf{1}_{d_{\beta,i}} \otimes Q_{\beta,i}$  with  $Q_{\beta,i} \in \operatorname{Her}_{\beta,m_i}$ . Since the eigenvalues of  $\mathbf{1}_{d_{\beta,i}} \otimes Q_{\beta,i}$  are the same as the eigenvalues of  $Q_{\beta,i}$  (with multiplicities),  $\mathbf{1}_{d_{\beta,i}} \otimes Q_{\beta,i}$  is positive definite if and only if  $Q_{\beta,i}$  is positive definite.

This proves that the matrix H representing a  $\rho$ -invariant scalar product is block-diagonal, with each block in  $\mathbf{1}_{d_{\beta,i}} \otimes \operatorname{Her}^+_{\beta,m_i}$ , which proves the statement.  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 6.16.** Let  $\rho : G \to GL(V)$  be a continuous representation of a compact group G, and write

$$V = \bigoplus_{k=1}^{r} V_k,$$

as in Corollary 6.9, with each  $V_k$  invariant and  $\rho_k := \rho|_{V_k}$  irreducible. If the representations  $(V_k, \rho_k)$  are pairwise non-isomorphic, the set of  $\rho$ -invariant scalar products is isomorphic to a polyhedral cone  $S^{\rho} \simeq (0, \infty)^r$ . Moreover, if the above decomposition into irreducible subspaces is orthogonal with respect to some  $\rho$ -invariant scalar product, then it is orthogonal with respect to any  $\rho$ -invariant scalar product.

*Proof.* The first part of the statement follows from Proposition 6.14. In this case

#### 6 Representation theory

we have  $m_{\beta,i} \equiv 1$  and

$$\mathbf{1}_{d_{\beta,i}}\otimes\operatorname{Her}^+_{\beta,m_{\beta,i}}\simeq(0,\infty)$$

Given an invariant scalar product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  for which the above decomposition is orthogonal, any other scalar product h can be written as

$$h = \sum_{k=1}^{r} \lambda_k \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle |_{V_k},$$

for some  $(\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_r) \in (0, \infty)^r$ . In particular the decomposition is orthogonal also for h.

Proof of Proposition 6.14. If  $\rho: G \to \operatorname{GL}(V)$  is a representation, then both  $(rW)_+$ and  $(rW)_-$  are invariant subspaces for  $rc\rho$  and the above isomorphism  $V \simeq (rW)_+$ is an isomorphism of representations.

Observe first that the set  $\operatorname{End}(V)^{\rho}$  is a division algebra: every nonzero endomorphism  $L \in \operatorname{End}(V)^{\rho}$  is invertible by Lemma 6.5, and  $L_1, L_2 \in \operatorname{End}(V)^{\rho}$  implies  $L_1L_2 \in \operatorname{End}(V)^{\rho}$ . Therefore  $\operatorname{End}(V)^{\rho}$ , as a ring, can be either  $\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}$  or  $\mathbb{H}$ .

To start with, let us assume that  $c\rho$  is irreducible. Then  $\operatorname{End}^{\mathbb{C}}(cV)^{c\rho} \simeq \mathbb{C}$  by Lemma 6.12, and  $\operatorname{End}(V)^{\rho}$  consists of the real multiples of the identity by Lemma 6.12.

Let us assume now that  $c\rho$  is not irreducible. Since G is compact, we get a decomposition into irreducible complex subspaces:

$$cV \simeq W_1 \oplus \dots \oplus W_\ell.$$
 (6.5)

Using (6.3), we see that  $rcV \simeq (rcV)_+ \oplus (rcV)_- \simeq V \oplus V$ . Applying this to (6.5), gives

$$V \oplus V \simeq rcV \simeq rW_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus rW_\ell.$$

In particular  $\ell = 2$  and  $rW_1 \simeq rW_2 \simeq V$ . This proves also that V carries a complex structure  $I: V \to V$ , being isomorphic to  $rW_1$ . It will be convenient to set  $W := W_1$  and  $\overline{W} := \tau W$ . Since  $c\rho$  comes from a real representation,  $\overline{W}$  is invariant and  $W \cap \overline{W} = \{0\}$ . In particular:

$$cV \simeq W \oplus \overline{W}.$$

The complex conjugation  $\tau : cV \to cV$ , in this decomposition, acts as  $\tau(w_1, w_2) = (\overline{w_2}, \overline{w_1})$ . Two possibilities now can happen: either W and  $\overline{W}$  are not isomorphic (as complex representations) or they are isomorphic.

If W is not isomorphic to  $\overline{W}$  then, by Lemma 6.12 we have  $\operatorname{End}(cV)^{c\rho} \simeq \mathbb{C} \oplus \mathbb{C}$ . Writing  $cV \simeq W \oplus \overline{W}$ , we see that an endomorphism  $L : cV \to cV$  commutes

#### 6 Representation theory

with  $c\rho$  and is real if and only if it has the form

$$L = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda \mathbf{1} & 0\\ 0 & \overline{\lambda} \mathbf{1} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \lambda \in \mathbb{C}.$$

Writing  $\lambda = a_1 + ia_2$ , such an endomorphism acts on

$$V \simeq (rcV)_{+} = \{(w, \overline{w}) \mid w \in W\}$$

as  $L = a_1 \mathbf{1} + a_2 I$ , as claimed.

If instead  $W \simeq \overline{W}$  (as complex representations), let h be a Hermitian invariant form on W. Then the correspondence  $w \mapsto h(\cdot, w)$  gives an isomorphism of representations

$$W \simeq W^*$$

Such isomorphism gives an element  $B \in \operatorname{Hom}^{\mathbb{C}}(W, W^*)^{c\rho}$  and we define a real isomorphism  $A: rW \to rW$  by

$$h(Aw_1, w_2) = \operatorname{Re}(B(w_1, w_2)) \quad \forall w_1, w_2 \in W_1$$

Notice that the space  $\operatorname{Hom}^{\mathbb{C}}(W, W^*)$  decomposes into the invariant subspaces of symmetric and skewsymmetric homomorphisms; by Schur's Lemma  $\operatorname{Hom}^{\mathbb{C}}(W, W^*)^{c\rho}$  is one dimensional, thus either  $B^* = B$  or  $B^* = -B$ .

Using the polar decomposition, we can write A = PJ with P a positive definite real endomorphism and J an orthogonal real endomorphism. We observe the following facts: (1) A is anti-linear (since  $h(Aiw_1, w_2) = \text{Re}(B(iw_1, w_2)) = \text{Re}(B(w_1, iw_2)) = h(iAw_1, -w_2) = -h(iAw_1, w_2))$ ; (2)  $A^T = \pm A$  (since  $h(Aw_1, w_2) = \text{Re}(B(w_1, w_2)) = \pm \text{Re}(B(w_1, w_2)) = \pm h(w_1, A^Tw_2)$ , where we have used the fact that B is either symmetric or skew-symmetric; (3) P is  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear (since  $P = (AA^T)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , it is a power series in  $AA^T$ , which is  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear); (4) J is anti-linear (since A is anti-linear and P is  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear). These facts together imply that  $J^2 = \pm 1$ : in fact  $A^T = \pm A = \pm J^T P^T = \pm J^{-1}P = J^T P^T = J^T P$ , which implies  $J^T = \pm J^{-1}$ . Moreover, since rW is irreducible,  $J^2 = -1$ , otherwise its (-1)-eigenspace would be a proper ( $J \neq 1$  since it is anti-linear) invariant subspace.

Summarizing: we have proved that there exists a real endomorphism  $J: rW \to rW$  which is anti–linear and such that  $J^2 = -1$ . This gives a quaternionic structure (I, J, K) on  $V \simeq rW$ , where I is the multiplication by i, and K := IJ.

Let us denote now by  $\phi: W \oplus W \to W \oplus \overline{W}$  the isomorphism

$$\phi(w_1, w_2) := (w_1, \overline{Jw_2}).$$

By Lemma 6.12, we have  $\operatorname{End}^{\mathbb{C}}(cV)^{c\rho} \simeq \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{C})$  and, if  $L \in \operatorname{End}^{\mathbb{C}}(cV)^{c\rho}$ , we can

write

$$\phi^{-1}L\phi = \begin{pmatrix} a_{1,1}\mathbf{1} & a_{1,2}\mathbf{1} \\ a_{2,1}\mathbf{1} & a_{2,2}\mathbf{1} \end{pmatrix}, \quad a_{1,1}, a_{1,2}, a_{2,1}, a_{2,2} \in \mathbb{C}.$$
 (6.6)

Observe also that for every  $(w_1, w_2) \in W \oplus W$ ,

$$\phi^{-1}\tau\phi(w_1, w_2) = (Jw_2, -Jw_1).$$

The set of real endomoprhisms commuting with  $\rho$  can be identified with the set of complex endomoprhisms L commuting with  $c\rho$  and with  $\tau$ . In the coordinates given by  $\phi$ , this set can be identified with the set of matrices  $\phi^{-1}L\phi$ , as in the right hand side of (6.6), such that

$$\phi^{-1}L\phi\phi^{-1}\tau\phi^{-1} = \phi^{-1}\tau\phi^{-1}\phi^{-1}L\phi$$

An explicit computation gives:

$$\phi^{-1}L\phi\phi^{-1}\tau\phi^{-1}(w_1,w_2) = (a_{1,1}Jw_2 - a_{1,2}Jw_1, a_{2,1}Jw_2 - a_{2,2}Jw_1)$$

and, using the fact that J is antilinear,

$$\phi^{-1}\tau\phi^{-1}\phi^{-1}L\phi(w_1,w_2) = (\overline{a_{2,1}}Jw_1 + \overline{a_{2,2}}Jw_2, -\overline{a_{1,1}}Jw_1 - \overline{a_{1,2}}Jw_2).$$

In order for  $\phi^{-1}L\phi$  to represent an element in  $\operatorname{End}(V)^{\rho}$  we must therefore have

$$a_{2,1} = -\overline{a_{1,2}}$$
 and  $a_{2,2} = \overline{a_{1,1}}$ .

This means that  $\phi^{-1}L\phi$  must be of the form

$$\phi^{-1}L\phi = A \otimes \mathbf{1}$$
 with  $A = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & \beta \\ -\overline{\beta} & \overline{\alpha} \end{pmatrix}$ .

The set of matrices  $A \in \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{C})$  as above is isomorphic, as a ring, to the quaternions and therefore  $\operatorname{End}(V)^{\rho} \simeq \mathbb{H}$ .

Let us finally identify the set of quaternions as precise elements in  $\text{End}(V)^{\rho}$ . Given a quaternion A, writing  $\alpha = a_1 + ia_2$  and  $\beta = b_1 + ib_2$  we can decompose

$$A = a_1 \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} + a_2 \begin{pmatrix} i & 0 \\ 0 & -i \end{pmatrix} + b_1 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} + b_2 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The endomorphism  $L = A \otimes \mathbf{1}$  acts on  $V \simeq (rcV)_+ = \{(w, \overline{w}) | w \in W\}$ . as  $L = a_1 \mathbf{1} + a_2 I + b_1 J + b_2 K$ , as claimed.  $\Box$ 

The goal of this lecture is to classify all Gaussian distributions on the space of homogeneous polynomials of degree d in n + 1 many variables that are invariant under change of variables by the orthogonal group O(n + 1) or the unitary group U(n + 1).

**Definition 7.1.** Let  $f \in \mathbb{R}[x_0, \ldots, x_n]_{(d)}$  be a random homogeneous polnomial of degre d in n + 1 variables. We call the distribution of f an invariant distribution, if  $f \circ U = f$  for all  $U \in O(n + 1)$ . Similarly, we say that  $f \in \mathbb{C}[x_0, \ldots, x_n]_{(d)}$  has an invariant distribution, if  $f \circ U = f$  for all  $U \in U(n + 1)$ .

We saw already in Lemma 1.11 that the Kostlan distribution is an invariant distribution. We will see that over the complex numbers the Kostlan distribution is the only invariant distribution, but that over the Reals there is a whole family of invariant distribution.

Recall from Section 1.3 that there is a one-to-one correspondence between centered Gaussian distributions and inner products in a real vector space. Therefore, for classifying invariant distributions in  $\mathbb{R}[x_0, \ldots, x_n]_{(d)}$  it is enough to classify all invariant inner products.

## 7.1 Complex invariant distributions

In this section let us write

$$\mathcal{P}_{n,d}^{\mathbb{C}} := \mathbb{C}[x_0, \dots, x_n]_{(d)}$$

Theorem 6.13 implies that for classifying the invariant inner products on  $\mathcal{P}_{n,d}^{\mathbb{C}}$ , which are invariant under unitary change of variables, we have to study the representation  $\rho^{\mathbb{C}}: U(n+1) \to \operatorname{GL}(\mathcal{P}_{n,d}^{\mathbb{C}})$  defined by

$$\rho^{\mathbb{C}}(U)f = f \circ U^T$$
 for  $U \in U(n+1)$ .

The reason why we put the transpose here is that we want  $\rho^{\mathbb{C}}$  to be a group homomorphism; i.e.,  $\rho^{\mathbb{C}}(U_1U_2) = \rho^{\mathbb{C}}(U_1)\rho^{\mathbb{C}}(U_2)$ .

The main theorem of this section is as follows.

**Theorem 7.2.** The representation  $\rho^{\mathbb{C}} : U(n+1) \to \operatorname{GL}(\mathfrak{P}_{n,d}^{\mathbb{C}})$  is irreducible.

Together with Theorem 6.13 this theorem implies that on  $\mathcal{P}_{n,d}^{\mathbb{C}}$  there is (up to scaling) a unique inner product which is invariant by unitary change of variables. Consequently, there is a unique U(n+1)-invariant Gaussian distribution on  $\mathcal{P}_{n,d}^{\mathbb{C}}$  up to scaling. Since the complex Kostlan distribution is U(n+1)-invariant, it must be this one. In other words, the only inner products on  $\mathcal{P}_{n,d}^{\mathbb{C}}$ , which are U(n+1)-invariant, are multiples of

$$\langle \sum_{|\alpha|=d} f_{\alpha} {d \choose \alpha}^{\frac{1}{2}} x^{\alpha}, \sum_{|\alpha|=d} g_{\alpha} {d \choose \alpha}^{\frac{1}{2}} x^{\alpha} \rangle_{\mathrm{BW}} = \sum_{|\alpha|=d} f_{\alpha} \overline{g_{\alpha}},$$

called the Bombieri-Weyl hermitian product.

For the proof of Theorem 7.2 we need an auxiliary lemma. The intersection of U(n+1) with the space of diagonal matrices is called the *torus*, denoted

$$T(n+1) = \{ \operatorname{diag}(\lambda) \mid \lambda = (\lambda_0, \dots, \lambda_n) \in \mathbb{C}^{n+1}, |\lambda_i| = 1 \} \subset U(n+1).$$

**Lemma 7.3.** For every  $\beta \in \mathbb{N}^{n+1}$  there exists diag $(\lambda) \in T(n+1)$  such that  $\lambda^{\alpha} \neq \lambda^{\beta}$  for all  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{n+1}$  with  $\alpha \neq \beta$ .

Proof. Let us enumerate the exponent vectors  $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^{n+1}$  with  $\alpha \neq \beta$  by  $\alpha^{(i)}$ ,  $1 \leq i \leq \binom{n+d}{d} - 1$ . Notice that  $\lambda^{\alpha} = \lambda^{\beta}$ , if and only if  $\lambda^{\alpha-\beta} = 1$ . We prove the lemma by induction on the supscripts of the  $\alpha^{(i)}$ . Choose any  $\lambda$  and let  $t_i := \lambda^{\alpha^{(i)}-\beta}$ . For the induction step we can assume that  $t_1, \ldots, t_{k-1} \neq 1$ . If  $t_k \neq 1$ , we are done. Otherwise, without restriction, we can assume that  $\alpha_1^{(k)} - \beta_1 \neq 0$ . Then, there are only finitely many  $\mu \in \mathbb{C}$  such that  $\mu^{\alpha_1^{(i)}-\beta_1} = t_i^{-1}$  for  $1 \leq i \leq k$ . Choosing any other  $\mu \in \mathbb{C}, |\mu| = 1$ , and setting  $\lambda' = \operatorname{diag}(\mu, 1, \ldots, 1)\lambda$  we have that  $(\lambda')^{\alpha^{(i)}-\beta} \neq 1$  for  $1 \leq i \leq k$ .

Now, we prove Theorem 7.2. The idea of the next proof is taken from [30].

Proof of Theorem 7.2. Let  $0 \neq W \subset \mathcal{P}_{n,d}^{\mathbb{C}}$  be a U(n+1)-invariant subspace. The proof consists of two steps. First, we show that if

$$f = \sum_{|\alpha|=d} c_{\alpha} {\binom{d}{\alpha}}^{\frac{1}{2}} x^{\alpha} \in W,$$

then  $x^{\alpha} \in W$  for every  $\alpha$  with  $c_{\alpha} \neq 0$ .

To see this, let  $f \in W$ . If  $f = c_{\alpha}x^{\alpha}$ , then  $x^{\alpha} \in W$ . Otherwise, there is another nonzero coefficient in f, say  $\beta \neq \alpha$  with  $c_{\beta} \neq 0$ . We act on f by diagonal matrices. Let  $D = \text{diag}(\lambda_0, \ldots, \lambda_n) \in T(n+1)$  be such that  $\lambda^{\alpha} - \lambda^{\beta} \neq 0$  for all  $\alpha \neq \beta$ . Such a matrix exists by Lemma 7.3. Let us define

$$g := \rho(D)f - \lambda^{\beta}f \in W.$$

We have

$$g = \sum_{\alpha \neq \beta} c_{\alpha} (\lambda^{\alpha} - \lambda^{\beta}) x^{\alpha},$$

so the number of nonzero coefficients of g is exactly one less than the number of coefficients of f. This shows that we can reduce the number of terms in f by one. Repeating this argument, we see that we can get any monomial in f with nonzero coefficient as an element in W.

Now comes the second step. The argument above shows that there is an  $\alpha$  with  $x^{\alpha} \in W$ . Let now

$$U = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{\sqrt{n+1}} & \cdots & \frac{1}{\sqrt{n+1}} \\ & H & \end{bmatrix} \in U(n+1)$$

with  $H \in \mathbb{C}^{(n-1) \times n}$ . Then, we have

$$\rho^{\mathbb{C}}(U)x^{\alpha} = (U^T x)^{\alpha} = \prod_{i=0}^{n} (\frac{1}{\sqrt{n+1}}x_0 + h_{i,1}x_1 + \dots + h_{i,n}x_n) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{n+1}^d}x_0^d + g(x),$$

such that  $x_0^d$  does not appear in g(x). Therefore, the monomial  $x_0^d$  has nonzero coefficient in  $\rho^{\mathbb{C}}(U)x^{\alpha} \in W$ , which implies that  $x_0^d \in W$ . But then

$$\rho(U)x_0^d = \frac{1}{\sqrt{n+1^d}}(x_0 + \dots + x_n) \in W,$$

which has nonzero coefficient for all monomials. Hence, all monomials are in W and so  $W = \mathcal{P}_{n,d}^{\mathbb{C}}$ . Hence,  $\mathcal{P}_{n,d}^{\mathbb{C}}$  is irreducible.

### 7.2 Real invariant distributions

In the last section we have seen that the representation of the unitary group in complex homogeneous polynomial of degree d is irreducible. Over the real numbers

the situation is different. Let us denote

$$\mathcal{P}_{n,d} := \mathbb{R}[x_0, \dots, x_n]_{(d)}.$$

The representation  $\rho : O(n + 1) \to \operatorname{GL}(\mathcal{P}_{n,d})$  defined by orthogonal changes of variables  $\rho(U)f = f \circ U^T$  is not irreducible for  $d \geq 2$ ! To see this, consider the subspace  $W_{n,d} := ||x||^2 \mathcal{P}_{n,d-2}$ , where  $||x||^2 = x_0^2 + \cdots + x_n^2$  denotes the polynomial given by sum-of-squares of the variables. For all  $f \in \mathcal{P}_{n,d-2}$  and  $U \in O(n + 1)$ we have  $\rho(U)(||x||^2 \cdot f) = ||x||^2 \cdot (f \circ U^T) \in W_{n,d}$ . Therefore,  $W_{n,d}$  is an invariant subspace and so  $\mathcal{P}_{n,d}$  can't be irreducible. Over the complex numbers this argument fails, because there is no U(n + 1)-invariant complex polynomial – the squared hermitian norm  $\overline{x}^T x$  is not a polynomial, because complex conjugation is not an algebraic map.

Hence, by Theorem 6.15 there is not a unique invariant inner product, and, consequently, no unique invariant Gaussian probability distribution on  $\mathcal{P}_{n,d}$ . One goal of this section is to recall the work by Kostlan [7, 19, 20] who classified all such invariant inner products. For this, we compute a decomposition of  $\mathcal{P}_{n,d}$  into a direct sum of irreducible representations. We will do this in the next section. Before, however, we will prove the following theorem.

**Theorem 7.4.** There is a unique O(n+1)-invariant inner product on  $\mathcal{P}_{n,d}$  up to scaling for which monomials are orthogonal.

Recall that the Kostlan inner product is

$$\langle \sum_{|\alpha|=d} f_{\alpha} {d \choose \alpha}^{\frac{1}{2}} x^{\alpha}, \sum_{|\alpha|=d} g_{\alpha} {d \choose \alpha}^{\frac{1}{2}} x^{\alpha} \rangle = \sum_{|\alpha|=d} f_{\alpha} g_{\alpha}.$$

Monomials are orthogonal with respect to this product, so it must be the one from Theorem 7.4.

For the proof of Theorem 7.4 we need to make some general observations. Let  $0 \neq V \subset \mathcal{P}_{n,d}$  be a subrepresentation and  $\langle , \rangle$  be an invariant inner product on V. This induces an isomorphism of dual spaces  $V \to V^*$ ,  $g \mapsto (f \mapsto \langle f, g \rangle)$ . For a fixed  $z \in S^n$  consider the evaluation map

$$\operatorname{eval}_z: V \to \mathbb{R}, f \mapsto f(z).$$

This is a linear map, hence an element in  $V^*$ . Let us denote its dual by  $\tau_z$ , so that

$$\langle f, \tau_z \rangle = f(z) \text{ for all } f \in V.$$
 (7.1)

Then, we have  $\langle f, \rho(U)\tau_z \rangle = \langle \rho(U^T)f, \tau_z \rangle = f(Uz) = \langle f, \tau_{Uz} \rangle$  for all  $U \in O(n+1)$ 

and  $f \in V$ . Therefore,

$$\rho(U)\tau_z = \tau_{Uz}.\tag{7.2}$$

We remark that  $\tau_z \neq 0$ , because otherwise  $\tau_{Uz} = \rho(U)\tau_z = 0$  for every U, so that V = 0, which is a contradiction to our assumption  $V \neq 0$ . Furthermore, the linear span of  $\{\tau_x \mid x \in S^n\}$  is V. To see this, suppose that linear span is  $W \subsetneq V$ . Then, for  $0 \neq f \in W^{\perp}$  we have  $0 = \langle f, \tau_x \rangle = f(x)$  for all  $x \in S^n$ . This contradicts the assumption  $f \neq 0$ .

We use this construction to prove Theorem 7.4.

Proof of Theorem 7.4. For the Kostlan inner product monomials are orthogonal. This shows existence. For uniqueness we let  $\langle , \rangle$  be an O(n + 1)-invariant inner product on  $\mathcal{P}_{n,d}$  such that monomials are orthogonal. As in 7.2 for  $z \in S^n$  let  $\tau_z$ be the dual of the evaluation map at z relative to  $\langle , \rangle$ . Since the  $\tau_z$  span  $\mathcal{P}_{n,d}$ , the inner product is completely determined by the values of  $\langle \tau_x, \tau_y \rangle$  for  $x, y \in S^n$ . Let  $e_0 = (1, 0, \dots, 0) \in S^n$ . Then, for every multiindex  $\alpha$  we have

$$\langle x^{\alpha}, \tau_{e_0} \rangle = (e_0)^{\alpha} = \begin{cases} 1, & \alpha = (d, 0, \dots, 0) \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}.$$

Since monomials are orthogonal this shows that  $\tau_{e_0} = \lambda x_0^d$  for some  $\lambda \neq 0$ . This implies that for every  $u \in S^n$  we have  $\langle \tau_{e_0}, \tau_u \rangle = \lambda \langle e_0, u \rangle^d$ . Let  $U \in O(n+1)$  be such that  $Ux = e_0$  and Uy = u. Then, by invariance, we have

$$\langle \tau_x, \tau_y \rangle = \langle \rho(U) \tau_x, \rho(U) \tau_y \rangle = \langle \tau_{Ux}, \tau_{Uy} \rangle = \lambda \langle e_0, u \rangle^d = \lambda \langle x, y \rangle^d$$

where for the second equality we have used (7.2). This shows that  $\langle , \rangle$  is unique up to scaling.

#### 7.2.1 Spherical harmonics

Consider the differential operator

$$\nabla^2 = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_0^2} + \dots + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_n^2}.$$

We interpret  $\nabla^2$  as a linear map  $\mathcal{P}_{n,d} \to \mathcal{P}_{n,d-2}$  defined by  $\nabla^2 f = \sum_{i=0}^n \frac{\partial}{\partial x_0} f$ . Solutions to  $\nabla^2 f = 0$  are called *spherical harmonic polynomial*. We denote the vector space of all spherical harmonic polynomials of a fixed degree by

$$H_{n,d} := \{ f \in \mathcal{P}_{n,d} \mid \nabla^2 f = 0 \}.$$

The main theorem of this section is the following result.

**Theorem 7.5.** For all n, d:

- (1)  $H_{n,d}$  is an irreducible representation of O(n+1).
- (2) We have the following decomposition of  $\mathcal{P}_{n,d}$  into irreducible representations:

$$\mathcal{P}_{n,d} = \bigoplus_{k=0}^{\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor} \|x\|^{2k} H_{n,d-2k}.$$

(3) The decomposition above is orthogonal for any inner product on  $\mathcal{P}_{n,d}$ , which is invariant by the O(n+1) action.

Before we prove this theorem, let us discuss its implications. Let  $\langle \ , \ \rangle$  an invariant inner product on  $\mathcal{P}_{n,d}$  and let

$$f = f_0 + \dots + f_{\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor}$$
 and  $g = g_0 + \dots + g_{\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor}$ 

with  $f_k, g_k \in ||x||^{2k} H_{n,d-2k}$ . Then, the third item in Theorem 7.5 implies that the inner product between f and g is

$$\langle f,g\rangle = \sum_{k=0}^{\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor} \langle f_k,g_k\rangle.$$

However, on every component  $||x||^{2k}H_{n,d-2k}$  there is a unique invariant inner product up to scaling by Theorem 6.15. After normalization, let this unique inner product be  $\langle , \rangle_k$ . There exists positive numbers

$$\lambda_0, \dots, \lambda_{\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor} > 0, \tag{7.3}$$

such that

$$\langle f,g\rangle = \sum_{k=0}^{\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor} \lambda_k \langle f_k,g_k \rangle_k.$$

Hence, there is a  $(\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor + 1)$ -dimensional family of invariant inner products on  $\mathcal{P}_{n,d}$  and they are completely determined by the choice of the numbers in (7.3).

For the proof of Theorem 7.5 we need a few auxiliary results.

**Lemma 7.6.**  $\nabla^2 : \mathcal{P}_{n,d} \to \mathcal{P}_{n,d-2}$  is a O(n+1)-homomorphism.

Proof. Linearity of  $\nabla^2$  follows from the linearity of derivatives. Let  $f \in \mathcal{P}_{n,d}$ . The Hessian of f is the matrix  $H(f)(x) = [\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} f]_{0 \le i,j \le n}$ . For every  $U \in O(n+1)$  we have  $H(f \circ U^T)(x) = U H(f)(U^T x) U^T$ . Since  $\nabla^2 f(x) = \operatorname{Trace}(H(f)(x))$ , we have

$$\nabla^2(\rho(U)f) = \nabla^2(f \circ U^T) = \operatorname{Trace}(U H(f)(U^T x) U^T)$$
$$= \operatorname{Trace}(H(f)(U^T x))$$
$$= (\nabla^2 f) \circ U^T$$
$$= \rho(U)(\nabla^2 f).$$

which shows that  $\nabla^2$  commutes with the O(n+1)-action.

This lemma in combination with Lemma 6.4 already shows that  $H_{n,d} = \ker \nabla^2$  is a representation, which gives part of the first item in Theorem 7.5. for showing that  $H_{n,d}$  is irreducible we have to do more work. The next lemma classifies  $H_{n,d}$  as eigenspaces of a particular operator.

**Lemma 7.7.** For every  $f \in ||x||^{2k} H_{n,d-2k}$  we have

$$||x||^2 \nabla^2 f = 2k(n+2d-2k-1)f;$$

*i.e.*, the  $||x||^2 H_{n,d-2k}$  are eigenspaces of the operator  $||x||^2 \nabla^2 : \mathcal{P}_{n,d} \to \mathcal{P}_{n,d}$  for different eigenvalues.

*Proof.* Let  $g \in H_{n,d-2k}$ . Then,  $\nabla^2 g = 0$ . This implies for  $f = ||x||^{2k} \cdot g$  that

$$\nabla^2 f = (\nabla^2 \|x\|^{2k}) \cdot g + 2(\nabla \|x\|^{2k})^T \nabla g,$$

where  $\nabla$  denotes the gradient. The gradient of  $||x||^{2k}$  is  $\nabla ||x||^{2k} = 2k ||x||^{2k-2}x$ . The polynomial g is homogeneous of degree d-2k, which implies that  $x^Tg = (d-2k)g$ . We get

$$(\nabla \|x\|^{2k})^T \nabla g = 2k(d-2k)\|x\|^{2k-2} \cdot g$$

Furthermore, we have

$$\nabla^2 \|x\|^{2k} = 2k(n+2k-1)\|x\|^{2k-2}.$$
(7.4)

Altogether:

$$||x||^{2k}\nabla^2 f = 2k(n+2k-1)f + 4k(d-2k)f = 2k(n+2d-2k-1)f.$$

This finishes the proof.

We need one last result for the proof of Theorem 7.5. The idea for the proof the next lemma is from [29].

**Lemma 7.8.** Let  $z \in S^n$ . Up to scaling, there is a unique  $0 \neq f \in H_{n,d}$  such that  $\rho(U)f = f$  for all  $U \in O(n+1)_z$ .

*Proof.* We chose an invariant inner product on  $H_{n,d}$ . As in (7.1) this defines the polynomial  $\tau_z$ , which is the dual of the evaluation at map z. By (7.2) we have for every  $U \in O(n+1)_z$  that

$$\rho(U)\tau_z = \tau_{Uz} = \tau_z.$$

This shows existence. Next, we show uniqueness. Without restriction we can assume that  $z = e_0 = (1, 0, ..., 0)$ . Suppose that  $f \in H_{n,d}$  satisfies  $\rho(U)f = f$  for all  $U \in O(n+1)_z$ . Let us write

$$f(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{d} f_i(\hat{x}) \, x_0^{d-i},$$

where  $f_i$  is a homogeneous polynomial in  $\hat{x} = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$  of degree *i*. We have

$$O(n+1)_z = \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & U \end{bmatrix} \mid U \in O(n). \right\}.$$

Let us act on f by an element of  $O(n+1)_z$ :

$$f(x) = (f \circ \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & U^T \end{bmatrix})(x) = \sum_{i=0}^d f_i(U^T \hat{x}) \, x_0^{d-i}.$$

This implies that  $f_i(\hat{x}) = f_i(U^T\hat{x})$  for all  $0 \le i \le d$  and all  $U \in O(n)$ . Consequently, there exists coefficients  $c_k$  such that

$$f_i = \begin{cases} c_k \|\hat{x}\|^{2k}, & \text{if } i = 2k \text{ is even} \\ 0, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

We get  $f(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor} c_k \|\hat{x}\|^{2k} x_0^{d-2k}$ . Furthermore,

$$0 = \nabla^2 f = \sum_{k=0}^{\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor} c_k \nabla^2 \|\hat{x}\|^{2k} x_0^{d-2k}$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor} c_k \hat{\nabla}^2 (\|\hat{x}\|^{2k}) x_0^{d-2k} + c_k \|\hat{x}\|^{2k} (d-2k) x_0^{d-2k-2},$$

where  $\hat{\nabla}^2 := \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_1^2} + \dots + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x_n^2}$ . This implies  $c_k 2k(n+2k-3) + c_{k-1}(d-2k+2) = 0$ .

where we have used from (7.4) that  $\nabla^2 ||x||^{2k-2} = 2k(n+2k-3)||x||^{2k-2}$ . This shows that the  $c_k$  satisfy a recurrence relation and so they are uniquely determined up to scaling. Therefore, f is unique up to scaling.

Now, we can prove Theorem 7.5.

Proof of Theorem 7.5. First,  $\nabla^2$  is a O(n + 1)-homomorphism by Lemma 7.6. Lemma 6.4 implies that  $H_{n,d} = \ker \Delta^2 f$  is a representation for the orthogonal group. Consequently,  $||x||^{2k} H_{n,d-2k}$  is a representation for every k. Moreover,  $||x||^{2k} H_{n,d-2k}$  is irreducible, if and only if  $H_{n,d-2k}$  is irreducible.

We show that  $H_{n,d}$  is irreducible. We can decompose  $H_{n,d} = V_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus V_p$  into a direct sum of irreducible subrepresentations. Suppose that  $p \geq 2$ , and let  $z \in S^n$ . On each  $V_i$  we choose an invariant inner product, and let  $\tau_z^{(i)} \in V_i$  be the dual of the evaluation map, as in (7.1). By (7.2) we have for every  $U \in O(n+1)_z$  that  $\rho(U)\tau_z^{(i)} = \tau_{Uz}^{(i)} = \tau_z^{(i)}$ . Hence, for every  $1 \leq i \leq p$  there is a nonzero element that is invariant under the action by  $O(n+1)_z$ . By Lemma 6.10 we have  $V_i \cap V_j \neq 0$  for  $i \neq j$ . This implies that we can find at least two linearly independent  $O(n+1)_z$ -invariant elements in  $H_{d,k}$ . This contradicts Lemma 7.8. Therefore, p = 1 and  $H_{n,d}$  is irreducible. This proves the first item in Theorem 7.5.

For the second item, we observe that, since  $H_{n,d}$  is the kernel of the linear map  $\nabla^2$ :  $\mathcal{P}_{n,d} \to \mathcal{P}_{n,d-2}$  we have dim  $H_{n,d} \geq \dim \mathcal{P}_{n,d} - \dim \mathcal{P}_{n,d-2}$ . Furthermore, the spaces  $||x||^{2k}H_{n,d-2k}$  are eigenspaces of the operator  $||x||^2\nabla^2$  for different eigenvalues, so that  $(||x||^{2k}H_{n,d-2k}) \cap (||x||^{2\ell}H_{n,d-2\ell}) = 0$  for  $k \neq \ell$ . Moreover, dim  $||x||^{2k}H_{n,d-2k} = \dim H_{n,d-2k}$ . All this implies

$$\dim \mathcal{P}_{n,d} \ge \dim \bigoplus_{k=0}^{\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor} \|x\|^{2k} H_{n,d-2k} = \sum_{k=0}^{\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor} \dim \|x\|^{2k} H_{n,d-2k}$$
$$\ge \sum_{k=0}^{\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor} \dim \mathcal{P}_{n,d} - \dim \mathcal{P}_{n,d-2}$$
$$= \dim \mathcal{P}_{n,d}.$$

This shows  $\mathcal{P}_{n,d} = \bigoplus_{k=0}^{\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor} ||x||^{2k} H_{n,d-2k}$ , and, in particular,

$$\dim H_{n,d} = \dim \mathcal{P}_{n,d} - \dim \mathcal{P}_{n,d-2}.$$

For the third item we define  $d_{n,d} := \dim \mathcal{P}_{n,d}$ . Then,  $d_{n,d} = \sum_{k=0}^{d} d_{n-1,l}$ , because  $\mathcal{P}_{n,d}$  is isomorphic to the vector space of polynomials in n variables of degree at

most d by setting  $x_0 = 1$ . This shows

 $\dim H_{n,d} = d_{n-1,d} + d_{n-1,d-1} > d_{n-1,d-2} + d_{n-1,d-3} = \dim H_{n,d-2}.$ 

So the spaces  $||x||^{2k} H_{n,d-2k}$  are all of pairwise different dimension, hence pairwise non-isomorphic. Lemma Lemma 6.10 implies that they are pairwise orthogonal for ony O(n+1)-invariant inner product on  $\mathcal{P}_{n,d}$ .

# Bibliography

- J. Frank Adams. Lectures on Lie groups. W. A. Benjamin, Inc., New York-Amsterdam, 1969.
- [2] Jean-Marc Azais and Mario Wschebor. Level sets and extrema of random processes and fields. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ, 2009.
- [3] Jacek Bochnak, Michel Coste, and Marie-Françoise Roy. Real algebraic geometry, volume 36 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3). Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1998.
- [4] Kathleen Booth. An investigation into the real roots of certain polynomials. Math. Tables and Aids to Computation, 8:47 pp., 1954.
- [5] Peter Bürgisser and Felipe Cucker. Condition: The Geometry of Numerical Algorithms. Springer, Heidelberg, 2013.
- [6] Freeman Dyson. Statistical Theory of the Energy Levels of Complex Systems. J. Math. Phys., 3(1):140–156, 1962.
- [7] Alan Edelman and Eric Kostlan. How many zeros of a random polynomial are real? Math. Soc. Mathematical Reviews, 32:1–37, 05 1995.
- [8] David Eisenbud and Joe Harris. 3264 and all that: a second course in algebraic geometry. Cambridge University Press, 2016.
- [9] Jacques Faraut. Analysis on Lie groups. An introduction. Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, 2008.
- [10] David Fremlin. Measure Theory Volume 2. T. Fremlin, 25 Ireton Road, Colchester Co3 3AT, England, second edition, 2010.
- [11] William Fulton and Joe Harris. Representation Theory. A first course. Springer, 2004.
- [12] Damien Gayet and Jean-Yves Welschinger. Lower estimates for the expected Betti numbers of random real hypersurfaces. J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2), 90(1):105–120, 2014.
- [13] Jean Ginibre. Statistical ensembles of complex, quaternion, and real matrices. J. Math. Phys., 6:440–449, 1965.
- [14] Allen Hatcher. Algebraic topology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2002.
- [15] Ralph Howard. The kinematic formula in Riemannian homogeneous spaces. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., 106(509):vi+69, 1993.

#### Bibliography

- [16] Mark Kac. On the average number of real roots of a random algebraic equation. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 49:314–320, 1943.
- [17] Mark Kac. On the average number of real roots of a random algebraic equation II. Proc. London Math. Soc., 50:390–408, 1949.
- [18] Felix Klein. A comparative review of recent researches in geometry. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 2(10):215–249, 1893.
- [19] Eric Kostlan. On the distribution of roots of random polynomials. In From Topology to Computation: Proceedings of the Smalefest (Berkeley, CA, 1990), pages 419–431. Springer, New York, 1993.
- [20] Eric Kostlan. On the expected number of real roots of a system of random polynomial equations. In *Foundations of computational mathematics (Hong Kong, 2000)*, pages 149–188. World Sci. Publ., River Edge, NJ, 2002.
- [21] John M. Lee. Introduction to Smooth Manifolds. Springer, New York, USA, 2 edition, 2013.
- [22] John Littlewood and Albert Offord. On the number of real roots of a random algebraic equation. J. London Math. Soc., 13:288–295, 1938.
- [23] Mateusz Michałek and Bernd Sturmfels. *Invitation to nonlinear algebra*, volume 211. American Mathematical Soc., 2021.
- [24] John M. Milnor. Topology from the differentiable viewpoint. Based on notes by David W. Weaver. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 1997.
- [25] Hugh Montogmery. Distribution of the zeros of the Riemann zeta function. Proc. Internat. Congt. Math., 1:379–193, 1973.
- [26] Robb J. Muirhead. Aspects of Multivariate Statistical Theory, volume 131. John Wiley & Sons, NY, 1982.
- [27] Walter Rudin. Real and complex analysis. McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York, third edition, 1987.
- [28] Basu Saugata, Antonio Lerario, Erik Lundberg, and Chris Peterson. Random fields and the enumerative geometry of lines on real and complex hypersurfaces. *Math. Ann.*, 374:1773–1810, 2019.
- [29] Denes Stolte. Die erwartete Anzahl reeller Nullstellen von invarianten zufälligen Polynomen, 2018. Bachelor thesis submitted to Technische Universität Berlin.
- [30] Simon Wadsley. Representation theory lecture notes, 2021. Available under the link https://www.dpmms.cam.ac.uk/~sjw47/RepThLecturesMich2012.pdf.
- [31] Eugene Wigner. On a Class of Analytic Functions from the Quantum Theory of Collisions. Annals of Mathematics, 53(1):36–67, 1951.